Vagina Dialogues: A sociocultural exploration of veeple and their vulvas

Lauren Frances Cowling

PhD

University of York Centre for Women's Studies Jan 2022

Abstract

Vaginas have, historically, been shrouded in taboo (Braun and Wilkinson, 2001) and remain a rare topic of academic literature beyond biomedical sciences (Bell and Apfel, 1995). Despite this, I argue we are in a 'cultural moment' when vulvas and vaginas are being addressed more openly than in previous decades. The aim of this research was to ask people with vaginas (whom I dub 'veeple') what life is like with one. I interviewed 25 veeple (aged 21-79) to discuss their experiences of their vulvas and vaginas through different phases of life (including menarche, childbirth and menopause), the relationship between their genitalia and their sense of self (including gendered embodiment, particularly for those participants that did not identify as women), and how these experiences are influenced by, and continue to contribute to, changing cultural meanings of 'womanhood'. I investigate this topic across three major themes, reflected in the three analysis chapters: The Talking Vagina, The Embodied Vagina and The Cultural Vagina. In examining 'vagina talk', I discuss the multiple layers of taboo that affect it and how veeple negotiate these in order to communicate effectively about their bodies and experiences. In discussing the physical embodiment of vaginas, two main issues arose from the interviews: understanding when it is considered acceptable to touch oneself, and managing the continual threat of another's unwanted touch. Finally, in relation to the cultural vagina, I introduce the notion of a 'womanhood clubhouse', in which veeple are forced to negotiate varying degrees of 'enoughness', which for the cisgendered women I interviewed manifested as 'woman enough'. Throughout this thesis I argue for the explicit inclusion of gender non-conforming people in gender and sexuality research, and conclude that vaginas still occupy hidden spaces, are talked about in hushed voices and are dismissed to the periphery.

Table of Contents

Abstract
Table of Contents
Acknowledgements6
Author's Declaration
Chapter 1: Introduction
Chapter 2: (C)lit Review: Clit-ical Context
The Early Vagina (pre-1800)15
The 19 th Century Vagina (1800-1900)
The Modern Vagina (1900-1980)
The Millennial Vagina (1980 -2000)
The 21 st Century Vagina (2000-present)
Chapter 3: Methodology45
Research Story45
Design53
Sample Rationale
Ethical approval
Recruitment
Data Generation
Data analysis67
Chapter 4: The Talking Vagina70
Vocabulary71
My Mum was like77

School life and peers	83
Medical fields	88
Popular culture	93
Conclusion	96
Chapter 5: The Embodied Vagina	98
Exploratory Touch	99
Sexual Touch	100
Non-consensual/intrusive touch	109
Reproduction	116
Menstruation	120
Ideal state	123
Conclusion	128
Chapter 6: The Cultural Vagina	131
The birth <i>ed</i> vagina	131
The bleeding vagina	136
The vagina and sex	139
The penetrated vagina	140
The birthing vagina	141
Treated as a woman	143
The protected vagina	149
Imagined audience	152
The Shared Vagina	154
Conclusion	158
Chapter 7: Discussion and Conclusion	160
Appendix I – Participant Details	168

Appendix II – Interview Guide	170
Appendix III – Information and Consent Form (Interviews)	172
Appendix IV – Information and Consent Form (Focus Groups)	174
Bibliography	176

Acknowledgements

This thesis would never have come to fruition if it wasn't for the encouragement from both my supervisors, Professor Stevi Jackson and Dr. Ann Kaloski-Naylor. Stevi and Ann have challenged me, supported me and inspired me to keep going through years of research, writing and rewriting, thinking and rethinking. They have continually reminded me that it is possible, and that I am capable. Thank you also to Dr. Clare Bielby and Dr. Kai Tsao who both provided important input and insight throughout the thesis journey. The Centre for Women's Studies has been my academic home for many years, and I am so thankful for the support that has been offered to me during that time.

To my Mum and Dad, thank you for raising me to believe that anything was possible, and that I could achieve anything I set my mind to. A special thanks to my Dad, who has happily read almost everything I have ever written, and to my Mum who would've asked me to read the entire thesis to her while she had a gin and tonic on the sofa.

To Jaye Cook, thank you for continually challenging my ideas, reinforcing my principles, and cheering me on every day. To all my friends, particularly Aurèlia Puigdomènech and Nicki Roy, thank you for always lifting me up and keeping me (relatively) sane, for reading things when they were not finished and for celebrating when they were. To Em Thane, who was there for so much of my journey, and who stood by me through everything, thank you.

Finally, thanks must go to my participants. Thank you for allowing me to ask about your lives and for sharing so many intimate details with me. Without you, none of this would have been possible.

Author's Declaration

I declare that this thesis is a presentation of original work and I am the sole author. This work has not previously been presented for an award at this, or any other, University. All sources are acknowledged as References.

Chapter 1: Introduction

"The feminine sex organ is mysterious even to the woman herself"

(Simone de Beauvoir, 1949)

When I was 4 years old, I started school. My Mum took me to the front gates and on the way in she explained that this was somewhere safe I could meet other children and learn new things. At the end of the day, when she picked me up again, I was overwhelmed with enthusiasm. I had learned so much in just one day! I excitedly asked her, "can I go again tomorrow?", and "what happens when I get too old for this school?" She explained there was another school to go to when I got older. This did not satisfy me - "what about after that?" I asked, again and again. The conversation continued with both my parents on arriving home. Together they looked at each other and told me about university, and finally, when they ran out of other qualifications, rested on a PhD. "A P. H. D." I imitated. Even at that age, I could imagine myself 'not stopping school' until I could attain this 'final' grade. As I matured, the naivety waned but the enthusiasm endured. I collected interests just as I collected shiny trinkets for my keepsake box. I observed everyone around me, constantly making mental notes. I worked hard throughout all my exams, becoming an undergraduate but feeling the likelihood of a doctorate fading away like a childhood memory. As I moved through the higher education system, I found myself orienting towards 'careerism' and felt myself being pulled into various paths that were supposed to give me job security. The pipe dream I had at age 4 of 'being an expert' was being replaced by something far more pragmatic, and I just stopped believing it was achievable. Now, writing this thesis, it occurs to me just how proud that 4-year-old would be.

When I was 11 years old, a teacher at my primary school assigned all the 'girls' in my class some surprising homework: look at your genitals in the mirror. Nobody said a word more about it, until the next day when an unpopular girl proudly announced that she had completed her 'homework' using a mirror that she squatted over on the dining room table. Unusual circumstances aside, I didn't think much of this announcement, but I did wince at the consequences I knew she was about to face. She was already unpopular, and constantly bullied for being considered different, fat, smelly and annoying: this sudden

admission of viewing her vulva did not go down well with our peers. She was branded 'disgusting', and met with shouts and screams of various swear words aimed to denigrate and disparage. I had winced because I had known this was coming, I knew the fact she had 'done the homework' was not really the issue, it was that she was *talking* about it. I wondered for years afterwards what might have led to her announcement, knowing she would be socially punished, as she was regularly. "Why give them more ammunition?", I thought to myself. And yet, not only did she not seem to care what anybody thought, she appeared to relish in their discomfort and outrage. For that, I now have come to consider her as quite revolutionary for her age.

At secondary school, when I was 15, a boy decided to elaborately open doors for 'girls' and shut them in the faces of 'boys'. On the way to our next lesson, he opened the door for me. Perhaps another 'girl' would have been flattered, or amused, or indifferent.

Instead, I pushed past him and angrily shouted across the classroom, "don't discriminate against me just because I have a VAGINA!". Immediately the teacher reprimanded me and told me a report would be filed on my permanent record – for the use of "offensive language". Outraged, and petrified of the consequences, I told another teacher what had happened. She reassured me nothing would be filed against me, and agreed that I had simply used a scientific term. I can still recall the second teacher holding my hands trying to calm me down; I had felt like I had stood up for what was right, somehow, in a small way, but instead I was to be punished. I imagined myself having to explain the file against my otherwise spotless academic record. In reality, nothing came of the first teacher's threat, nothing was filed and it was never spoken about again.

One day, aged 16, I looked at my vulva in a hand mirror. Terrified something was horribly wrong, I panicked for a while and then ran to my Mum. My Mum was never squeamish, and rarely 'beat around the bush', she was straight to the point, 'right on the nose'...or any other phrase that indicates she was a plain-speaking woman. I explained my problem to her – I had seen something that worried me. She replied, "there's not much I can say without... looking at it". She paused and chose these words carefully, and her tone relayed to me that this was something I should consider before consenting – showing someone my vulva was private, and was I sure I wanted her to see it? I felt confused (as she was my

mother, she had seen me naked countless times, why was this event different?), but said nothing other than "okay". I went into her bedroom and laid down on her bed, spreading my legs. She leaned in, looked for no more than three seconds and resumed her standing posture quickly, "it looks fine" she told me. I did not feel any better. I wanted her to look properly, to talk to me, to tell me what I was seeing and what it meant, but I didn't know how to tell her that. For whatever reason, she didn't do this. Looking back, I realise now it wasn't just that she felt uncomfortable, she was worried I felt uncomfortable too and didn't know how to navigate that. She tried to explain to me that all vulvas and vaginas look different, but she could not find the words. So, instead, she showed me a pornographic magazine that featured women with their legs spread for the camera. I was stunned – and more to the point, remained confused. These photographs were explicit but they did not show the detail I needed – how was this supposed to tell me if my vulva was normal? My confusion was misread by her as judgment, and she hurriedly put the magazine away and became defensive. I felt hurt, I was not passing judgment on her for having explicit material but was confused as to how to process the conversation. I wanted her to look at my vulva, and tell me what she saw and what it meant. Instead, the conversation ended abruptly and we never spoke of it again. Three years later, when I was 19, she passed away. I will never get to have another "vagina talk" with my Mum.

At the age of 23, during my MA with the Centre for Women's Studies (2014-2015), I was tasked with writing an essay on the subject of 'bodies'. Uninterested (at that time) in the swathes of research on women's bodies, I happened upon an article by Virginia Braun and Sue Wilkinson (2001) that discussed the sociocultural taboos surrounding 'vagina'. Reading the article, something 'clicked' in my brain. The authors were writing about exactly what I had observed my entire life, but that nobody was talking about. Excitedly, I took this as my inspiration and began writing my essay, only to find little other research in the field. I looked to address this gap later that year with my MA dissertation, which eventually became the pilot for my doctoral project².

-

¹ I elaborate on this within Chapter 2.

² More details of my MA dissertation are discussed in my Methodology.

Over the five years I have been working on this thesis, I have had several personal realisations. Three are pertinent to mention here, and I will do so chronologically. As a brand-new PhD student, I identified as a cis³ lesbian. Within two years, my then-partner changed to identify as non-binary, which led to our shared discussion of how we defined our relationship. I instantly 'switched' to calling myself queer, a term I had been feeling comfortable with for a while. Both of us realised we weren't lesbians, and I reasoned that I 'couldn't' be one, as my partner no longer identified as a 'woman', something I was starting to question in myself too. The conversations we had were open and safe – a testament to the strong respect and love we had for each other. Within the next year, I was diagnosed as autistic. This complicated (and simplified) various aspects of both mine and my then-partner's lives – it explained so many things about how I communicated, how I expected others to communicate, the way I thought about things and the things I was finding difficult⁴. Sadly, our relationship ended (for other reasons) but happily, we remain friends. My next partner, during our relationship, also 'transitioned' to identifying as nonbinary, and I began 'taking action' and doing real thinking-work about my own identity. As I finish this thesis, I identify as simply: queer. Queer in all aspects, 'queer squared', as I used to joke with my friends. I don't always feel or identify as a woman, but sometimes I sit comfortably in femininity. I don't really know who I'm attracted to, but I know I don't care what their gender is. Love is love, as they say. As an autistic person, much of this was obvious to me at a young age - I understood implicitly that 'gender' was a performance, something that people just sort of 'did', rather than 'were'. I recognised, even as a child, that these signifying behaviours were for the sake of others, and dictated how they might behave towards you. I knew that I was read as a girl, and then a woman. I still (usually) am. I am treated accordingly, which comes with significant privilege as well as discrimination. However, privately and as an adult, I recognise in myself that how I feel does not match what society deems me to be. I know many people 'see' me as a woman, and some don't. As will become clear throughout this thesis, I argue that including non-

-

³ Cis is shorthand for cisgendered: to identify with the gender you were assigned at birth.

⁴ Indeed it was very difficult, for other mental health reasons also, and I took several leaves of absence as a result.

cisgendered experiences can only strengthen how we conceptualise gender. Binary understandings of gendered experience can only serve to limit us.

For clarity, I will comment on two linguistic choices I have made in this thesis: the use of the words 'vagina' and 'veeple'. I use the term 'vagina' in this context as a general term to refer to the external female genitalia including the whole pubic area, from clitoris and labia (i.e. the vulva) to the internal passage scientifically known as the vagina. Whilst I agree with the standpoint of several feminists in the importance of not confusing 'vulva' with 'vagina' (Boston Women's Health Book Collective, 2005), this thesis discusses issues involving the whole vulvovaginal region. Therefore, the use of 'vagina' is shorthand. Equally in this instance by coining a new word 'veeple' I refer more clearly to people with vaginas. As I will explain further in Chapter 3, all of my participants were born with a vulva/vagina but not all identified themselves as women (they are not all cisgendered). It is vital to recognise that whilst this work discusses vaginas, "some of us who identify as women do not have this anatomy. [...] Yet still others identify as men or as neither man nor woman but have female sex anatomy" (Boston Women's Health Book Collective, 2005, p.227). Nonetheless, as might be expected, the concept of 'woman' arises on numerous occasions in 'vagina' literature and this thesis is not an outlier in that regard. In my methodology chapter I expand upon my reasons for deliberately choosing to amplify the trans⁵ experiences reported within my research.

In discussing her experiences of researching social/cultural constructions of the vagina, Virginia Braun (1999a) relays her paradoxical stance of wanting to be able to tell people her research is about 'vaginas', and yet sometimes finds the word uncomfortable to use. She elaborates that it is "not simply done to 'save' myself, but rather to protect the person I am talking to from being in the possibly uncomfortable position of having to respond" (p.368). I fully sympathise with this analysis, including her admission of making judgments about whether people who ask her what she researches can 'handle' the response (with 'non-handlers' often those older and/or in authority), often leading to

⁵ In this context I use the word trans to encompass all non-cis gendered identities.

"'parent-friendly' accounts of [her] research" (p.368). However, after reflecting on my own discomfort initially when talking about my research outside feminist circles, I made a decision to be candid, and crucially, to use the words vulva and vagina when describing my research to *all* others. Not talking about the vagina forces it to remain conceptually 'absent', and as Virginia Braun writes, "my experiences reinforce for me that my research, and work like Eve Ensler's (2001), is important – for feminists, for women" (p.370). Finding little to no literature actually *asking* veeple about their vaginas, I decided to conduct interview-based research into what experiences veeple have had and how these may have subsequently shaped their attitudes towards their genitalia.

With this in mind, Chapter 3 details how I set out to interview 25 veeple between the ages of 21 and 79, and discusses the rationale for and the process of choosing my research design and methods. I wanted to find out exactly how far we have come in terms of our attitudes towards vaginas, and to explore how veeple make sense of their bodies and experiences. The following three chapters serve as analyses of my empirical findings. In Chapter 4 I discuss how the veeple I interviewed talk about 'vagina'⁶, and how those conversations are negotiated. Examining the vocabulary that is, often carefully, deployed in certain situations reveals much about the taboos surrounding the vagina. The chapter addresses areas of learning and 'sex education', as well as how 'vagina talk' exists in medical settings and in popular culture. Embodiment is the theme of Chapter 5, which addresses the physical 'events' that people described as happening 'to' or 'with' their genitals. I examine how my participants frame these narratives, discussing issues of 'choice' and consent. In Chapter 6, I explore what, and how, vagina 'means', and to what extent 'womanhood' overlaps and underlines those meanings, with particular attention to how my participants identified with more or less popular notions of gendered embodiment. Finally, I conclude the analysis of my findings in Chapter 7, where I draw together my discussions of the empirical data and argue that 'vagina' still carries a heavy cultural burden for veeple.

-

⁶ Note that throughout this work I sometimes refer to 'vagina' in the singular, to mean vagina conceptually.

Chapter 2: (C)lit Review: Clit-ical Context

As discussed in my Introduction, we are living in a particular moment where vulva representation is becoming more visible, and some specific sociocultural research into vulvas/vaginas has begun to surface in the last fifteen/twenty years. As Jackson and Scott (2010) write, "any adequate theorisation of sexuality must place it in historical and cultural context" (p.50) and so, for the purposes of this review, I have brought together literature from across different contexts, not necessarily always directly or explicitly on 'vulva/vagina' but concerning the surroundings, the overlaps and the peripheries. The vagina has been featured in some sexological research, particularly as central in debates on what constitutes 'normal' or 'standard' sexual behaviour in 'females'. However, as Braun and Kitzinger (2001c) note, sexology has ignored "what the vagina means to women, how socio-cultural meanings are deeply implicated in women's experiences of our bodies, and the effects this has on women's sexuality" (2001c, p.5), thus there are major gaps in the literature. As Jackson and Scott (2010) continue, "since sexual relations and practices are embedded in the social, it follows that they are subject to change...and cannot be expected to remain constant over time and place" (p.50). Thus, I have arranged this literature review, this critical contextualisation of my work, as chronologically as practical.

As I write this chapter I remember Ting-Fang Chin's words, "if knowledge is the sea, then the purpose of a literature review is not to investigate every drop of it but to discover where I am and, therefore, which direction I should be heading. As long as I have made proper preparations, I can travel in this ocean of knowledge. It will carry me rather than devour me." (2016, p.19). In this way, I do not have the scope here to cover the entirety of the 'vagina knowledge ocean' but must simply present the relevant contextualisation for my analysis. As I argue in my Introduction (and throughout this thesis), sociocultural notions of the vagina are tied to, amongst others, sociocultural notions of queerness. As the vagina has a history of being considered a 'lack of penis' or the 'non-sex' (Irigaray,

1996b), the intersex, queer and/or trans*7 person is considered a non-person or, at the very least, socially and sexually deviant. In this chapter, however, the reader will notice a return to the use of the word 'woman' which is done to reflect the literature I am citing. The scholarship I draw upon here rarely defines what is meant by 'woman' but almost every example refers to cis women. It is assumed unproblematic and/or self-evident, although some more recent literature does make efforts to be inclusive of many genders8.

The Early Vagina (pre-1800)

Early⁹ understandings of the 'female' reproductive system considered it as an 'inside-out' version of the 'male' reproductive system; "the vagina is imagined as an interior penis, the labia as foreskin, the uterus as scrotum, and the ovaries as testicles" (Laqueur, 1992, p.4). In addition to this bizarre understanding of the 'female' anatomy, the conceptualisation of vulva/vaginas followed (and, as I argue later, continues to follow) closely, if not precisely, in the conceptualisation of 'woman'. Historically speaking, religion and science have promoted differences between sexes, genders, classes, races and ethnicities which perpetuate discrimination against the marginalised, the 'different'. Unsurprisingly, the normalcy marker against which all others are compared, is the cisgendered, white, (at least) middle class, heterosexual 'man'¹⁰. It has also been almost exclusively written about by cis men. Thus, much of the 'early' literature on vulva/vaginas is dubious; the clitoris in particular was entirely ignored before the alleged 'discovery' of the organ in 1559 (Charlier, Deo and Perciaccante, 2020).

By contrast, early understandings of the 'female' orgasm were more progressive (although still, in parts, questionable). For example, in the 2nd century medical text *Gynaecology* (as cited in Blackledge, 2003), Soranus "prescribe[d] appropriate foods and massage as the prerequisite preludes to ['female'] orgasm" (p.255). However, the importance of the

⁷ The use of an asterisk here is done to acknowledge broad(er) understandings of gender non-conformity, see Tompkins (2014).

⁸ Although those that identify as no-gender, or agender, remain invisibilised.

⁹ Laqueur refers to Galen (2nd century), Herophilus (3rd century) and Nemesius (4th century)

¹⁰ See Caroline Criado Perez (2019) for a further discussion on how modern science, especially medicine, misrepresents information to the disadvantage of (cis) women.

'female' orgasm was founded on the false idea that 'women' had to climax to become pregnant¹¹: that 'female' orgasm is essential for conception is "one of the most influential ideas in the history of the vagina...because it had particularly far-reaching consequences for how western women and their genitalia were treated...female sexual pleasure was deemed acceptable, moral even, by the most important authorities of the day – the church and science" (Blackledge, 2003, p.255). Moving beyond the earliest centuries, Blackledge makes reference to historical documents from the 17th century that instructed those wanting to elicit a 'female' orgasm to indulge in, "sweet embraces with lascivious words mixed with lascivious kisses" (p.255) and importantly, to "titillate" the vulva "before intercourse" (p.255). Whilst the scientific evidence for the necessity of climax for conception is lacking, the early effects of this idea were that 'women's' sexual pleasure was framed as important and necessary. As I will elaborate shortly, these early ideas were soon to meet their demise.

Sourcing and making sense of early literature on trans* people is difficult. As Vincent (2020) notes, "people who challenge a binary gender/sex system have always existed, yet have often been historically erased" (p.20), which poses a problem not only here for my own review, but in any work hoping to contextualise 'trans' historically. In addition, as Genny Beemyn (2013) writes, "any attempt to write "transgender history" is complicated by the contemporary nature of the term "transgender" and its cultural specificity. Do we include individuals in past centuries who might appear to be transgender from our vantage point...?" (p.113). Moreover, many of the earliest considerations of gender diversity were of cultures distant from the 'West' but were "framed in Western terminology, which resulted in the simplification of non-binary gender identities and the loss of nuance in cultural differences" (Vincent, 2020, p.28). Either way, most agree that at least *acknowledging* that these individuals *existed*, is important, even if we continue to struggle to 'place' them historically alongside (mostly Western) binarised ideas of gender.

The 19th Century Vagina (1800-1900)

_

¹¹ And also, slightly later, that simultaneous orgasm was necessary for conception.

By around the year 1800, as Laqueur discusses, the 'inside-out' view of the vagina had been widely purported to be "nonsense" (p.5), but was replaced by an idea just as (if not more) socio-culturally problematic: that 'men' and 'women' were opposites. The dimorphic, or "two-sex" (p.8), model replaced the "one-sex" idea and by the late 19th century the concept had trickled into literature across disciplines and genres, and into popular culture "justif[ying] the respective cultural roles of men and women" (p.6) (see Laqueur (1992) for a deeper analysis on how this change from "one-sex" to "two-sex" occurred). As Jackson and Scott write, the separation of work from home, with the addition of the 'domestic ideology' in which women were "deemed by nature to be unsuited to a life beyond domesticity" (Jackson and Scott, 2010, p.55), meant women were redefined as lacking sexual desire. "Women were expected to be pure in thought and deed as guardians of the domestic haven" (p.55) and thus women were no longer conceptualised as simply inferior to men, but as oppositional to men. Laqueur argues that this transition to the 'two-sex' model was also when we see the vanishing of the 'female' orgasm. Where it had once been considered necessary for 'successful' conception, there was suddenly a disappearance of 'female' orgasms in medical texts, which was not as a result of new scientific evidence (though Blackledge (2003) suggests there may have been some), but rather a shift in perspective aimed to establish fundamental differences between the 'two sexes'.

The clitoris specifically has a difficult history (see Charlier et al., (2020) for *A Brief History of the Clitoris*), influenced strongly by Galen's work and wider religious influences that vilified the organ during the Middle Ages, before Kobelt provided a detailed description of the clitoris in 1844. In spite of Kobelt's work, clitoridectomies¹² continued to be practiced well into the 20th century as a surgical treatment for insanity, epilepsy, cataplexy and "hysteria in females" (Brown, 1866, as cited in Charlier et al., 2020). Paradoxically, as Blackledge notes, "manipulation to orgasm was [also] the standard medical treatment for these non-specific "women's diseases" (2003 p.257)¹³. As Webber (2005) identifies, much

-

¹² The surgical removal, reduction or partial removal of the clitoris.

¹³ I discuss how these two 'methods' operated side by side later in this chapter.

of the literature on the history of 'female circumcision' focuses on the idea that these procedures were "imposed on women by patriarchal doctors" (p.5), when often the 'women' themselves who sought out the practice understood "the enforcement of heterosexual married sex...as the only culturally and medically normal sexual behaviour" (p.5). Webber also points out that the same literature also implies the procedures took place only in the 19th century, "ceas[ing] to exist after the early twentieth century" (p.5), when in fact it was simply renamed and remarketed¹⁴.

The underlying issue to note here is that, regardless of their view (inventing vibrators to give 'women' orgasms in their doctor's office, or by clitoridectomy to stop orgasm completely), medical practitioners of Victorian England all agreed on one thing: the dangers of 'female' masturbation. Despite this, by 1902, rival companies began marketing their 'medical wonder wands' that helped 'women' achieve 'paroxysms' 1516, because while no longer seen as vital for conception, the 'female' orgasm was "perceived as necessary to maintain a woman's health" (Blackledge, 2003, p.257). And crucially, regardless of the proposed treatment, the consensus was that it was "men's responsibility to exert complete mastery over women's pleasure [...] [their] differences shouldn't obscure the reality that each made his reputation by proposing new techniques to help men control women's sexuality" (Schwyzer, 2012, n.p.). Indeed, one will notice that despite the invention of the vibrator, the perceived dangers of 'female' masturbation remained. Blackledge, somewhat amusingly, implies that one aspect to this apparent ignoring of 'women' being able to touch themselves with their own hands (framed at that time as going against both 'God' and 'Nature') is that many of the male physicians 17 across the centuries reported that they found it a difficult and complex task. Blackledge (2003) refers to a 17th century manuscript that humorously compares the skills required to manually aid

¹⁴ See later in this chapter (specifically *The Millennial Vagina*) for a further discussion of this 'remarketing'.

¹⁵ Note that even the word *orgasm* is absent from texts of this time, instead they are referred to as 'hysterical paroxysms'.

¹⁶ See Rachel Maines' The Technology of Orgasm (2001), for a detailed history of the vibrator.

¹⁷ And men in general, many women would argue. Additionally, the men that do aid their women partners to orgasm through manual manipulation are heralded as 'gods' in astonishment by their peers (see Drenth, 2005).

a 'woman' to climax to those needed to rub your stomach and pat your head simultaneously, and a text from 1906 by Samuel Spencer Wallian, that "bemoan[s] not just the expertise called for, but the time taken up too. Manual massage, he complains, "consumes a painstaking hour to accomplish much less profound results than are easily effected by the *other* in a short five or ten minutes" (as cited in Blackledge, 2003 p.259) [italics in original]. As Blackledge explains, "the *other* in question was the latest tool of the medical profession – the vibrator" (p.259, italics in original). Blackledge continues, "Vibrators became available for home use...unfortunately, it's not known precisely how many late-nineteenth-century and early-twentieth-century home vibration kits were sold; however, they were certainly popular enough to feature in many mail-order magazines in the U.S. the U.K. and Canada up until the 1920s" (p.260-261).

With regards to trans* and queer history, acknowledgements of the existence of people who "possessed ambiguous genitalia or had both male and female sexual characteristics was well-established in [mid-19th century] folklore" (Califia, 2003, p.12). However, homosexuality, 'transvestism' and intersexuality (or 'hermaphroditism' as it was called in this era), were deemed practically analogous, and were not considered separate 'phenomena' until the work of Magnus Hirshfeld in the late 19th century. Victorian sexologists had several 'infamously ambiguous' patients¹⁸ who drew attention from the medical spheres as well as from lay people. One of the most well-known as a "celebrity transsexual" (Califia, 2003, p.12) was the Chevalier d'Eon de Beaumont¹⁹, whose name led to Havelock Ellis' term for 'transvestism'²⁰, eonism (Garber, 1993). Ellis, like Magnus Hirschfeld, established a new category of 'sexual deviation' alongside but, (crucially) distinct from homosexuality. Typical of the era, postulations about 'Eonists' were characterised by demonisation of trans and queer individuals and behaviours, and both Hirschfeld and Ellis were criticised for their "compassionate" (Califia, 2003, p.12) attitudes towards this 'deviance'. Indeed, because these trans* people were 'famously' deviant,

¹⁸ Califia (2003) references several in *Sex Changes*.

¹⁹ See Chapter 1 of Sex Changes (Califia, 2003) for a full description of d'Eon.

²⁰ Coined by Magnus Hirschfeld in 1910.

they were often effectively regarded as freaks of nature, which arguably did not really do much to progress views on normalised gender roles during this time.

In their analysis of veeple²¹ in gynaecology textbooks, Diana Scully and Pauline Bart (1978) noted that circa 1845, vaginas were spoken of in terms of being "merely a receptacle for the male seed" (p.212), with 'women' engaging in coitus purely to populate the earth and to nurture mankind. Similarly, the authors observed the 19th century view that "women of firm morals did not enjoy sex" (p.212) but rather performed it as a duty to their husbands and to the population. In this 'old-fashioned' framework, whilst 'men' were considered to be populating the earth with their 'seed', it was the woman that carried not only the physical burden of motherhood (in pregnancy, childbirth, miscarriage and menstruation), but also a cultural burden in that women were expected to marry and produce heirs to their husband's name; childless women, whether voluntarily or not, were devalued.

As Weitz (2017) writes, the 1872 publication of Darwin's *On the Origin of the Species* was influential at the time in creating and reinforcing ideas about 'men' being "more evolved than females" (Weitz, 2017, p.251) due to the need for continual evolving to be the 'fittest' to compete for sexual access to 'women'. Without this 'need to compete', 'women' were consequently, apparently, less evolved and "remain[ed] subject to their emotions and passions: nurturing, altruistic, and child-like, but with little sense of either justice or morality" (Weitz, 2017, p.252). As Weitz goes on to describe, these gendered ideals, whilst deeply problematic, "meshed well with Victorian ideas about middle-class white women's sexuality, which depicted women as the objects of male desire, emphasized romance and downplayed female sexual desire...reinforc[ing] a sexual double standard" (p.252).

Jackson and Scott (2010) provide a useful starting point for contextualising modern understandings of gender (and particularly sexuality, as is their focus). As they correctly point out, in understanding the modern (and late modern) period, we must remain "alert to continuities as well as discontinuities" (p.50). One excellent example in their chapter

²¹ Although the authors use the word 'woman'.

'Modernity and Its Discontents' shows the radical shift in representations of 'women's' sexuality between the 15th (women's carnal lust is 'insatiable') and 19th ('women' are not interested or 'built' for sexual things) centuries. As the authors argue, whilst radically different from the earlier view, the 19th century view presents 'women' and 'men' as opposite, with 'women', as before, subordinate to 'men': something Weitz (2017) attributes to the legal status of 'women' as property (of men). The transition from the 18th to the 19th century saw a reordering of gender relations, a review of conceptualisations, of sorts, which placed "women [not only as] merely inferior to men, but as radically other" (Jackson and Scott, 2010, p.50). Nonetheless, both views were based on 'male experts' commenting on what made 'women' inferior.

The Modern Vagina (1900-1980)

The beginning of the twentieth century did not mark much change in terms of vaginas specifically, but there were 'women' at this time challenging 'male' dominance and patriarchy²²: the 'women's' suffrage movement is one well-known example. 1948 saw the publication of Ruth Hershberger's *Adam's Rib* which featured a short, witty chapter that discusses the clitoris alongside a critique of how 'women's' sexual pleasure is defined. However, following the two world wars there was a resurgence of the domestic ideology, with high (and early) rates of marriage across much of the West. Reproduction took on a special significance at this time, with 'women's issues' being pushed continually into the side lines.

In 1958, Harold Garfinkel met a nineteen-year-old Agnes, who presented herself to her doctors as needing her penis and scrotum to be removed in order to live a 'normal female life'. In *Studies of Ethnomethodology* (1967), Garfinkel describes meeting Agnes, who he and his colleagues were convinced had an intersex condition they called 'testicular feminisation syndrome' and who was subsequently 'allowed' to undergo castration and vaginoplasty surgery. Years later, she revealed she had been privately taking oestrogen supplements since age 12 and, in modern terms, was actually not intersex but a trans

²² Viola Kline, Marie Stopes and Simone de Beauvoir, for example.

woman. As Vincent (2012) writes, "Agnes' genius manipulation of the system gives a great big middle finger to anyone who would try and question or prevent her legitimacy. For her, being transgender wasn't an identity she felt any connection with." (n.p.). The salience of Agnes for this thesis is that she felt having the 'right' genitals validated her claim to femininity. Her vagina authenticated her as a woman, which further highlights the cultural significance of her genitals. It also demonstrates an early example of something trans people still struggle with today: that the legitimacy of one's gender identity relies on 'approval' by the medical establishment. Moreover, as Vincent (2020) comments, "this significantly illustrates how the medical establishment at this time, despite some interest in transsexualism as a medical condition, failed to provide recognition unless intersex arguments could be deployed to make claims of the 'truth' of a person's sexed status." (p.22).

Meanwhile, the constructions of knowledge of 'female' sexuality began to change. In 1953, Alfred C. Kinsey and colleagues, published a report that was hugely controversial at the time for discussing female sexuality²³, which had never before been covered in the medical field so definitively. In the 'Pre-Kinsey' era, female sexuality was contestable, with some arguing that women could not experience pleasure, that the basic biology of women was to be mothers, with "sexual pleasure...entirely secondary or even absent" (Cooke, 1943, as cited in Scully and Bart, 1978, p.216). The vagina itself was barely mentioned, with the most detail referring to childbirth, but still only the vaginal passage itself was indicated (Scully and Bart, 1978), there was no reference to the vulva, labia or crucially, the clitoris. Even in the cases where scholarship does argue for an extant sexuality in 'women', it was framed as something that must be 'activated' by a male lover; it was conceptualised as a *responsive* sexuality, not one that was innately *active*.

Kinsey (1953) is not often credited with exposing the vaginal orgasm as myth but it was in fact his report that originally stated that the vagina was not the epicentre of female sensory stimulation, but that the nerve endings instead reside within the clitoris. Despite

²³ The 1953 report on 'female' sexuality followed the 1948 publication of the 'male' version.

this, Scully and Bart (1978) report finding gynaecology textbooks published as late as 1965 stating that the vaginal passage is the main female erogenous zone, and remark on the apparent "frigidity" of women who were unable to climax in this "normal mature" way (Scully and Bart, 1978, p.218). Kinsey's report noted that the slower 'female' orgasm response could be attributed to "the ineffectiveness of usual coital techniques" (Kinsey, 1953, p.164), i.e. the lack of attention to the clitoris in traditional sex positions, rather than that 'women' were not as sexually desiring or effective as their 'male' counterparts. Regardless of Kinsey's efforts, it took until 1967 for most texts to include the clitoris as an important *aid* to orgasm at the very least, if not a main site of stimulation. Scully and Bart argue that whilst some Victorian prohibitions and rules had been demolished with the sexual revolution in the 1960s, other "equally repressive" (1978, p.214) rules had replaced them, with "the underlying imagery chang[ing] little in 125 years" (p.214). The early-1960s work of William Masters and Virginia Johnson which used scientific observations and controlled conditions created a wider impact than Kinsey's work, but nonetheless their work mostly acted to reinforce Kinsey's ideas.

Shortly after, Harry Benjamin published *The Transsexual Phenomenon* (1966, as cited in Califia, 2003, p.15), which, like Ellis and Hirschfeld before him, positioned him as "compassionate" towards those with "disturbed gender role orientation" (Califia, 2003, p.15). A classic in the field of transsexual 'treatment' (arguing for sex reassignment as the appropriate prescription, with psychoanalysis being ineffective), Benjamin supported trans individuals to access sex reassignment.

Sexuality research of the 1960's was commonly informed by psychoanalysis, with a heavy influence of pre-Lacanian²⁴ readings of Freud (Jackson and Scott, 2010). Luce Irigaray²⁵ writes that Freud's phallocentric perspective values the vagina only for the "lodging' it offers the male organ", with the "penis being the only sexual organ of recognised value" (1996b, p.79). Freud reinforced the idea of vaginal orgasm as the more mature

²⁴ As Jackson and Scott (2010) note, post-Lacanian readings of Freud are now much more widely known. Lacan (1977) challenged the dominant, literal, interpretation of Freud's work.

²⁵ Who also criticised Lacan as well as Freud.

'neighbour' to the clitoral orgasm: a 'transference' that a 'girl' or 'woman' is supposed to achieve when she comes out of her 'latency' period. Masturbation was framed as an exclusively masculine activity which 'girls' had to abandon to 'achieve true femininity' (Freud, 1927), which may have been a contributing factor to why vibrators "fell from medical and public grace and use during the first half of the twentieth century" (Blackledge, 2003, p.262). Blackledge also suggests that the "exposure [of vibrators] in the early erotic films of the 1920s may have changed medical and public opinion as to their "health" role, and highlighted their sexual one" (p.262). This constant framing of erotic content, particularly pornography, as exclusively masculine and 'not for women' is something I return to later in this chapter.

This attitude towards 'female' sexuality remained prominent through much of the early 20th century. One example of this can be seen demonstrated in Virginia Clower's (1980) article 'Masturbation in women' which problematically attempts to explain 'girls' lack of sexual interest' as due to their preoccupation with "the whole romantic complex of love, marriage and motherhood" (p.152-153). Referring often to Freud's theory of penis envy, Clower argues that the reason 'female' masturbation is more taboo than 'male' masturbation is a 'natural' one: that 'girls' need to masturbate in order to be aware of their own genitals, but that they "must not masturbate so much that sexual gratification is fixed on her own body ... at the expense of accepting the need for vaginal penetration in coitus" (p.153-154). Clower's reliance on Freud's position that clitoral pleasure is somehow 'less mature' than vaginal pleasure is explicit; she directly draws from Freud to argue her case that 'girls' masturbation needs to be placed firmly lower in the sexual hierarchy than vaginal penetration. This arguably dangerous rhetoric explicitly places 'female' sexual pleasure as only to be accessed through exclusively heterosexual vaginal penetration, although it does, at least, admit that masturbation is part of 'normal' sexual development in any gendered body. As Golden (1980, same volume) points out, Clower's positioning simply acts to reinforce the idea that 'women' need to feel guilty about their sexual desires and "repress them more completely" (p.169).

Anne Koedt ([1970] 1996) built on the research of Kinsey, Masters and Johnson in her politically-charged writing that debunked the myth of the vaginal orgasm, alongside Shere

Hite (1977) in her "revolutionary" report on 'female' sexuality that "smashed taboos and scandalised the world" (Smith, 2006), also stating the importance of the clitoris in sensory stimulation. As Wells (2008) comments, "anatomy becomes the armature supporting women's autonomy (because of the clitoris, our sexuality is not oriented to male satisfaction in intercourse; because of the clitoris, we can express and explore our own sexuality)" (p.700). Thus, the 1970s was arguably the era of the clitoris, being almost non-existent in literature before these works.

Interestingly, as Germaine Greer points out in The Female Eunuch (1971), the vagina and the clitoris were considered quite differently in a pre-Freudian era. Prior to the popularisation of Freud's work (which placed the clitoris within significance for psychosexual development), Greer quotes evidence in ballad literature and early gynaecology books circa 17th century that mention the clitoris as a site of pleasure, although "of course such books were not meant to be seen by women at all" (p.40). What is particularly striking about this revelation is the implication that later literature written inclusive of a 'female 'audience was immediately more restrictive and misogynistic, with male sexual prowess prized over 'female 'autonomy. This contributes to the idea of 'female' sexuality being constructed as accessible to men but not to women. The woman is constructed as a sexual object for men, with female sexuality misrepresented as passive and denying a woman's sexuality. Greer notes that "the vagina is obliterated from the imagery of femininity in the same way that the signs of independence and vigour in the rest of her body are suppressed" (p.15). This makes the important point that even in the 'compulsory femininity' women are expected to uphold, the vulva is decidedly absent, a "non-sex [...], her lot is that of 'lack'" (Irigaray, 1996b).

Indeed, the vagina as *hidden* was a common view of the 20th century. It is clear that the vagina is indeed physically hidden; it cannot be observed fully by oneself without the aid of a mirror. Thus, an effort has to be made to see the whole vulva, and certainly the vagina. Moreover, it is the conceptual invisibility of the vagina which remains; the mystery that surrounds the vagina by the lack of knowledge at this time and the lack of cultural power or autonomy awarded to it.

As Germaine Greer (1968; 1971) points out, the vagina has also remained relatively unseen in the expression of culture; Ardener (1987) writes of several artists of the early 1960s whose 'vagina art' was not considered worthy of viewing. Ardener notes how Hannah Wilkes was scared to show her work, "being an artist is...an unbelievable risk...[making] a female sexual statement is even riskier" (p.126). Similarly, Judy Chicago whose famous vagina artwork began in the 1960s, spoke of the reaction the thesis committee had to her 'controversial' work; they "became irate...threatened to withdraw their support...sputtered out something about not being able to show the paintings to [their families]" (Chicago, 1982, as cited in Ardener, 1987, p.127). Ardener stated that, "demystification [is] a prerequisite for sexual self-expression", (1974, as cited in Ardener, 1987) and triumphantly commented that "in New York in 1973 there were dozens of shows of women's erotic art", (1987, p.129). Not all analysis of 'vaginal art' refers to it as erotica; Rose (1974, as cited in Ardener, 1987) argues that whilst such art has been given the label of erotica, it is actually not at all intended to be, "it is designed to arouse women, but not sexually" (p.130). In this way, 'vagina art' is perhaps intended less to be sexually arousing, but a consciousness-raising, political and cultural arousal of the vagina.

Shirley Ardener (1987) makes the argument that in addition to the vagina being "relatively invisible in the expression of culture" (p.124) it is also "for many women...literally unseen". Ardener quotes the same words I use in my Introduction from Simone de Beauvoir, that "the feminine sex organ is mysterious even to the woman herself" (1949), and notes that the 1960s and 1970s saw some progress on this front, at least in the UK, USA and other parts of the West, particularly with women's magazines and 'vaginal art'. However, as Ardener writes, some feminist writers of the 1980s (Ardener cites Dworkin, 1981 and Griffin, 1981) worried about "the problem of inadvertently contributing to pornography" (p.134). This raises an interesting point that pornography was not considered 'women's domain' and in this era is still being conceptualised as anti-woman, or anti-feminist²⁶. Whilst I do not have the scope here to discuss pornography in more

_

²⁶ This arguably has not changed much in recent times. For more about 'women's' relationship to pornography (and feminism's relationship to porn also), see Smith and Attwood (2014).

detail, it is important to note that for many veeple, porn has contributed to conceptualisations of gender and is an arena where genitalia are freely available to view. For many veeple, pornography was/is the most accessible way to access this (albeit often distorted) information.

An important publication that emerged from second-wave feminism and cannot be excluded from this review is the widely-recognised and well-established success story that is Our Bodies, Ourselves, by the Boston Women's Health Collective. Originally written in 1971 following the 1969 Female Liberation Conference, the first edition sold over 270,000 copies (Wells, 2008) with 75,000 in just the first three weeks of publishing (Hobbs, 1973). Since then, there have been "ever-expanding editions, translations and adaptations" (Wells, 2008, p.697), with the most recent print edition published in 2011 (and digital edition, 2018). Originally created entirely by 12 women authors from the women's movement, the book strongly encourages 'women' to examine themselves, "touch yourself, smell yourself, even taste your own secretions. You are your body and you are not obscene" (Boston Women's Health Course Collective, 1971, p.8). The text also provided a detailed step-by-step guide on exactly how to go about doing this, which for many women at the time (and still today) was an entirely novel experience (Wells, 2008). The book is widely recognised as a progressive publication that helps women to regain power and control over their own bodies. As Susan Wells (2008) comments, "the central trope of consciousness-raising was synecdoche: what a woman had understood as private experience turned out to be emblematic of wider issues of gender politics" (p.705). It was not just personal knowledge that was gained by readers but also a process of understanding, a freedom and an excitement to learn and talk about themselves, and crucially a realisation that their experiences were part of a collective attitude towards women and their bodies.

Following the sexual 'revolution²⁷' of the 1960s, and in the footsteps of *Our Bodies*,

Ourselves, many magazines took to including sexual topics to accommodate changing

²⁷ The notion of this era being 'revolutionary' is debated, see Jeffrey Weeks' research on this.

attitudes and desires of the population. 1972 saw the launch of *Cosmopolitan*²⁸ in Britain which was considered a "radical [...] flagship" (Lavie-Ajayi and Joffe, 2009, p.100) which encouraged 'women' to discover their own genitals and find out what sort of pleasure they enjoyed on their own (rather than waiting to find out with a partner). Primarily a fashion and entertainment magazine, *Cosmopolitan* included sexual content where other publications did not yet dare to. Nonetheless, some²⁹ have argued that the magazine still portrayed the focus of sex as, first and foremost, to please 'men'. Indeed, whilst the headline may be 'find your clitoris', the overall narrative was often 'because your man will like that'.

Whilst many publications focused on the education of adult women, work was also focussed on addressing the education of young women and girls. In Stevi Jackson's 1978 article, the point is raised that the external nature of the male genitalia makes boys immediately aware of their penises but girls instead "need to investigate their genitals more thoroughly to discover the existence of the clitoris" (Jackson, 1978a) and indeed to discover their entire vulvas. Such behaviour is so heavily shamed that few 'girls' do so (and if they do, are less likely to admit to doing so) which has implications for sexual health but also for sexual pleasure and relationships (Jackson, 1978a). Whilst Jackson's research remains contextualised in the late 70s, not much has radically changed³⁰. The lack of acceptance for veeple to physically explore their body, either for awareness or pleasure, restricts a verson's³¹ control over their own body; they rely on outside knowledge about their sexual organs and are discouraged from exploring themselves but rather encouraged to wait until they have a sexual partner to explore them. As pointed out by Scully and Bart (1978), it seems not much has changed from the rhetoric used 100 years earlier, with a 'woman's' sexuality off-limits to her, but not to her sexual partners.

Jackson (1978a, 1978b) theorises that part of the basis of this 'lack-of-sexuality' in women and girls is due to the sex education adolescents received at secondary school, and later

²⁸ An American monthly magazine 'for women', available in selected countries worldwide.

²⁹ See Krassas et al., 2001, for a discussion of this.

³⁰ Although there has been movement, which I will address in turn with the chronology of the chapter.

³¹ 'Verson' is my invented singular of my word 'veeple'.

during their adult lives. Sex, at that time for most of the West, was framed as primarily reproductive which, Jackson argues, is problematic on a number of levels. Teaching children firstly that sex is 'where babies come from' immediately creates a hierarchy of babies first, pleasure and discovery later, again mirroring the essentialist discourse found by Scully and Bart of the 19th century. Boys are permitted and more often than not, 'encouraged' to touch their genitals (although not always sexually 32); the behaviour commonly dismissed as 'boys will be boys' or as somehow (and falsely) biologically necessary to empty the 'build-up of sperm', whereas girls are not granted this access to their own genitals. As an extension of this, masturbation is very much seen as an exclusively male activity, partly due to the reproductive emphasis given to male ejaculation (Jackson, 1978b). Jackson's own research from interviews with 24 adolescent females highlighted the impact of this reproductive bias; "on the subject of their own sexual response girls had acquired very little information, with their ignorance of female sexual organs and orgasm being almost total" (p.135). As Roberts (1980) writes, schoolbased sex education (particularly of the time) is really just "reproductive education" (p.240), which is "not likely to guide the sexual learning of young children meaningfully and effectively" (p.240).

The same year of 1978 saw the publication of Suzanne Kessler and Wendy McKenna's *Gender: An ethnomethodological approach* which, in addition to their prioritisation of 'gender' over 'sex'³³, detailed their concept of 'gender attribution'. Drawing on Garfinkel's work on ethnomethodology, Kessler and McKenna argue that gender is socially constructed; "we all assign a gender to every person with whom we interact, based on rules and assumptions that are usually unacknowledged or unperceived" (Stryker and Whittle, 2006, p. 165). This work is essential in contextualising my research as it firmly positions physical genitals as unimportant (though not totally irrelevant) in attributing gender. What, they argue, is much more important, are the *assumed* genitals: the cultural genital. In this way, it is the imagined genitals that matter; we attribute gender to people

-

³² For example, for controlled urination.

³³ Which, they argue, is also gendered.

based on the genitals that they 'would' or 'should' have. Interestingly, they further reason that, in their eyes, "...since it is the penis which is either attributed or not attributed, we maintain that the only cultural genital is the penis" (in Stryker and Whittle, p.173). As Braun and Wilkinson (2001) would go on to comment (see later in this chapter), this further highlights the continued conceptualisation of the vagina as *absent* and *non-penis*. A non-entity, a *lack*, rather than something to be 'attributed'. Mildred Ash, in 'The Misnamed Female Sex Organ' (1980) presents a passionate argument for the use of the word vulva despite it causing what she refers to as "psychological discomfort" (p.171). She reiterates the idea of the vulva as a *lack*, as "distinguished only by its lack of penis" (p.177). This, she argues, negatively affects children's sexual, emotional and intellectual development (p.178) for 'both sexes'.

These binary understandings of gender (and 'sex') also underpinned much of the narrative on 'trans' at this time. Janice G Raymond's The Transsexual Empire, published in 1979, "poured gasoline on the flames of an already fierce debate about the presence of transsexual women in the lesbian community" (Califia, 2003, p. 86), but focused entirely on 'male-to-female' (MTF), particularly trans lesbians. "Raymond pays scant attention to female-to-male individuals, because she cannot easily fit them into her scheme" (Stryker and Whittle, 2006, pg. 131)34. Whilst many publications focused on the MTF experience, 1977 saw the publication of Mario Martino's Emergence which detailed his 'female-tomale' (FTM) transition. Martino viewed those without genital surgery as not "true transsexuals" (Califia, 2003, p.46) and assumed all trans people were heterosexual and wanting a 'traditional' marriage with children. Conversely, Califia notes that whilst "Jorgenson and Morris had nothing bad to say about the doctors who made their sex changes possible ... Martino seems more able to notice sleazy or unethical behaviour", something Califia attributes to Martino's early socialisation and treatment as a 'female' for many years. Martino also argued for a sex-filled trans life (something Jorgenson and Morris ignore), as he felt it was an important part of being 'truly realised' in his identity.

_

³⁴ It is also worth noting here that in the 1994 republishing of Raymond's book (with a new introduction), she comments that she remains steadfast in her views despite critique.

Califia comments that Jorgenson and Morris' lack of engagement with sex as trans women implies that sex "ought not to be that important to a woman anyway" (2003, p.47). In this way, successfully presenting as a woman at that time assumed sexual passivity, "by displaying too much of an interest in things erotic, they would convince their readers that they were still trying to fulfil a male agenda" (p.48). This again highlights the sociocultural ideas *behind* the binary, that 'women' and 'men' are essentially different, opposites even. For trans* people, negotiating this binary divide remained crucial to their lived experience because they consistently have to monitor how others perceive them.

The Millennial Vagina (1980 -2000)

At this point in time, attitudes towards trans* people were beginning to change, but it would not be until much later that radical change would emerge. 1980 saw the inclusion of 'transsexualism' in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual (DSM)³⁵, "illustrat[ing] how prior to this, for more than thirty years, there existed an uncomfortable tension between trans service users being treated by the medical establishment, yet lacking any formal recognition within healthcare manuals" (Vincent, 2020, p.26). Nonetheless, as Wentling (2009) writes, "the construction of gender variance as a pathology and a "disorder" is extremely problematic" (p. 265) and many trans* people spoke out (and continue to speak out) about how damaging this was for gender nonconforming people.

Whilst not directly research on the vagina, Emily Martin's (1991) analysis of the ways in which medicine portrays the reproductive process exposes the stereotypical gendered assumptions that remained present. Martin writes, "by extolling the female cycle as a productive enterprise, menstruation must necessarily be viewed as a failure" (p.487). This lies in direct contradiction to the 'wasting of sperm' from 'male' masturbation which is not conceptualised as a failure to reproduce or a 'waste of resource' in the same way. These essentialist assumptions about sex and gender remained prevalent in this era. In 1986, The Journal of Sex Research published an article (Cairns and Valentich, 1986) discussing vaginal reconstruction for gynaecologic cancer through a feminist lens. Though their focus

³⁵ See Piontek (2006) for a history of how trans people have been in (and out) of the DSM.

was on veeple with genital cancers, the arguments made are drawn from the wider conceptualisations of 'woman' and 'female sexuality' present at the time of publication. Cairns and Valentich comment that since its recent inception, research and programme development efforts in this field consistently rely on "sexually stereotyped beliefs about women's physical, emotional and sexual health" (p.334). Their writing followed several authors of the 1980s American women's health movement, which report how traditional Western medicine "continues to be dominated by men and to reflect traditional male values" (p.334). They criticise the research and clinical literature of the time for various reasons, but the most relevant ones here are the link between a "woman's sense of femininity" and the "ability to engage in sexual intercourse (p.341), and that the "removal of the vagina is defeminizing to a woman...reconstruction will provide the necessary reassurance that she is still attractive and desirable" (p.341). As Cairns and Valentich rightly identify, the authors in question assume all 'women' are (cis) heterosexual, and rely only on reports of 'successful' penile penetration of the vagina. Explicitly drawing on the work of Our Bodies, Ourselves (Boston Women's Health Course Collective, 1971), Cairns and Valentich argue that the issue is directly linked to the fact that "the medical profession has been noticeably reluctant to consider women as capable of decisionmaking in relation to their own bodies" (p.343). It is interesting that, whilst they acknowledge the assumed heterosexuality of the patients, they do not draw into question their gender identity. Despite the 'Transsexual Phenomenon' of the seventies the connection between genital reconstruction for trans people and cis people remains unlinked. I argue that this failure to include trans experiences directly delays our progression towards a gendering without such primary focus on the genitals. The eighties remained stuck in the othering of the trans reality, placing it as not relevant to cis people – this example might apply most clearly to the vaginal construction of a trans woman and that of a cis genital cancer patient. Both individuals are assumed to want a penetrable vagina and, importantly, an attractive and feminine vulva.

The 'need' for a vagina, particularly one that is considered 'socially acceptable' is reflected in much of the trans literature at this time. Kate Bornstein was one of the first to write about gender nonconformity in this way, arguing against the idea of being "born in the

wrong body" (1994, p.24). "I never did feel like a girl or a woman; rather, it was my unshakable conviction that I was not a boy or a man. It was the absence of a feeling...." (p.24). They also were among the first writers to acknowledge that not all trans* people "hate their unaltered bodies, including the genitals they were born with" (Califia, 2003, p.246). As Bornstein writes, "I never hated my penis; I hated that it made me a man – in my own eyes and in the eyes of others. For my comfort, I needed a vagina..." (1994, p.47). Bornstein's own gender non-conformity informed their astute critical observations about gender; they argue strongly for a mythicalisation of gender (Califia, 2003, p. 247), where we admit that gender is "something invented and enforced by the culture...as purely and entirely a social construct, with no significant biological or physiological content" (Bornstein, 1994, p.47), drawing upon Kessler and McKenna's theorisation of gender. Bornstein also coined the term *gender terrorism*, which they apply to *Gender Defenders* – a term to describe those "supporters of the status quo, who [act] out their feelings of fear and loathing by directing violence and hostility towards transgender people" (Stryker and Whittle, 2006, p.236).

The attitude to genitals as defining sex persisted throughout the nineties (and arguably, has not diminished much since then). However, for the cisgendered population, a 'new' problem emerged into public consciousness: female genital mutilation. As Webber (2005) notes, the connection between 'female' circumcision (particularly clitoridectomies) and the 1990s Western media panic over 'African female genital mutilation' was not being identified. Webber writes, "as in Africa, the two procedures provided women and girls…a surgical method of becoming culturally acceptable", arguing that "viewing clitoridectomy and female circumcision as existing solely within [Africa] is historically as well as culturally myopic". The word 'mutilation' has also been used to refer to the gender-affirming surgeries that some trans people choose to undergo (see Sheila Jeffreys, 1997, for one example of this usage). Descriptions of these surgeries in this way are not framed 'sympathetically' but rather are used to form an anti-trans rhetoric and often specifically placing 'feminism' as in direct opposition to trans* issues.

Whilst her positioning on trans realities is greatly problematic, Germaine Greer (1999)³⁶ makes important points about the positioning of the vulva/vagina in relation to the penis. She argues that the apparent invisibility of the 'female' genitals cannot simply be explained away by the apparent outward visibility of the 'male' penis: "the heart is no less invisible and yet we refer to it constantly" (p.36). Indeed, Greer makes an interesting argument, and it is significant she draws upon the *heart* as a comparison: an organ also strongly associated with 'woman' and 'femaleness'. Discussions of matters of the heart, or references to hearts and love, are everywhere for 'girls and women', and yet (at this time), discussions about their sexual organs were marginalised, pushed to the periphery.

An iconic 'vagina moment' of the late 20th century that challenged this cultural invisibility of 'vagina' was the release of V's (previously known as Eve Ensler's)³⁷ The Vagina Monologues (2001) in 1996; a theatre piece focusing on what she describes as otherwise 'invisible' topics surrounding women and their vaginas; presenting a series of monologues based on interviews with over two hundred women, written in a popular, easy-to-read format which has become internationally renowned as both a book and as performed in theatres. Hammers (2006) acknowledges the importance of V's contribution to talking about the vagina "openly, respectfully and publicly" (p.221), stating, "how [else] can we ever change the attitudes that underlie the violent and oppressive practices that are visited upon women?" (p.221). Despite public criticisms for not being inclusive enough of transgender people, people of colour and non-western (particularly non-US) cultures (see Cheng, 2009; Cooper, 2007; Hall, 2005), the Monologues are updated every year to include a new monologue, and V tried to rebuff these criticisms by stating that "I would like to believe that the play is outdated and irrelevant but sadly it isn't," (Laughland, 2015), which does not address the inclusivity issue. Whilst the Monologues aimed to promote 'positive' attitudes towards vaginas, or at least to promote talking about shared lived experiences, it is vital to note the controversy that V has faced in producing her work, with just the word vagina alone in her title causing tension (Braun and Wilkinson,

³⁶ Note that Greer's views have not much changed over time, her views in the 90s, and today, echo her 70s ideas.

³⁷ Eve Ensler renounced her surname and asks to be referred to as 'V' in her 2019 book, *The Apology*.

2001). The global phenomenon of *The Vagina Monologues*, and V's subsequent founding of the V-Day Campaign³⁸ created proverbial waves across the world, but not without significant criticism and controversy. Indeed, as Cheng (2009) discusses, V herself placed rules and guidelines on performances of *The Vagina Monologues*, forbidding any edits or 'unauthorised' translations (all translated scripts are centrally provided by V-Day): "this prohibition of any alteration to the prescribed text forecloses the possibility of any discussion or dialogue" (Cheng, 2009, p.23). As Cheng writes, "read in the transnational context, it is ironic to have one and only one legitimate arbiter of women's experiences in a global movement, while local women's creative participation is actively discouraged" (p.23)³⁹.

Betty Dodson⁴⁰ (2001) also pointed out that her 'Women's Sexuality Workshops' were being misrepresented by V⁴¹ and importantly questioned why the word *clitoris* was completely absent from the early versions of V's play. Whilst V presented Dodson's workshops as trying to find "some elusive spot inside the vagina", Dodson describes confronting V directly in her dressing room after watching the performance, "I wanted women to find the clitoris, the best source of sexual stimulation for our orgasms" but also admits "her play had other merits- everyone left feeling happy and proud to be a woman" (2001, n.p.). However, as Dodson points out, the format for *The Vagina Monologues* "dramatically changed" with its growth in public attention, shifting focus to V-Day, i.e. violence against 'women and girls': "V no longer stood for vagina. It stood for violence. [...] talking about sexual pleasure when there is so much sexual violence against women would be inappropriate, insensitive and politically incorrect" (n.p.). As Dodson goes on to comment, "it's very difficult to criticise V Day without sounding anti-woman or proviolence", but Dodson puts forward an interesting argument – one way in which the topic

³⁸ V-Day is a global activist movement to end violence against all 'women girls and the planet' (see vday.org).

³⁹ V also wrongly asserts that FGM is predominately only carried out in Africa, see Cheng (2009) for more details.

⁴⁰ A well-known 'sex-positive' feminist, famous for her masturbation workshops of the 1970s which resulted in the technique known as the Betty Dodson Method (still used at least as late as 2008 – See Struck and Ventegodt 2008).

⁴¹ For example, she writes, "viewing the female genitals with only one hand would be like pulling our mouth to one side and thinking that's how we look when we smiled" (n.p.).

of 'vagina' is considered palatable and less taboo is through the lens of 'solving' violence against women and girls (VAWG). We can talk about our genitals if we are discussing female genital mutilation (FGM), or sexual violence, but *pleasure* remains taboo.

On pleasure, Leonore Tiefer noted the distinct lack of feminist thought in sex therapy (1996) and outlined her ideas for attending to this oversight, which she splits into two areas. First, the "remedial and compensatory" (p.55) work required for 'women' to unpack their bodies and sexualities, focusing on the skills and attitudes of 'women', and second, the "visionary and transformative" (p.55) work required to reframe sexuality entirely. In her (oft-quoted) words, "women do not suffer from penis envy, but many of us suffer from vulva insecurity" (p.57). To tackle this insecurity, she details five components of the "remedial and compensatory" work needed, including reflective work (such as 'what does it mean to be a woman' and 'what is gender'), physiology education (including being able to draw a vulva and label it), assertiveness training, body image reclamation and finally, masturbation education. In Tiefer's words, "as a metaphor for empowerment, as a technique for teaching about orgasm, as a reframing of the purposes of sexuality, as an opportunity to learn about oneself from fantasy, and as a site of emotional sexual experience, masturbation remains the premier in vivo therapeutic opportunity for both bodywork and mind work.". This aligns with Tiefer's more general position on the importance of looking at and touching one's own body (particularly in sex therapy work, but also more widely), to run in parallel with therapy-talk.

The 21st Century Vagina (2000-present)

Finally, we reach the millennium. Perhaps the reader is not at all surprised to read a short review of how the vagina has been regarded in the (not-so-distant) past and see a lack of clitoris and pleasure and an abundance of shame, violence and taboos. In 2001, thirty years after the 'clitoris revolution' of the 1970s, and five years after the premiere of *The Vagina Monologues*, Braun and Wilkinson stated that the vagina *still* maintained a "seemingly 'taboo' position – a word that is hard to say and a topic that is difficult to talk about" (2001, p.17). Braun and Wilkinson (2001) identified seven negative representations of vaginas found in western societies, the vagina as: *inferior* to the penis, *absent*, a *passive*

receptacle for the penis, sexually inadequate, disgusting, vulnerable and dangerous. Braun and Wilkinson recognise two meanings of vaginas for women; firstly one based in the material which encompasses the physical representation of the genitalia; and secondly of the symbolic which "assumes that the meaning of the body is constructed by socio-cultural representations" (p.18). They postulate that the interpretation of women's bodies must be considered within the wider context of cultural representations that construct the experiences of the biological body. In this way, negative representations of the vagina have a material impact on women's lives, with very real limitations for sexual health, knowledge, pleasure and autonomy.

For trans* and queer people, the millennium was a significant turning point for representation in popular media as well as medical and legal rights progression. There was also some important academic thought emerging at this early moment for trans* emancipation, such as the work of trans man Patrick Califia (2003). In the second edition of his book, *Sex Changes*, he argues, "if we really want to be free, women must realise that at the end of that struggle, we will not be women anymore" (p.90). He continues, "Or at least we will not be women the way we understand that term today. Nor will men, as a paradigm, emerge unscathed". This radical thought, informed heavily by both feminist and queer writings of the time, called for "genuine female rebellion" (p.92) and purported that non-cis men should work collectively together to finally dismantle global patriarchies.

In the International Vagina Dialogue Survey (IVDS) conducted in 2004 (Nappi, Liekens & Brandenburg, 2006), 9441 female respondents from 13 (mostly European)⁴² countries were surveyed, with 47% feeling that the vagina was the part of the body women know least about. In the same document it was reported that 52% falsely believe that when standing up, the vagina has a vertical orientation. What is interesting about these findings is that they are not personal to a woman's own body. They refer to generic, medical knowledge that one might expect a person to have and yet this implies a wider lack of understanding within society. Specifically, this is not knowledge of one's own body

⁴² Austria, Belgium, Brazil, Canada, Finland, France, Germany, Italy, the Netherlands, Portugal, Spain, Switzerland and UK.

37

(although that is also a factor) but a basic anatomical knowledge of the female sex organs.

There are several problematic consequences this lack of anatomical knowledge of vaginas has on women including sexual pleasure and autonomy as well as awareness of sexual health, childbirth realities and menstruation. 71% of IVDS respondents wrongly believed that tampons, once inserted, can get "lost" or "trapped" inside the vagina, and yet 73% reported using tampons at least "sometimes" (p.499). With 75% of women in the same survey admitting to having experienced some sort of vaginal health problem, it is of great concern that knowledge of the female anatomy is so relatively limited. In terms of sexual and reproductive health, this creates a barrier for women, a limiting factor in the medical control of their own bodies. Only 50% of survey respondents felt comfortable discussing their vagina with a healthcare professional which demonstrates the force of this taboo and its potentially damaging effects on female sexual health.

It was also not until 2005 that an account of clitoral anatomy was published, drawing upon Kobelt's early 19th century work, which finally included all the component structures we now understand to be central to the 'female' sexual and reproductive system and especially for orgasm (O'Connell, Sanjeevan and Hutson, 2005). Following the first and only 'International Vagina Dialogue Survey' in 2006, the first ever 'genital satisfaction scale for women' was invented only 3 years later in England in 2009 (Bramwell & Morland, 2009). Despite numerous other 'scales' for women to have their bodies rated and indexed, the vagina had been entirely missed out until the rise in popularity of labiaplasty, a new cosmetic surgery (having previously only been performed as a surgery when 'deemed medically necessary', because of an underlying problem such as cancer) designed to reduce the size of the labia minora (and sometimes also the labia majora).

Blackledge's *Story of V* (2003) was (predictably) controversial as it discussed 'female' sexuality and the vagina in detail, but it also drew criticism⁴³ for not being radical *enough*

⁴³ Blackledge has also been criticized by some for a general lack of academic integrity (she does not use footnotes, or referencing in general, only a 'further reading' list is available in the 2003 edition) and some 'sloppy' scholarship with a few inaccuracies in her statements of 'fact'.

(Briscoe, 2003), including the publisher's choice to omit 'vagina' from the title, opting to use the letter *V* instead. Written in an easy-to-read, popular style, Blackledge attempted to bring the vulva/vagina into the light, although the extent to which this could be considered a success is debatable.

Similar to my own thinking about non-binary and trans* people being vital in the unpacking of the relationship between the body and identity (particularly gender and sexuality), Karen Yescavage and Jonathan Alexander (2009) argue that in order to "push beyond simplistic thinking about gender and sexuality" (p.21) we must begin to look "at the lives of bisexual and transgendered people". (p.21). They go on to point out that both of these categories of identity are popularly characterised in relation to an unmoving, inflexible binary which can be unhelpful. In particular, "transgenderism...has frequently been characterised as sustaining deeply entrenched notions of masculinity and femininity" (p.21) which highlights attempts to "confine and delimit gender and sexuality" (p.22). The authors also refer to non-western cultures to further expand on the conceptualisations of these ideas, drawing from Indonesia and Japan as Eastern examples of queering boundaries⁴⁴. In this way, this relatively recent work looks to expand thinking on sex, gender and sexuality by including those deemed to live in the margins, in the peripheries of these categories, in the 'in-between' or 'outside of' what are considered to be 'natural' or 'traditional' forms of masculinity and femininity.

In the same volume, Sharon E. Preves (2009) discusses how intersexed children are treated (with references to Kessler's earlier work (1998), and argues, with renewed data (the author uses data from the year 2000), that "interference with sex and gender norms is [still] cast as a major disturbance to social order", something that must be framed as a social, not medical problem (p.34). As Preves restates, the 'corrective' genital surgeries performed on intersexed children are not "for the sake of preventing stigmatisation and

⁴⁴ Although the extent to which they can be considered to be truly radical is unclear. One Indonesian culture recognises five genders (authors cite Sharyn Graham, 2003) and Japanese entertainers queer gender constructions to "gain appeal" (p.22) (authors cite Mark McClelland,2003) whilst gender nonconformity remains taboo in Japan. See *Bisexuality and Transgenderism: InterSEXions of the Others* (Alexander and Yescavage, 2003) for more details.

trauma to the children" (p.34) but "rather…to maintain social order for the institutions and adults that surround these children" (p.34)⁴⁵. Thus, intersexuality remains another important area in which to unpack gender norms, as intersex individuals are existing in the liminal spaces between and around gender and sex.

Tre Wentling (2009) discusses how existing in these liminal gendered spaces impacts gender nonconforming people. Wentling writes, "society is literally making me obsessed" (p.263), "it is the pathological construction of sex and gender variation that pushes anyone who does not conform to become obsessed" (p.265). Wentling also makes reference to the ongoing violence against trans people⁴⁶, serving as yet another factor in one becoming 'obsessed'. "If this fear and hatred continue, so will my obsession with how I appear to others" (p.265), "my obsessions and stress all have social, not psychological, foundations. They are a product of a social order that defines anyone who does not conform to our two-gender system as deviant and pathological. Because they are the result of social and cultural factors, they require social, not psychological, change." (p.270). Butler (2004) questions "whether submitting to the diagnosis does not involve, more or less consciously, a certain subjection to the diagnosis such that one does end up internalising some aspect of the diagnosis, conceiving of oneself as mentally ill or 'failing' in normality, or both, even as one seeks to take a purely instrumental attitude toward these terms" (p.82). Wentling highlights the impact of a strict gender binary on those who do not 'fit' this model, and reframes the narrative of 'obsession' about gender: here it is clear that the "gender madness⁴⁷" (Klammer and Goetz, 2017, p. 85) stems from society itself, not the 'deviants' that find themselves deemed 'nonconforming'. It is of note that in Wentling's (2009) discussion of his (non)gendered identity experience, his section on 'My Body' is only approximately 250 words long, and whilst he mentions his decision to have top surgery⁴⁸ and have testosterone injections, he completely brushes over any mention of genitalia. This was likely intentional on the author's part, for discussions on trans

⁴⁸ Double mastectomy.

⁴⁵ It is worth noting that intersex 'corrective' surgeries usually construct vaginas, not penises.

⁴⁶ See Lombardi et al. (2001) for data of that time, and Bernat (2022) for more recent data.

⁴⁷ This term has been translated from German (Gender Wahn) and refers to the (Austrian) right-wing criticism of non-binary and trans identities as well as what they describe as a 'loss of traditional values'.

identity tend to over-focus on genitalia, and of course the ongoing discrimination and violence towards the trans community is often directed at their genitalia. By choosing to not mention his genitals, Wentling redirects the narrative on trans bodies and identity, however it does leave a noticeable gap in the scholarship of trans* bodies⁴⁹.

Cultural production in the field of 'vaginal art' has happily survived and sustained itself from its glorious birth in the 1960s (recent UK projects include Raising the Skirt (Canavan 2014), The Great Wall of Vagina, (McCartney, 2015) and My Vulva and I, (Reeves, 2021)⁵⁰. To use an earlier example, Nick Karras' book Petals (2003) features 48 printed photographs of vulvas to celebrate their diversity. Printed in black and white (with sepia tone) Karras notes, "the vulva is almost too powerful when shot in color", and observed that when women looked at the pictures they tended to "hurry through brightly lit, full color shots" but slowed down to study the black and white images. Karras states that an important part of his work was to distance itself from pornography, especially as the images feature only vulvas and no other part of a woman. Karras compares this to the Vagina Monologues, in that "[she] presents women's pussies (her term) as its sole subject – not women's educational accomplishments, maternal concerns or aesthetics of fashion" making the point that this apparent "stripping down" of women to only their genitals is not meant to limit our perception of women but rather to celebrate this "sacred area" that "too often gets overlooked", presenting a shift in attitudes towards vaginas (Karras, 2003, n.p.). Karras' work highlights the common theme of the vagina as hidden, a quality which is arguably exaggerated not only by the vagina's tricky physical position in relation to the vagina-owner, but also the relatively invisible appearance to an onlooker. One might compare the vagina to the more readily observed breasts, which despite being sexualised and a focus of erotica in their own right, are more readily spotted in the everyday, whether that be during breastfeeding, being topless at the beach or on page 3 of *The Sun*⁵¹. Whilst many art projects and educational programs focus on highlighting the

-

⁴⁹ Which some authors have contributed to, notably Claudine Griggs in *Journal of a Sex Change: Passage through Trinidad* (2004).

⁵⁰ Other notable examples include Hilde Atalanta's *The Vulva Gallery* (2016), Laura Dodsworth's *Womanhood* (2019) and Juliana Notari's installed vulva artwork, *Diva* in Brazil (2021).

⁵¹ The Sun is a UK tabloid newspaper.

differences between breasts and discarding unrealistic 'goals' for women, similar projects for vaginas exist in a more controversial space.

Vaginas generally remain controversial, although some may debate whether that controversy is as marked as to be called a taboo. More literature and media have appeared, in larger quantities than before. One distinct example to address is Naomi Wolf's *Vagina:* A *New Biography* (2012) which has been criticised for using terms such as 'tantric' inappropriately, for not contributing much new information, and for a "pretty shaky" (Heller, 2012, n.p.) understanding of science. However, it did put forward an argument for 'females' to reclaim the "magic" of the vagina (Wolf, 2012) which proved somewhat popular amongst some groups of (mostly white, cis) women. Wolf's book was highly publicised, which highlights a shift from even ten years prior, where books with such titles and on such topics were struggling to get published.

In her second 'attempt' at a 'vagina book' (the first 'attempt' title was muted to simply "V"), Blackledge manages to include the word 'vagina' in the title, *Raising the Skirt: The Unsung Power of the Vagina* (2020), although it was a different publisher and 16 years later. As Flood (2020) argues, the 'anasyrma⁵²' that Blackledge described in her first edition, has now "become widely adopted as a political gesture". Whilst I wouldn't describe the few examples Flood cites as 'widely' adopted, she does mention some notable examples in recent years, such as in anti-abortion demonstrations in Poland (2016) and gender discrimination/ VAWG protests in Italy (2017).

Jennifer Gunter's *The Vagina Bible* (2019, n.p.) looked to tackle the ongoing "myths and misinformation about the vagina and the vulva" and addressed "the questions and medical concerns that general gynaecologists and family practitioners and other medical professionals need help with". One important landmark to note is that Gunter's book includes trans men with vulvas, and trans women with vaginoplasties. This is, to my knowledge, the first medically-aligned book to do so.

⁵² The gesture of 'lifting the skirt' (usually to expose the vulva).

In her book, *My vulva and I*, Lydia Reeves (2021) opens by explaining that "for an area so emotionally charged, it is rarely spoken about in our lives" (p.3), and on reflecting on the process (in which she body-cast 200 vulvas and talking to the veeple about their genitals), she commented that she was surprised by how many anxieties people had about their vulvas (Williams, 2021), something noted by other vulva artists (Karras, 2003; Dodsworth 2019). All of these projects refer to the recent rise in labiaplasty surgeries in Europe and the US, with the UK a high case example. As Bramwell and Morland (2009) discuss, there is little sociocultural information given to people wanting to undergo genital cosmetic surgery, and little understanding of what processes were leading them to surgical action. These artistic projects (which can also be found on various online social media platforms such as *Instagram*, *Twitter* and *Tumblr*), aim to plug the gap they see for veeple wanting to learn and understand their bodies.

Politically we have seen a rise in discussions around sexual assault in public arenas, with movements such as "pussy hats" (Pussyhat Project, 2017), "#metoo" (Me Too, 2018) and "Time's Up" (Time's Up, 2018), as well as vulva/vaginas coming to the forefront in several forms of media; books (Wolf, 2012; Rees, 2013; Brochman and Støkken Dahl, 2018); magazines (Askham 2015, for Glamour; Hine, 2019 for Boots health and beauty); music videos (Pussy Riot, 2016; Janelle Monáe, 2018), TV series (*Grace and Frankie*, 2016; *Big Mouth*, 2017; *Sex Education*, 2019), documentary series (*Vagina Dispatches*, The Guardian, 2016), radio (*Woman's Hour*, BBC Radio 4, 2019, 2020, 2021), websites/apps (Happy Play Time, 2013; OMGYES.com, 2016) as well as a rise in vulva representation on social media (particularly *Twitter* and *Instagram*). 2015 saw the introduction of a 'vagina selfie stick'⁵³, which functions as a vibrator with an illuminated camera to deliver internal footage of the vaginal canal. 2019 also saw the opening of the world's first 'Vagina Museum' in London⁵⁴, which received popular media attention at the time (Williams, 2019 for *The Guardian*). Menstruation habits and media representation has also noticeably

٠

⁵³ The Svakom Gaga Camera Vibrator sold by Lovehoney (currently out of stock at time of writing), who refer to the "sexual pioneers Masters and Johnson" (Lovehoney, 2015) – although the specifics of this reference are absent.

⁵⁴ The museum existed as a pop-up in 2017 but moved to premises for the first time in 2019. The world's first Phallological Museum was established in Reykyavik, Iceland in 1997.

shifted (over many years, but particularly in the last five), today discussions on 'period poverty' and 'tampon tax' as well as adverts for reusable sanitary products are more commonplace (Røstvik, 2018).

Transgender issues are now in popular media more regularly which has further complicated 'genital talk'. In 2018, Britain saw the beginning of 'Women Fest', "billed as an event of radical participation that aims to explore the 'power and magic' that happens when women sather together...[...] there will be vaginal steaming, feminist debate, and a chance for contemplation in the sacred womb tent" (Moorhead, 2018, n.p.) The founder of the festival, Tiana Jacout, stated that "all women are welcome at the festival... we're also happy to have non-binary people provided they have a vagina; but not non-binary people with a penis because we have to draw the line somewhere" (Moorhead, 2018, n.p). This further demonstrates the ongoing significance of genitals, even when gender nonconformity is taken into consideration.

In my exploration of the 'vagina histories', I suggest that there have clearly been some fundamental changes from the essentialist viewpoints of the 19th and 20th centuries. Nonetheless, despite iconic consciousness-raising vagina books, art and pieces being created, the constructions of the vagina as *hidden*, *dysfunctional*, *inadequate*, and *uninteresting* remain today. Whilst I have not gone into much detail here, there is also a wide literature on the practices of FGM, historically and presently⁵⁶, and the research I have discussed here does directly link with FGM practices and its continued prevalence. With my own work, my intention is not to produce a grand new construction of the vulva/vagina, but rather to centralise veeple's own experiences to widen these conceptualisations and deepen our understanding of how veeple experience their genitalia today.

⁵⁵ And young 'girls', as the age limit opened at 13 years old.

⁵⁶ See Momoh (2017) for a detailed discussion of the historical and social context of FGM and a brief analysis of current (international) movements.

Chapter 3: Methodology

As discussed in my introductory chapters, we are in a 'cultural moment' where vagina is arguably being addressed more openly (by veeple) than in previous decades. The aim of this research is to explore *how* vulva/vagina means in a society where the cultural significances of gender are changing, challenging and often contradictory, and therefore the notion of 'woman' is in flux. I am primarily interested in how veeple discuss their experiences of their genitalia through different phases of life (including menarche, childbirth and menopause), the relationship of the vagina to their sense of self (including 'girlhood', 'womanhood', and trans*/nonbinary identities) and how these experiences are both mediated by, and contribute to, changing cultural meanings of womanhood. In order to do this, my core research method is to interview veeple to hear their stories and to pay close attention to *how* they talk about their experiences of different stages of their lives. Through engaging with their stories, I aim to explore how life experiences impact the 'vagina-owner', and how having a vagina in turn influences how one experiences life.

Specifically, my research aims to explore the following questions:

- How do veeple experience life with a vulva/vagina (including but not limited to 'vagina-specific events' (VSEs) such as menstruation, penetrative sex, childbirth etc), and the meanings they make of these experiences?
- What are the cultural meanings that impact how veeple describe their lived experiences?
- How do veeple relate to public discourses about the vagina (or not)?

Research Story

When considering my research process (and situating myself within it) I imagine myself getting in my car to drive to other people's houses to discover more about them. This analogy is increasingly useful for me to make sense of my experience of doctoral fieldwork, and thus I have decided to share it here. I will begin with a short introduction to it, which becomes the basis of my method and one I will expand upon throughout this chapter:

We begin with a wide-shot of a detached property with a modest garden to the front. A small car enters from the right-hand-side and comes to a stop in front of the house. Inside the car is me, a PhD candidate with a dictaphone and a notebook, pushing my glasses up my nose, creasing my hair behind my ears as I exit the car, lock it, and look up at the house before me. The owner of the house has permitted me to visit to talk about what lies inside...

My academic journey began during my MA Women's Studies (also at CWS) with my dissertation piece on a similar topic. However, moving from a masters to doctorate level research has brought with it a shift in my own thoughtfulness and intention. As an MA student the scope of my research was much smaller, I interviewed only 10 people. Moreover, I did not have to do much active recruiting for my topic - many people were thrilled to be part of my research, starting with my MA colleagues who wanted to take part in a 'tit for tat' to mutually aid participant recruitment. In this way, I was not so much in my car driving to houses as someone with a makeshift table on the side of the road where people queued up to regale me with their vagina stories until I eventually had to turn people away. I was known affectionately as 'vagina-lady' and felt not dissimilar to how V described her experiences post-Vagina Monologues (2001) in which she would finish a show and open the backstage door to find swathes of people desperate to tell her about their vaginas. Doctoral research demanded higher standards for my recruitment methods and thus I became more 'active' in this process; I needed to explore my own experiences and how they would be perceived. As a young, educated, white, queer and (invisibly) disabled woman, I had to consider, in particular, how older, less educated, people of colour, heterosexual and (visibly) disabled people might respond to my calls for participants. Ultimately, I had to ask myself, am I the right person to conduct this research? My conclusion was yes, but not entirely. I wanted to be thoughtful in my approach without feigning ignorance of [my] privilege and how it would affect the process as the research is, of course, a fragment of wider sociocultural operations. For example, a decision I made early on in my research was not to use the term 'women' to refer to my participants, particularly during recruitment. Some people have vaginas but do not identify themselves as women, and I wanted to include these experiences with the

understanding that in interrogating what it means to have a vagina, excluding 'non-women with vaginas' was illogical. This resulted in several trans* people coming forward to be part of my research who would not have done if the recruitment had exclusively used the word 'woman'. Nonetheless, there were trans* people who were not comfortable speaking to me, for some due to the salience of genitalia in the discriminatory and hateful rhetoric that trans* communities endure, making an already-taboo topic even more painful to bear.

Whilst vulva/vaginas are notably absent from much social science literature, I also noticed that what research there was lacked individual narratives. Because my MA interviews 'trialed' interviews as a specific method of accessing individual narratives of veeple, I suspected I would want to conduct interviews again, but wanted to explore in depth the idea of why they would be useful and, crucially, how I would approach analysing the transcripts. I initially found inspiration in a Japanese graphic memoir depicting the true story of a woman's arrest for making 3D prints of her vulva into keychains and artistic dioramas and, eventually, a full-sized working kayak (Igarashi, 2015). The book, entitled What is Obscenity? The Story of a Good For Nothing Artist and Her Pussy is vibrant and humorous as well as informative and insightful. I began reflecting on why her story, and her method of storytelling, was so compelling for me and why my intuition was that it was important. This is where my journey into narrative theory began.

In preparing for the interviews as sites of storytelling I explored the use of narratives within research interviews. As Hardy states, "culture itself has been defined as 'an ensemble of stories we tell about ourselves'" (1975, as cited in Plummer, 1995); thus, if I am exploring cultural meanings of vagina, stories seemed an intuitive place to begin.

Anecdotally, I reflected upon my own experience of 'vagina' (in the abstract and as an embodied experience) and felt it was one that I had, in part, experienced through others' storytelling: what are your periods like; what was it like to lose your virginity; how are you getting on using that new menstrual cup; what is the sex like with your new partner; how do I treat this thrush? From the MA interviews there had been a sense between myself and my participants of 'shared knowledge' even with people relating different experiences from mine. Whilst I had only spoken to 10 cis women and I was able to find several

threads that connected their shared experiences together, I also discerned fascinating ideas growing from individual interviews, with each interview entirely different from another. In this way it was clear to me that stories, and the people behind them, would be critical to my understanding and, specifically in this research, I should use interviewing to understand veeple's social worlds without taking them out of "the contexts of time and space of which they are always part" (Plummer, 2001, p.262).

Thus, to investigate my research questions I decided to rely on these qualitative methods, predominantly due to the richness of data that would be of significant advantage when addressing the complex nature of my research questions (Bryman, 2008; Bozzoli, 2006). I wanted my research to delve deeper than the existing statistics that surround many of the social 'ringfencing' of vagina topics. A short survey to determine that most people found their school sex education to be insufficient; a number to show those who found childbirth overwhelming and harrowing versus those who found it to be easier than they anticipated; a graph of which menstrual products have been popular over time... these sorts of quantitative data I felt to be completely inadequate to answer my primary research questions. Simply put, what is it like to have a vagina? Allow me to ask someone who has one.

The decision to rely primarily on interview data was one that arose from my reading around narrative, particularly Ken Plummer's work. Plummer argues that the role of a researcher, when working within narrative-focused methodology, is to be a "coaxer" (Plummer, 2001). To 'coax' is to encourage participants to engage in "qualitative talk" which acts more as dialogue than simply extracting data. I wanted the research to be a conversation, a *dialogue*, to be able to dynamically engage in the process in real-time with a person rather than to delve into static artefacts of narrative such as cultural texts, autobiographies or even blogs.

In this way, I found interviews to be one of the most valid ways to gather the data I wanted to gain access to. I needed to know what experiences people have had, and how they feel about them. What better way than to ask them? This gives me an insight into

their perspective, rather than attempting to theorise something I have not been introduced to... in my imagination I return to the house analogy:

The house belongs to a person. The house represents them, their history, their imaginations, their memories and lived experiences. I set my sat-nav to take me to their neighbourhood, I park my car on the road outside and I stand just before the driveway, looking up at the house before me. I have my assumptions (not left unchecked or uninterrogated) from what I can see from the roadside. Have they had an easy life? Do they have an extension? Do they own several cars? Is there washing out on the line outside? I can continue to observe the house, even its inhabitant (with or without their knowledge) from the outside, writing down my observations and ideas in my notebook that I tuck inside my jacket pocket. I could even wait until dark and break into the house, see what lies in each room, make more furtive scribbles in my tightly-clenched notebook. I could flick through photographs the house-owner has posted on social media, or read their description of what lies inside. But if I want to gain a deeper understanding as to what goes on in the house, how the person feels about certain aspects, why things are arranged in the way that they are, even get access to secret tunnels and vaults, there is surely no better way than to gain the trust of the owner and ask them to invite you into their house. The process of them explaining their house to you is a unique process in itself, not to mention learning the layout of the house. Is there a significance in someone choosing to show me the kitchen first? Do they tell me this is where the heart of their family lies? Perhaps I see from the window the back garden, and I have the person with me to ask politely how they tend to the property. We learn what different aspects of different rooms mean to that person, how they have grown in that space, how they have changed the space, how the space has perhaps changed them. I, the researcher, the intruder, also get the opportunity to ask follow-up questions, to follow their thread live rather than attempt to decipher a static artefact. Crucially, I suspected there may be hidden areas in the house that may only be available to honoured quests...

Coming from a feminist standpoint, the method of asking people about their vaginas seemed even more clear to me. As Patricia Baker (1998) writes, "an issue recognized early in the development of feminist methodology was that the voices of women must be heard in feminist research". Within qualitative research, I quickly determined that semistructured interviews would be the most effective choice for me; I wanted to ask veeple about their bodies, including what might be considered quite private and intimate experiences. I chose interviews as a means to produce this data because of the opportunity to build a rapport with individual participants and to have the opportunity to ask follow-up questions directly within the interviews rather than using a questionnaire or written method. As Bozzoli states, "often what is spontaneous about the interviews is [the] most revealing" (2006, p.161) As part of my MA research I found that using a semistructured interview guide was very effective, allowing enough direction to guide participants through particular topics of interest whilst also encouraging them to do their own sense-making and exploring through tangential storytelling in their own ways. It was also a moving experience for me personally, to sit with the participants as they told me about their lives and shared their (often difficult) experiences with me. I did not want to feel distanced from the people taking part in my research, or their stories. I did not want to be able to 'put the book down', but rather to experience it in person, to be faced with them directly and to engage with them actively. All the interviews had the same general questions, but there is value in being able to flexibly adapt each interview based on 'intuitively' sensing areas that sparked interest in different participants.

The interviews also gave me a good opportunity to begin 'sense-making' right from the outset, something I used a research journal to foster. The importance of using a research journal was one I encountered in my MA research when reading Chambers et al.'s (2004) book *The Practice of Cultural Studies*. Chambers et al. set out what they refer to as "The Four Dialogues of Analysis" (p.234): recalling, listening around, close reading, and representing self and others. The importance of employing a research journal begins in their first 'dialogue', recalling, where "impressions were accumulated, hunches were crystallised into theories or rethought. There were moments of insight, epiphanies" (p.234). Thus, the use of the research journal is to make use of my own analytical thought

throughout the research process and not just after the fieldwork had taken place. In particular I found I would note in my journal moments that stayed with me after the interview and the embodied experience I felt in my own response to the interview, what Chambers et al. refer to as "salient episodes" and "headnotes", both useful to continually construct, deconstruct and reconstruct stories as each interview unfolded. Another important reason I wanted to make use of a research journal was that I wanted to be mindful of the impact interviewing might have on me as a person. I prepared myself both mentally and emotionally, knowing that "the [interview] process is a significant experience" (Gluck, 1977, p.5) not only for the interviewee, but also for the interviewer. This research fascinates me academically but also resonates with me as a queer person with a vagina and as a feminist. The research journal, while useful in itself, was also an 'excuse' to debrief myself after each interview, taking time to sit quietly by myself and 'check-in' with what might have affected me during that process.

Deciding to use semi-structured interviews to engage in the stories of the veeple I spoke to was only the first step; I wanted to stay immersed in the narratives throughout my fieldwork, analysis and beyond. Although storytelling is common in everyday conversation (Gee, 1986; Polanyi, 1985, as cited in Elliot, 2005), Mishler (1986) argues that many forms of research interview suppress stories either by 'training' the interviewee to limit answers to short statements, by interrupting narratives when they do occur, or by treating them as problematic in the analysis phase of research. Holstein and Gubrium (1995) suggest that the aim of an interview should be to stimulate the interviewee's interpretive capacities and that the role of the interviewer should be to 'activate narrative production' by 'indicating - even suggesting - narrative positions, resources, orientations, and precedents' (Holstein and Gubrium 1995, p.39). The interview therefore becomes a site for the generation of data and an opportunity to explore the meaning of the research topic with the respondent.

The conduct of my interviews was informed by methods such as oral histories (Gluck, 1977; Armitage and Gluck, 2006). In addition to practical advice about effective questioning styles and avoiding disruptive note-taking, I considered the following statement quite closely, "since we are asking [interviewees] to be self-revealing, we, in

turn, must be willing to divulge information about ourselves" (Gluck, 1977, p.8). I explored this concept, reflecting on the previous literature such as *Our Bodies Ourselves* (Boston Women's Health Collective, 1984) part of whose success was evidently in the combination of scientific knowledge and collective lived experiences, told together for the first time. I did not want the interviews to feel imbalanced; by asking my participants to tell me private experiences I wanted to listen carefully to what was said but also to provide some interaction and create an atmosphere of shared experience where appropriate, taking care not to overshadow or 'eat the other' (bell hooks, 1992). In choosing the title *Vagina Dialogues* I wanted to highlight the importance of communicating together about a societal taboo, but also to recognise that "dialogue is not leaving the self aside" (Chambers et al 2004, p.238). Chambers et al. (2004) argue that in remaining mostly silent, the researcher can actually thereby assume a strategic position that presupposes that they occupy a position of power over the participants, which is "not always the case" (p.238) and certainly not a research ethic I wanted to embrace.

When planning the interview process, I had hoped to be able to rely solely on face-to-face interviews as I felt that a video connection (using a tool such as Skype) would not give me enough opportunity to create and maintain a rapport with the other person. I wanted, to an extent, to be able to control the environment or at least feel more able to read nonverbal cues to help me detect and sense-make. However, in wanting to reach out to a wider demographic I found that remote video calling was my only option in some cases. I reflect upon this process later in the chapter as it was not something I planned for in the rationale or design of my fieldwork.

It will be clear that I am committed to the strategic value of interviews as a method of accessing individual and cultural stories and avoiding impersonal information. Yet I began to realize that I needed another method to try to understand in more depth how veeple engage with 'public' discourses around vaginas, such as sanitary product advertisements, legislation and school sex education. So, I decided to try focus groups: I was trying to bring veeple together to see how they reacted to different videos about vagina related topics. I wanted to see what they found interesting, informative and amusing, maybe "positive" and what they found patronising, hurtful, silly, possibly "negative". The benefit of this

method to my research was two-fold; firstly, to allow space to discuss more public ideas about vaginas (whereas the interviews would be on issues surrounding personal life stories relating to their body); and secondly to examine how a small group of veeple would discuss vaginas amongst themselves. With attention to the latter, it was vital to include the focus groups to gain a better understanding of how vaginas were discussed in a group setting, and not just in a one-to-one interview with me privately.

Despite these aims and ideas, the focus groups were a challenge for me. Having experienced interviews in my MA research, I felt much more comfortable re-designing and considering those, and did not have any previous focus group facilitator experience. In truth, I found myself avoiding thinking about focus groups as I felt quite anxious at the idea of them. I therefore did not devote enough attention to planning them, and I will discuss the implications of this later in this chapter.

<u>Design</u>

The specific topic foci for the interviews and focus groups differed. In developing my interview guide I referred to my MA research which in this context acted as a pilot; I decided to keep three key topics: language use, 'education' and the physical senses. I began by asking what words the person uses to describe their vulva/vagina. The importance of asking this question first was to establish what vocabulary the participant would be comfortable using during the interview but also to discuss if participants use different words in different settings with different audiences and if those linguistic choices changed as they grew older, from words given to them as children through to words they are comfortable with as adults. Whilst some research has indicated 'women' prefer to use euphemistic terms for their vulva/vaginas (Braun and Kitzinger, 2001a), I found that the majority of my MA participants were most comfortable with the word vagina, although the title of my study may have influenced that outcome. In addition, whilst I had always intended to ask about menstruation within my interviews, I knew it would be a 'safe' area for most participants to talk about their first period as research shows this is easily remembered amongst most 'women' (Lee 2008; Lee and Sasser-Coen 1996) and I found this to be true within my MA sample, where every person not only could recall their first

period but also was able to talk about the experience in great detail. Next, I focused on 'learning' primarily through the lens of formal education, but also through family, what had their parent/guardians taught them and how had they gained an understanding of that part of their body as they matured. This section of the interviews was also a valuable way to ascertain the childhood 'set-up' that surrounded them, what family lived at home (any other PWV parents/siblings or not?) what sort of school they attended and what the quality of sex education there was, if any. The third section I migrated from my MA was to explore the vagina through the human senses, to ask participants about experiences with their vaginas through sight (looking at their vulva, using a mirror, possibly a speculum), touch (linking to masturbation, cleaning/hair care), smell and taste (from both their perspective and possibly that of a sexual/intimate partner). In addition to the pilot topics, I decided to add two new, more abstract questions, "when do you feel most aware of having a vagina?", and "what does it mean to you to have a vagina?". My decision to include these questions came from, yet again, reflecting on my MA research. They were the questions I now felt I had the confidence to ask.

Whilst the interviews focused on personal narratives, the focus groups aimed to explore more public discourses, and thus I decided that I would provide audio-visual stimuli for focus group participants to discuss. Similar to the interviews, I decided to begin with menstruation for its notoriety as an 'easy' topic to stimulate conversation amongst veeple. I chose two advertisements to show the group; firstly *Manpons* (Water Aid, 2015) a parody advertisement depicting the concept of 'what if the target audience of tampon advertisements were men', focusing on 'technical aspects' such as a "reinforced Kevlar skeleton" and "heated therma-core" and passing the NASA wind test. Secondly, I chose *Blood Normal* (Bodyform, 2017) which was the first ever advertisement to feature red liquid to represent menstrual blood. *Blood Normal* is also different from traditional sanitary advertisements in that the creators, Bodyform, produced both a standard-length advertisment (20 seconds) and a longer, feature length version (2 minutes, 23 seconds). I opted for the longer version to allow the focus group participants a chance to be immersed in the concepts being shown in what is a wider Bodyform campaign, "to call time on period taboos [...] we show true-to-life situations; we show blood [...] shouldn't

period-talk be as normal as periods themselves?" (Bodyform, 2017). Next I used two product advertisements; Hail to the V (Summer's Eve, YolieOnline, 2011) an advertisement for 'feminine hygiene wash' which depicts women as leaders/royalty, that men battle for; and The Intimate Shaving Collection (Femfresh, Tony Aitken, 2017) a shaving cream advertisement portraying three women in a 'music video' style with exercise-like movements (squatting, lunging) which was banned by the UK Advertising Standards Authority following complaints that it was over-sexualised as it used a number of close up shots of women's crotches. Next, I wanted to include campaigns encouraging the uptake of cervical screening, following the announcement by Public Health England (gov.uk, 2018) that they planned to launch a national cervical screening campaign in March 2019 following the NHS Digital statistics that showed coverage was at a 20-year low in 2018. I chose firstly a BBC video of a nurse speaking to a group of 'bikini waxers', none of whom had ever attended a cervical screening, in a 'mythbusting' question and answer format (BBC Stories, 2018), and secondly a rap music video by comedian Nadia Kamil (Pap Rap, Kamil, 2014) in which she raps about the importance of 'pap smears' in an attempt to provide advice and information in a witty and 'trendy' way. Lastly, on the topic of pleasure, I chose two final clips. Firstly, Le Clitoris (Malépart-Traversy, 2016), a French animated short film (3 minutes), portraying the 'history' of the clitoris (within medical thought) and anthropomorphising the clitoris as a character with thoughts and emotions of its own. Secondly, an advertisement for OMGYes (OMGYes, 2016), a new pay-to-access website featuring 'touchable' videos to explain and demonstrate techniques to obtain 'female' pleasure through manual touch of the vulva, obtained by the "first-ever largescale, nationally representative study on the specifics of women's sexual pleasure, in partnership with [...] Indiana University and The Kinsey Institute" (OMGYes, 2016).

The organization of focus groups was something that was novel to me at the beginning of my doctoral fieldwork, having never had to conduct or analyse one previously. I was apprehensive about the audio-recording and transcription of the focus groups as I had not considered the possibility of using video-recording before I submitted my research plan to the University's ethics committee. In practice I found that a video-recording was not necessary, but it was vital to have a written record of the participant layout to be able to

keep track and identify individual voices within the group discussions. I felt very self-conscious about myself (what should I wear, what food/drink should I bring) and about my video choices (are they too white, am I not radical enough, are the clips too long, have I chosen interesting enough examples?).

Sample Rationale

With a rationale that prioritised my participants' voices, I needed to undertake sampling in a careful way. I wanted to have a broad spectrum of experiences (not all veeple experience the same VSEs, for example not everyone becomes pregnant, not everyone that gives birth does so vaginally, etc.). Furthermore, even within shared VSEs, I knew from personal and anecdotal evidence gained throughout my life that these experiences could differ greatly. For example, amongst those who menstruate, some experience more pain, some have shorter 'on' times, some are brought up in areas with little to no availability or education on menstrual products. Thus, in planning my research, it was important to have no upper age-limit on my participants (for ethical purposes I did have to have a lower age limit of 18 to ensure I was including 'adults only'), and to include a wide range of genders, sexualities, dis/abilities and non/parents. On reflection after my MA research, not only was my sample (necessarily) small, it missed out on some key demographic areas that relate to specific VSEs. For example, I noted that whilst not all my participants identified as heterosexual, none of my participants had had sexual relationships with other veeple, and crucially, all of the people I had interviewed identified as cis women. In order to interrogate both the concepts of 'vagina' and 'woman', I actively wanted to recruit a 'queerer' (in both sexuality and gender) sample to be able to explore how those concepts interplay, or not. Similarly, I had few participants who had given birth and so within this research I wanted to include child-bearers as an important demographic to examine how 'motherhood' or 'parenthood' would relate to the embodiment of vaginaowners. All the MA interviewees were physically able to access their vulva/vagina (no physical disabilities) and nobody was older than 50 (crucially, nobody was postmenopausal). Thus, my sample rationale focused on wanting as broad a range as possible.

One demographic I may have inadvertently excluded are transphobic cis women. In wanting to utilise trans* 'friendly' language and remove the word "woman" from my recruitment adverts, I situated myself as queer (or, at least, a 'queer-sympathiser') in the eyes of those who would not agree with this standpoint. In the same way that I cannot help 'excluding' anyone that chooses not to take part, transphobic women are a key missed demographic mostly due to their views on 'womanhood' which could have been interesting to unpack. Nonetheless, I decided that I could justify my employment of my own political stance by considering the added value of gender nonconforming voices as part of the *Vagina Dialogue* narrative. Ultimately, I did not feel that experiences that transphobic women might draw upon would differ greatly from others in terms of VSEs (i.e., transphobic women do not experience anything particular to them, unlike pregnancy etc), whereas including those who do not identify as women would provide access to important data that could help me to interrogate how vagina means.

Ethical approval

Before embarking on any of my fieldwork I first had to obtain ethical approval from the university ethics committee. This initially felt like a somewhat 'administrative' task; a document to be filled out that would have no meaningful impact upon how I would conduct my research. Coming from a standpoint that prioritised building rapport with my participants and protecting their confidentiality, I did not anticipate the process to be a challenging one. I did prepare for the 'inevitable' rejection of my first proposal, from speaking with advisors and colleagues within the CWS it was clear that researching an area related to sexuality would be enough to be put it under more scrutiny, or so I was led to believe. Interestingly, whilst my research did fail the first round of approval, it was not for the reasons I was expecting. The panel were convinced my rationale was sufficient to warrant my methodology, they agreed my topic was important and were not concerned about the 'taboo' status of the issue in terms of 'protecting the public'. Instead, they felt I had not considered enough how to protect myself from public backlash as a researcher of a sensitive issue, particularly in online spaces when recruiting participants. I had considered how others might be affected by my calls for participants but I had not considered how I could be affected by any comments generated by the nature of the

topic. My thoughts immediately leapt to my trans*/nonbinary peers; in publicly referring to "people with vaginas" would that generate transphobic backlash? In practice I found this to be a non-issue due to placing the information in a picture format (a 'closed' posting) that could be 'pasted' in lots of different online spaces, rather than using a text-based format that would enable discussions in the comment sections of those postings. I was prepared to disable commenting where necessary but found that most people chose not to engage publicly with my posts at all (other than 'liking' or 'upvoting') but simply opted to contact me privately if they were interested or had further questions.

Nonetheless, the concern of the ethics committee for my wellbeing was one that I found to be useful, perhaps not one that materialised in the recruitment phase but certainly one I would come to face in the depths of my fieldwork.

A crucial part of the feedback from the first round of the ethical approval application process was about my intention to conduct focus groups. The committee felt I had not given enough thought to exactly what the purpose was and how I would facilitate the groups successfully. I was not surprised by these comments as I knew my anxiety about the focus groups had forced me to dissociate from them. Thus, I re-thought and revised my application with a more thoughtful approach to the focus groups and was successful on the second attempt.

Recruitment

Having secured ethics approval from the University, I began the recruitment process first by advertising my study online via feminist/LGBTQ+ email and social media groups as I hoped my pre-existing membership in those groups would encourage potential participants to feel comfortable responding to me. This assumption proved to be correct as I received considerable interest from these groups and also generally positive feedback to the 'advertising' of my research through those groups. This helped not only to obtain participants in a key demographic (queer identities) but also helped my self-confidence as a researcher by interviewing people similar to myself early in the research before going on to interview people with different life experiences from me (such as older, heterosexual, mothers or post-menopausal people).

Although numbers of people interested in my research were initially high, I quickly noticed that these were predominantly from those aged 30 or under. To try and reach an older audience I next began paper advertising, placing my poster in the local community library as well as with local women's groups in several cities in the north of England. Unfortunately, these were almost entirely unsuccessful - however an older female relative of mine reached out to her peers and sourced post-menopausal participants easily. Whilst the majority of my participants came from York and other surrounding northern cities (Leeds, Manchester, Hull, Newcastle), the group from my relative's connections were based in Dorset, in the south of England. Most of the group knew each other previously as a social knitting collective which posed an interesting ethical question during the research process – did it matter that they knew each other? I interviewed the Dorset group across two different days and discovered upon arriving to the area that whilst I had communicated privately with each participant individually, most of them had shared with each other when they were meeting with me. On reflection I decided that for this particular segment of the sample, the lack of anonymity served as an advantage; the knowledge that friends were also taking part in the research spurred them on (including a last-minute recruitment of another person, two days prior to meeting them) and also provided a 'safe-space' to conduct the research at one of the participant's houses, a place they were all familiar with and comfortable being in (the house being one of the many locations they meet as a group to 'knit and natter'). Whilst I staggered the interview times throughout the day, several of the participants came early and chatted to each other in a separate room before speaking to me confidentially in the interview room. In this way whilst they were aware of who was taking part in the research, the actual content of the interviews remained confidential on my part (regardless of what they may have decided to share with each other). The link to my relative and her friends was absolutely vital to my research in that they recruited people in an older age bracket than I had previously been able to access, including my oldest participant at age 79 who specifically commented to me that she would not have responded to my advert had she not had a connection to me personally as the relative of her friend. Whilst some of the older participants had a

vague interest in my research, they mostly attributed their volunteerism to "wanting to help a friend of x's" and this link also, in their eyes, made me a 'safer' person to speak to.

Indeed, in general on speaking to each of my participants, I found that the common thread for wanting to take part in my research was not just a shared interest in vagina research "I thought it was a really interesting idea!" (Hamia) but also in a shared group or mutual friend "my friend sent me your email" (Millie) or "I'm always happy to help a sister" (Natalie). In addition to the strategy of 'asking for help' I also found there were those who felt their experiences were rarer than the average (such as an FGM survivor or a transman) and wanted to share them with me, although interestingly one participant felt she was so average that she would be invaluable to "balance" the more extreme cases she presumed I would attract ('she' being a cisgendered, heterosexual, young, white British female).

Whilst I had not wanted to restrict my sample too much, I quickly found that young, white, able-bodied veeple were the most enthusiastic at responding to my call for participants. In addition to using the paper advertising/family connections to attract older participants detailed before, I decided to employ purposive sampling to reach non-white and/or disabled participants through friends and colleagues, a method commonly used within qualitative research to include cases with particular characteristics of interest to the researcher (Silverman, 2010). Despite the efforts to recruit people of colour I found that I had to resort to video-calling (via Skype) to be able to fit in with the participants who were interested. Whilst some were based within the UK (but preferred video contact), some were based abroad and so without the video-calling would not have been able to take part in the research. This was also the case for a few disabled participants who could not meet me in person, thus the Skype interviewing was also beneficial for them.

My final interview sample consisted of 25 participants ranging in age from 21 to 79, including cis women as well as those across the LGBTQ+ spectrum from gay, lesbian and bisexual identities to trans and nonbinary/genderfluid people (see Appendix I). In total, 5 participants who took part in the interviews did not self-identify as women. My sample consists of predominantly white participants (mostly white British with some white

USA/European) with 6 participants with East Asian, Black, Arab or Latinx heritage.

Approximately half my participants came from a Higher Education background, but I did not want to assume people would be familiar with higher education research, therefore I made sure to fully explain the use of an audio recorder, and to reiterate the confidentiality of the recording and subsequent transcript.

Whilst interest in the focus groups was smaller than that of the interviews, the real problem became that of logistics; finding a time and place for all interested parties to meet at the same time proved to be near impossible. Having had some experience in interviewing previously, I approached the interviews with a confidence that I think was lacking in my focus group design. I was unsure how different stimulus media might work (using pictures and video in projection screen formatting), and how to present them (which software? which order?). My original plan for sampling was to group participants based on their preferences and experiences. When signing up to my research, participants could indicate if they were interested in a focus group, and if so then who might they prefer to be grouped with. Some indicated they preferred "women only", some asked for queer-friendly/exclusive spaces. One indicated age was an issue for them, stating that they would "feel out of place amongst youngsters". In practice, only 3 participants were able to meet at the same time and, whilst these preferences were not violated, the method of sampling I had intended to use was futile.

Data Generation

I began my fieldwork in March 2018 and carried it out over a period of 5 months. The interviews took place in a variety of locations at the convenience and comfort of each participant, from my office within CWS and other University of York rooms, to my house and the houses of my participants. Interviews lasted, on average, just over an hour (the shortest was 40 minutes, the longest was 2 hours). As I mentioned within my sample recruitment, despite not planning to conduct Skype interviews, I found that it was the only way to widen the pool of participants (particularly in reference to ethnicity and disability).

My main concern initially about using video-chat (in all examples, Skype was used) was that I would be less able to control the environment (for rapport-building purposes) and

that I would be less able to interpret nonverbal social cues via webcam/audio feeds. Some (Sullivan, 2012; Stewart and Williams, 2005) argue that the introduction of the webcam to the more well-known 'telephone interview' helps to create an interaction that could be comparable to face-to-face interviewing in terms of nonverbal and social cues. However, I found it could have its limitations, particularly that a participant would be partially hidden, if not a headshot, it would not be more than a waist-up view of the person. Cater (2011) discusses this in depth, considering that whilst it is a cost-effective method to conduct research, it can present obstacles in terms of the physicality of the interview. Socially, I found myself 'twiddling my thumbs' trying to work up rapport with the participants prior to 'beginning' the interviews. In the face-to-face interviews I could show them around (if they were unfamiliar with our location), offer them a beverage or snack, or in the cases where I visited their homes/spaces, I would comment on our shared environment. One interviewee owned a house cat, which proved to be good social 'lubricant' in moments of awkwardness or uncertainty during the beginning part of our interactions. In contrast, the Skype interviews began by checking we could hear each other but once that was agreed, there was little small talk that did not feel contrived, or even intrusive. It was much harder to comment on someone's home when seeing it through a literal 'lens'. It was also unusual to be presented, relentlessly, with visual feedback of my own face. Skype, as with most video-chat software, forces you to have a small mini-video in one corner of your screen to reassure you that the video you are sending to the other person is visible. As an autistic person, I found it extremely unsettling to be constantly distracted by my own face, particularly in concerning myself with "have I reacted enough?". The time-lag of the audio had a similar effect; in-person interviews meant I could react with responsive sounds "mmm" or "yes" throughout, but the Skype software was prone to lag, which meant my responses came across delayed or interruptive rather than communicating my continued comprehension.

Nonetheless, the disadvantages of Skype were outweighed, in my experience, by the quality of interviews I was able to access. I could speak to participants around the world in different time zones, to participants whose physical disabilities or personal circumstances limited the possibilities of us meeting in person. All the Skype participants were relaxed by

the prospect of being in their own environments with arguably more control than a faceto-face interview. Not wanting to continue with the interview could have resulted in a quick termination of the video-link (thankfully this was avoided), rather than having to negotiate away from the face-to-face interview. Additionally, whilst there were weaknesses in not being able to see each other's full bodies, this did mean that the recording devices used could be hidden out of eyesight, which may have helped the interview to feel more informal, more relaxed, and thus helped participants to open up more quickly. It was certainly true of my Skype participants, in that they did not need long to 'warm up' before beginning the 'proper' interview, whereas my in-person participants often needed a little social 'chitchat' to relax before beginning the 'official blurb' (recounting ethics, consent, right to withdraw etc). Given that my sample were selfselecting, it was not surprising that most of my participants were willing to share many of their personal stories without much guidance or probing from me as an interviewer. This was something I was keen to foster as it was vital for me to see what people felt was most important to them and use those topics as areas to explore in more depth throughout the interview.

I think I was initially cautious to use the term "data generation" as my science (BSc) background led me to think that anything not removed, anything 'tainting' the site of data would invalidate it. I think I was separating the idea of Plummer's (2001) "evoker" from "creator". I.e., I did not mind prodding something to see what was inside but did not like the idea that what was inside only existed because I prodded it. I now see my initial understanding of "data generation" was very limited, and in fact this evocation of data, of stories, can be considered part of data production without denying its veracity or validity. Of course, we can debate "what is truth", "what is real" but what I wanted to avoid was fabrication of information. I wanted to be a good enough interviewer to build rapport with my participants, to make sure they felt at ease to disclose, but not to pressure them into consciously changing their stories to fit my own narrative. Something I will need to think about is acceptance of the fact that my presence in itself changes the story. Just the process of verbalising something can change it...let alone verbalising it to a new listener, a stranger, one who is wanting to harvest your information for their own use.

In a few cases, participants were slightly less forthcoming about providing detailed answers, which I found challenging as did not want to pressure them into opening up. Returning to my 'house' analogy, I had a basic structure for those less immediately talkative. Perhaps we could chat about an 'easy' space first (the living room becomes menstruation), which might prompt them to show me the bathroom (which has now become a childhood memory of talking periods with a mother/sister figure). From here they remember the bathroom from a previous house (they compare their experiences now to how they felt at a younger age) and even predict how a future event might impact them (how will menopause change their relationship with their genitalia). Learning from my MA experience, I focused on trying to use open questions to let participants navigate to topics they felt were both relevant and comfortable for them to talk about. In every interview I asked "what made you want to take part in my research?" but in the 'drier' interviews I used this question earlier on to try and locate their areas of interest more quickly if I found they were 'drying up' in their responses. This was not always successful as those who were more reserved or less talkative tended to be just as reserved in their response to that question, often simply indicating that they wanted to help or that they thought it would be interesting. In some 'dry' interviews I found that once the interview had 'ended' (with the recorder still going, with their consent) they opened up more - I tended to end interviews by asking if participants had any questions for me which allowed them to take the role of 'interviewer' or 'listener' with the 'question spotlight' swivelling to focus on me for a short time. In the more reserved participants, this acted as a good buffer between the main interview and the follow up chat as they appeared relaxed by my willingness to open up and were able to elaborate further on previous ideas or experiences they expressed earlier in the interview. Reinharz and Davidman (1992) suggest that self-disclosure on the researcher's part is good feminist practice, something Oakley and Cracknell (1981) also posited. Oakley criticized the traditional ways of interviewing, which focused on objectivity and a clear differentiation between the researcher and the researched, and argued for a new model of feminist interviewing requiring flexibility and responsiveness to the answering style of the respondent, as well as openness, intimacy and sharing of the researcher's own experiences. Elliot (2005)

writes that interviews are "not just [means] for collecting data, but itself a site for the production of data and can become a focus for enquiry in its own right", an idea that has "become central to epistemological and methodological discussions about interviewing over the past twenty years". My interview style mirrored this ethos with a warm, welcoming manner and a readiness to respond openly to participant questions in a way that was fitting for the sensitive nature of the interviews and to encourage the interview setting as a site of dynamic data production.

Letherby (2003) argues that viewing the relationship between researchers and respondents as equal can be problematic by ignoring power imbalances during both the interviewing and during the interpretation of data. A process of reflexivity, that is a critical reflection on the power relations as they develop in the research process, is therefore a necessary practice in feminist research (Ramazanoglu and Holland, 2002). One of my largest concerns both prior to and during my fieldwork was how my participants (or even potential participants, i.e those that would see my calls for participation) would view me. I tried to take into consideration an appreciation for both my insider and outsider status, knowing that I could have both operating simultaneously even within a single interview. A decision has to be made within doctoral research in particular as to whether to identify yourself as a PhD researcher when speaking to participants. Some researchers decide to deliberately withhold this information so as to lessen the perception of the researcher as 'expert' and to downplay their status (in this case, educational status) in order to develop trust between the researcher and participants of a lower social status (Reinharz and Davidman, 1992). However, I decided that the ethically responsible choice for me was to ensure my participants understood the purposes of my research (Ramazanoglu and Holland, 2002), a decision that on reflection I think was useful. Whilst some researchers have found their educational status to be a hindrance, I used it as a tool to demonstrate the authenticity of my research, to reassure my participants that they were taking part in something that was protected by university ethics regulations and part of a project with significant personal investment to me (i.e. "help Lauren get her PhD").

To begin both the interviews and focus groups, I first explained the ethical framework of my research and asked each participant to read and sign the consent form (see

Appendices III and IV) reiterating the confidentiality of the research the entirely voluntary basis of participation. I also reminded the participants of the need to audio-record and the guarantee of anonymity, with audio recordings being deleted once transcription had taken place, and transcriptions being deleted once the research was complete. For the focus group I also took the opportunity to remind participants of the need for group-confidentiality; in addition to my dedication to maintaining their anonymity, they also needed to take responsibility for confidentiality within the group, which was included on their consent forms.

Returning to the house analogy, some people had houses that were very familiar to me, they decorated in ways I could identify with and described their stories in ways I could interpret straight away. But for others, there were stories I needed time to understand, to hear again on my recording, to reflect on. This is where my research diary became crucial.

With the interview (or house-tour) still swimming in my eyes and ringing in my ears, I step outside the house and thank the owner once more for their generosity. They smile and wave and close the door as I walk back to my car and sit inside to open my notebook. I hold it in my hands, take two deep breaths and close my eyes. I feel myself travel within as I gently allow myself to decompress. Answers to questions are flashing across my mind's eye and echoing as if still vibrating my inner ear. I hold my pen in my hand and free-write, feeling the energy of the interview flow through my veins, seeping out of my skin, leaking onto the page. I am relieved for the solace, the quiet space for my mind to be loud. As the surge subsides, I feel my heart rate return to a steady pace and I am able to feel the ache in my arms as I realise I have furiously scribbled pages of notes...

Reflecting on the experience of the two-hour focus group is a difficult task, as I have outlined above with the logistical 'stickiness' of arranging a group that did not feel decontextualised or contrived in nature, and with my own self-consciousness about conducting the small group. While Wilkinson (1998; 2006) has argued that a value of the focus group is one that adds an element of the naturalistic, my experience chimed more with Morrison's (1998) argument that the very act of forcing a group (even if they are

previously known to each other or may interact together in a similar group setting) together to discuss a certain topic is, in itself, significantly contrived. In addition, whilst I aligned myself ethically with the feminist stance that a focus group shifts 'ownership' and control of the discussion from the researcher to the participants (Kamberelis and Dimitriadis, 2005), I found that I was not able to foster enough of a discussion between the participants to fully address the aim of the focus group. Whilst I did have the opportunity to record their responses, the group never 'evolved' much into discussing amongst themselves; while this may have been partly due to the small number of participants, it must also have been due to my inability to influence the conduct of the group (Bryman, 2008).

Data analysis

Analysis is a complex process and involves more than simply reporting on participants' stories: "getting the story can be fun, but making sense of it takes much longer and requires a lot of work" (Plummer, 2001, p.152). The process of analysing data is often not a separate phase but rather one that begins alongside data generation and continues alongside it (Bryman and Burgess, 1994; Silverman, 2010). As I have alluded to earlier in this chapter, my research diary acted as a tool not only for self-debriefing but also for capturing early moments of reflection. I began by writing immediately after the conclusion of an interview, but also revisited the diary continuously as more interviews were booked and carried out. Connections formed and ideas flowed, right from the beginning of the fieldwork and continued beyond its conclusion.

Following each interview, I originally planned to transcribe each audio recording soon after the interviews were each conducted. I was able to do this for most of the interviews, which helped me to note down important non-verbal data as well as the situational context of each meeting. Unfortunately, I did have to undertake a leave of absence from my research which meant some transcription took place much later than I would have liked. Whilst the situation was not ideal, it was not possible to do it differently, and I did find there were some interesting insights when returning to the data set after a short break. I transcribed every interview in full, making notes on any particularly poignant

points or important anecdotes, contradictions as well as my reflections on myself as a researcher voice. I took care to transcribe not only the words uttered by participants but also pauses, silences, laughter and so on, in order to provide a fuller, more detailed representation of their voices. As Anderson and Jack (2006) write, I wanted to "listen in stereo to both the facts and the feelings" (p.129). As I undertook the long process of transcribing over 2000 minutes of audio recording, I also made sure to transcribe my own voice in full. This impacted on the way in which I could reflect upon my practice and thus "continually appraise [my] methods and sharpen [my] skills" (p.129). Additionally, had I not noted my own voice in full, contextualising a response would have been considerably more difficult and potentially problematic in places. My research diary came in handy again here; I constantly scribbled or typed notes alongside transcribing that came to me as I listened and re-listened to the audio files. Once I had finished transcribing, I next undertook what Chambers et al. (2004) refer to as a cultural first reading of the written text. My aim was to be as immersed within my data as I could, which resulted in the emergence of what felt like a very 'organic' coding process.

To begin with, I was not entirely sure how to rationalise my coding framework. Having never handled a data set this large, I felt slightly overwhelmed by the amount of information I needed to juggle. To help me map, visualise and organise my interview data, I imported the written transcripts into NVivo, a qualitative data analysis computer software package. I found the entire process completely frustrating as I did not find the software to be intuitive. Nonetheless, as my supervisors pointed out to me, the real work cannot be delegated to a machine. Regardless of how I had organised my data, software or not, I needed to uncover the insights myself and draw the connections manually. This is where I identified some preliminary themes for analysis, followed by a second coding of the data - this time more systematically. I looked not only for themes with high amounts of 'references' (extracts from interviews) but also from a wide variety of sources. This was to ensure I didn't just have themes that were specific to one or two interviewees, but also themes that could be mapped across participants.

Immediately I could draw comparisons to my pilot data from the MA. I recognised several similarities, particularly in how the veeple I interviewed identified 'vagina-words', recalled

their upbringing and reported on their formal sex education (if present). Reflecting on the addition of the 'abstract' questions, "what does it mean to you to have a vagina?" and "when do you feel most aware of having a vagina?", the reaction from participants was always a pause for thought; I found that often the most insightful responses came from these questions. Specifically in the 'awareness' question I found almost all participants made reference to a feeling of vulnerability (to abuse/harm) both in public and in private spaces, something which I felt was implied in the MA interviews but not explicitly discussed. Similarly, the "meaning" question brought gender to the fore, with many cis women immediately relating their experiences to 'womanhood', whilst trans*/non-binary people referenced their identity as not fitting (unproblematically) into 'womanhood'. The question of 'womanhood' in relation to the vagina is one that is often considered 'obvious' or implicit in discussions around the embodiment of gender and relies heavily on a heteronormative, reproductive-focused understanding of what it means to have a vulva/vagina. By bringing this question out into the open the interview became a site of exploration with the participant and not just a 'data-gathering' exercise without a critical lens.

The next step in my data analysis process was to springboard from my key themes and sub-themes and begin to identify patterns and connections between them. In this way, I progressed from themes to ideas and then to arguments which formed the basis of the following three analysis chapters: The Talking Vagina, The Embodied Vagina, and The Cultural Vagina.

Chapter 4: The Talking Vagina

The ways in which we communicate and exchange ideas with one another can greatly impact our social relations as well as our perceptions of ourselves. In thinking about 'vagina' we can consider a series of taboos, or ringfences, boundaries that interact with vagina to enable and restrict different forms of communication in different places amongst different people. In this chapter I examine ways in which information about the vagina is passed on and exchanged.

Looking first at vocabulary, I examine the ways in which certain words are deployed, at which times and with whom they are deemed most in/appropriate. Each interview began with the question "what words do you use to refer to vagina?" as a way to establish how participants would feel comfortable during the interview process. This section of the chapter considers the words we use both formally and colloquially, including in swearing, as well as the words we are 'given' as children. This approach highlights the role of the parent, especially the mother in relation to the young vagina-owner. Almost every participant mentioned their mother at some point during the interview, with most of those being references to a first point of learning. The first role of the mother (in this sphere) seems to be to provide the child with a name for their genitalia, and quickly the mother becomes responsible for much of the child's social learning and for the 'daughter's' bodily awareness. Several of my participants are themselves mothers, and thus are able to reflect both on their experience as a child and as a mother, something which serves as an interesting reflective exercise for them.

Continuing to formal institutions, I discuss school life in both formal classes and informal 'corridor/playground talk', and vaginas as they are discussed with medical professionals. Menarche is a pivotal moment for young veeple to learn about their vaginas, or at least part of the functions associated with them and school takes on a primary role to serve this purpose. Perhaps surprisingly, not all participants refer to sex education. Older participants lament their lack of formal sex education and younger participants complain about the content of the sex education they do receive. All participants mentioned information sharing amongst peers, with sex and relationships becoming part of the

common narrative shared during their teens and early-twenties, if not throughout life. Next, the 'doctor's office' or indeed general medical intervention in a person's life becomes another place of learning or sharing information about the vagina. Whilst this can be a problematized issue (is there something wrong with me?), this also occurs in 'normative' scenarios, particularly during pregnancy and childbirth (including fertility intervention and antenatal classes).

Lastly, while popular culture is not necessarily always intended to be a site of information distribution, television and the internet can become learning tools, raising awareness of issues that are otherwise ringfenced and/or ignored entirely. Participants were split, mostly by age, in the types of media they engaged with and found 'useful'.

Vocabulary

When asked about words they use to mean 'vagina', every participant (and just about every person I meet) has 'the word my mum gave me'. In almost all cases, this word is a euphemism with "bits" or "privates" being popular English examples. Gartrell and Mosbacher's (1984) analysis of words given to young children for genitalia found that the anatomically correct words for "female" genitalia were much less used than those of "males" and where they were used, appeared later in the "girls'" lives than their 'boy' counterparts.

When I was very very small, I think my parents kind of taught me to use the word like "minnie" for vagina which they used until I was like 6 or 7, I don't really know when I stopped using it but that was just like when I was very small.

Megan (24, white British (WB))

Megan's words echo the findings from Gartrell and Mosbacher (1984) in that vulva and vagina are not seen as 'child friendly' terms for young children. Megan could not

71

⁵⁷ Note that all of the children (referred to as "girls" and "boys") were assumed to be, and treated as, cisgendered.

remember the word she was given after that time but noted it was not vulva or vagina.

Jane also comments on words not deemed suitable for children:

Oh...my mum definitely didn't use any words like fairy or anythin' like that, I never [laughing] she definitely didn't...child it up if you know what I mean, like she didn't make it suitable for child's ears...it was fanny or [laughs] front bum!

Jane (26, WB)

She draws a comparison between 'acceptable' words given to a child (euphemistic but viewed as 'sensible' such as "fanny" and "front bum") and 'childish' versions (such as "fairy"). There was a general agreement amongst my participants that 'make-believe' words (such as 'foo-foo' or other non-words) were a result of an old-fashioned upbringing. As Jane goes onto explain, at least "front bum is descriptive". 'Fanny' seemed to be the only 'non-word' that was so widely used it had become a word in its own right, possibly derived from its use as a girl's name in Britain (Rodriguez and Schonfeld, 2012). The non-English 'childhood' versions of vagina (and penis) often contained the word 'little' such as 'little bird' (Spanish, Portuguese and Hokkien) and there was a general consensus that the adult vernacular was not perceived as appropriate for small children and thus they were given 'child friendly' alternatives.

Karen Milles (2011) describes how feminist 'language planning' (a conscious effort to reform language) in Sweden successfully established a neutral word for female genitals that could be used with young children – 'snippa'. Milles comments that Sweden shows an almost uniquely broad acceptance of gender issues which contributed to the success of implementing new language in a linguistic public debate forum. Milles also notes that part of the success could be due to the use of pre-school as the beginning of the implementation; "if children adopt the word, chances are that they will spread the word to their family and friends [...] making children new ambassadors for the subsequent and ongoing spread of the word" (p.101/102). Genital labelling for children is a contentious

topic as it exists partially within the wider issue of children and sexuality which remains controversial⁵⁸.

Children of all genders are more likely to have labels for 'male' than 'female' genitalia (Bem, 1989; Fraley et al, 1991, both as cited in Martin et al., 2011) which reflects adult genital labelling (Braun and Kitzinger, 2001a). However, Martin et al. (2011) argue that most research in this area uses a "uni-directional model of socialisation in which parents 'give' children words and children absorb them" (p. 421) which does not take into account how the children then make use of the words and to what extent those words are adopted, rejected, altered or built upon. Indeed, within their study, several mothers reported that their children picked up vocabulary from other children or made up their own references to their genitals. In their survey of US mothers, Martin et al. (2011) found that some mothers reported not only teaching their children genital words but also providing instruction on *how* those words could be used with social context. A concern that I noted was discretion, with some mothers telling me they wait for a child to be older (eg.7) to give them 'proper' language for genitals as they felt embarrassed by their children blurting out words in public with no regard for the social context in which they did so.

The experience of being given a euphemistic word as a child was common amongst my participants but in the older (than 50) demographic the most common word, "bits", was not viewed as slang or euphemistic.

[I just] refer to 'em as your bits and you refer to them, cos that's what they are, they're your bits, I don't have nicknames for 'em. Definitely don't have nicknames for them.

Maureen (70, WB)

Maureen was not alone in considering "bits" to be an accurate and appropriate word to use as an adult, particularly amongst 'female' peer groups. We can see Maureen's

⁵⁸ Indeed, there are many transnational parent movements against the progression of school sex education beyond reproduction.

acceptance when she asserts "that's what they are", and her disdain for the use of "nicknames" for genitalia. Thus, the word "bits" takes a status similar to "fanny" in the sense that it is viewed as an appropriate word in its own right rather than considered to be slang or euphemistic. Similar to "fanny", this is possibly due to the fact that "bits" is, in itself, a 'real' English word in usual vocabulary. Interestingly, "bits" could well be thought of as a gender-neutral word, although this wasn't raised in the interviews.

Alex and Avery, both identifying outside of a cisgendered perspective, discussed how their gender identities affected the words they used to refer to themselves.

So because of [how I identify] and also being in a relationship with another trans man, I would never really use the word vagina or vulva.

Um, I think...I would tend to use very general terms due to kind of how I see my own body.

Alex (21, genderfluid)

Generally I just use genitals because...like I try and...make it neutral for, cos, non-binary stuff like, I don't really like, when referring to myself I wouldn't necessarily say vagina just cos [genitals] is the most comfortable word for me.

Avery (23, nonbinary agenderflux)

This is parallel to the 'feminising' aspects of vulva/vaginas as shared concepts, and attests to the loaded meanings within the words we ascribe to our bodies, an idea supported by Lal Zimman's work that suggests gender-neutral language is commonplace amongst trans men and nonbinary people (Zimman, 2014). Alex adds that being in a relationship with a trans man also affects how they communicate about their bodies together and which words make them feel most comfortable with their bodies and with each other. None of the non-cisgendered participants referred to using 'masculinised' words for their genitals which could be because none identified fully as masculine, in the same way they did not fully identify as feminine. The key aspect of their language was its neutrality, particularly

with regards to sex and intimacy. This attests to how even words for genitals are seen to be gendered in themselves and that even those challenging (or attempting to challenge) the gender binary are seemingly 'trapped' by genitals' intrinsic signifying of gender.

Finding a lack of appropriate 'vagina words' to use in a sexual setting was mentioned by many participants including the cis women. Those in heterosexual pairings noted that words for vaginas differed from words for penises, with one participant stating that she felt there were more available words for penis than there were for vagina. Previous researchers have found that although there are more slang terms for penis than vagina, 'female' genitalia are more likely to be described euphemistically, particularly with words using a connotation of space or absence (Braun and Kitzinger, 2001). Similarly, Greer (1971) notes that "the names for the penis are all tool names" (p.40), with "all the vulgar linguistic emphasis [...] placed upon the poking element; fucking, screwing, rooting, shagging are all acts performed upon the passive female". Indeed, the most common equivalent colloquial words for vulva/vaginas are derogatory, and as Richardson writes, "in many ways language is either silent about women's bodies and sexuality or, where it does exist, ridicules and insults them" (1992, p.190).

Writing about vocabulary in a thesis about vaginas would surely not be complete without discussing cunt. Cunt has regularly been awarded the status of most offensive swear word in the (British or American) English language (Dewaele, 2015), with a wealth of academic research on the word itself. As Muscio writes, despite being a word to describe the 'female' genitalia, it is frequently used to insult women as "the ultimate one-syllable covert verbal weapon any streetwise six-year-old or passing motorist can use against a woman" (Muscio, 2009, p. xxiii). Indeed, 'female' speakers are more likely to avoid the word cunt than 'males' (Jay, 2000) although there have been concerted feminist efforts to reclaim the word for 'women' to use, from the feminist movement (Braun, 1999b) to theatre (Ensler, 2001) and even embroidery (Golick, 2019). Pussy is also a word with which veeple have a complicated relationship, and also one which has (more recently than cunt) been subject to attempts to reclaim it. Whilst cunt was to be reclaimed in a more general sense, the movement to reclaim pussy came from a very specific target, as a protest against the derogatory words of one man (Pussyhat Project, 2017). The 'pussy grabs back'

movement, the largest protest in American History, was criticised for the presence of trans-exclusionary feminism as well as other "intersectional failures" (Wrenn, 2019, p. 813). Thus, it appears there is no 'easy access' genital word for veeple to use to adopt or reclaim.

With regards to the words that my participants use regularly, most cis women reported feeling comfortable with the word "vagina" but almost all of my participants had euphemisms that they preferred to use. The tendency for people to refer to vaginas in this euphemistic way is one which has been heavily criticised in existing literature on the basis that "naming the vagina gives the organ legitimacy" (Rodriguez and Schonfeld, 2012, p. 21) and not naming the vagina "implies a corresponding lack of interest in, or attention to, the details of those genitalia, their functions and sensations" (Braun and Kitzinger, 2001, p. 157). A distinction needs to be made here between words used with the intention of being euphemistic and a preference for slang vocabulary. The use of slang does not necessarily denote a discomfort with 'proper' words; indeed, it could be argued that the use of slang vagina-words implies a certain degree of ease in discussing that part of the body. Indeed, my participants described feeling more comfortable using slang in certain situations, finding the 'proper' word vagina to be too inflexible in its meaning to be used in many different settings. For example, all my participants felt the word vagina was appropriate to use in a doctor's office as they identify the word as medical and thus matching that setting. My participants said that a different word ought to be used when taking part in sexual intimacy and yet another word was needed for a casual chat with friends.

The non-native English speakers stated that whilst they use "vagina" in English, in their native tongues there are other euphemisms or slang words they prefer to use. However, a few commented that the use of these euphemisms helped to ease their communications with others, and especially when employing the use of humour. With regards to the non-native/multilingual participants I interviewed, I am cautious not to extrapolate too far beyond the individual in these cases for two reasons: firstly as a monolingual English speaker myself I want to avoid taking a position which may "exoticise the cultural other" (Arnold, 2003, p.1), and secondly I did not want to put my participants in a position which

implies they alone represent their linguistic and cultural background. Not only did I interview more native English participants than non-native, but our shared cultural experiences meant I felt more confident in making sense of their reported experiences.

During the interviews I explained early on that my use of the word vagina covers the entire vulvovaginal region and asked all participants what word/s, if any, they felt comfortable using to refer to that part of their body. For the purposes of the interview, all participants said they were content for us to use the word 'vagina' but nonetheless as the interviews progressed it became clear to me that some were, in practice, more comfortable than others. The implication was that they were fine with me using the word vagina (although I opted not to do so in some cases) and were happy to use the word 'if needed' but it was not the natural word to use in most cases. From my own reflections of the interview process I think there may have been some element of embarrassment for some participants in hearing and saying the word vagina, which I did freely (as well as other more specific terms such as vulva, labia, clitoris). Nobody openly discussed their possible embarrassment with me, but the use of avoidant phrases or alternative words was noted. Examining nonverbal cues from my participants can also be informative, and I did find that some interviewees gave me the sense they were more comfortable during some parts of our discussions than others. For some this could be via a lack of eye contact or shifting or fidgeting in their seat (in comparison with other points in the interview).

My Mum was like...

Beyond providing a first set of vagina vocabulary, when coding my interview data I realised an overlapping topic that appeared across all participants was a reference to 'what my mum was like'. Rastogi and Wampler (1999) state that the mother-daughter relationship is "highly significant in many cultures" (p.327), and stories relating to their mothers were one of the most frequent that I found in my interviews. In most cases, mother-daughter relationships were open enough to permit some form of menstruation education, with the younger (than 40) women in my study knowing about periods before they experienced menarche, but with more detailed or different types of information often seen as being 'activated' by reaching certain ages or milestones. The education all

participants had acquired from their mothers contained either a strong reproductive bias or a 'need-to-know' basis in referring to period management (i.e. the use of sanitary pads and in some cases, tampons). For some, information was minimal to non-existent.

When I was growing up she was very very...strict...and quite uptight...so [laughs] maybe there were no words, I don't know. I don't know, I don't remember anything being talked about.

Kim (57, WB)

It's not something that my mother...definitely father...would have ever spoken about. I'm not gonna say...it's dirty...but it's a bit like...it's for behind closed doors and it's not a thing that you discuss, you know.

Maureen (70, WB)

Here Kim explicitly refers to her mother being a certain way with her during her childhood. Kim uses this to explain a possible reason why she wasn't given a word for her genitalia and why issues surrounding her genitalia (including menarche) were avoided altogether. Kim's phrase "there were no words" attests to the importance of a usable vernacular to enable open communication; without it there remained only silence. Maureen's experience is similar in that vagina was a topic considered taboo or at least layered in enough secrecy that Maureen did not witness a discussion in front of her as a child and was not spoken to about menarche until its arrival, when she was given sanitary items but no information. For many of the older (than 50) participants there was a general sense of acceptance that their parents' generation were more 'tight-lipped' about topics around genitalia. For some this was linked to a religious upbringing but, in all cases, there was a cultural understanding that sex in particular was not something to be discussed with one's parents.

Maureen's comment that these discussions were "for behind closed doors" makes the point that information labelled as 'necessary' in cultures can also be accompanied by a sense of taboo; while young girls may learn about their vaginas, they also learn the 'air of secrecy' around them. They learn when, where and with whom these types of discussions

can be had and with which restrictions and sensitivities. Ho and Tsang, (2005) refer to an "unspoken code of silence" around vaginas (p.523), particularly that topics including the vagina are "spoken rarely and in a hushed voice" (Steinem, in Ensler 2001, p.5). This idea of 'learned taboos' or 'learned silences' is important to consider alongside available vocabulary because it constructs and maintains social norms. In this context, a social norm established is that normal bodily functions are to be portrayed in a negative light, with consequences for transgressors and as a value system which is transferred from one generation to another. This cultural reproduction is perpetuated not only by an active intention to reproduce social or cultural norms but also by a lack of awareness of the process itself (Bourdieu & Passeron, 1990). In this way, parenting becomes an almost automatic reinforcer of constructed norms from one generation to the next.

Maureen's comment "definitely [not] father" indicates that the gender of the parent is important. Despite the issue being a cultural taboo for all, a mother can more easily navigate the discussion with a 'daughter' as her genitalia and gender identity mark her as a more appropriate and knowledgeable person. The assumption is that the father, without a vagina, lacks the information needed to pass on in addition to the perceived social unacceptability of an adult cis man talking to a young 'girl' about her genitalia. Whilst the (perceived) gender of the child is important, research suggests fathers are less likely to engage in communication on sexual topics with a child of any gender (Wilson and Koo, 2010). Some of this 'lack in communication' is attributed to a traditional (and generalised) lack of communication of any meaningful form from fathers, which Wilson and Koo argue is in part due to mothers being more involved in their children's lives and having a higher level of self-efficacy⁵⁹ in their relationship with their children. Kirkman, Rosenthal and Feldman (2002) suggest that fathers find the topic of sexuality difficult generally and that "there is an implicit inference that mothers can deal more safely than fathers with communication about sexuality" (p.59, emphasis added). Bridget, a mother of boys only, recalled that her husband took on the responsibility of talking to their sons about their

⁵⁹ 'Self-efficacy' in this context refers to the positive psychology model: a high level of self-efficacy is to have a high level of self-belief that you will enable a successful outcome from your actions.

genitalia and sex because "it just seemed more appropriate" but this could also be partly due to Bridget's self-confessed "prudishness" about sexuality.

Periods were also discussed as something not to be brought up in front of one's father, particularly with older participants but commonly among younger participants too. Tyler (age 27) recalled that her mother was away when her first period came and lamented that her father "could not cope" and simply "pointed at the cupboard" where the mother's sanitary products were kept. It is likely that a lack of shared experience is part of the issues with the (cisgendered) fathers in these contexts, and a lack of knowledge is also likely to be a communicative barrier to open period talk; thus, the role again falls to the mother.

Many of the older women reported that their mothers had not informed them about menstruation prior to menarche which for some resulted in becoming distressed at the surprising onset of bleeding. All the post-menopausal women were also mothers themselves and some reflected on the experience of explaining to their (presumed cis) daughters about menstruation and in some cases, basic reproductive education. Parenthood in this sense can be viewed as a reflexive project, with the mothers reflecting on their own upbringing to shape their child-rearing and account for their parental practices (Jackson and Ho, 2020). Where criticisms had been made of their own mother's approach to vagina education, the participants looked to amend that in their own teachings to their daughters. For example, many had not been 'warned' that menstruation could occur and found their first period (and sight of their own blood) to be a worrying and sometimes distressing experience; this was then something they wanted to avoid with their own daughters, so while some topics remained taboo (such as sex, particularly sex for pleasure and masturbation), informing a daughter of pre-menarche age to not be concerned about the onset of periods was seen as very important. Younger (than 35) participants reported experiences mirrored those of the older mothers, and they reported that their mothers had, at the very least, informed them that periods happen and not to be worried.

The younger participants, like the women in Janet Lee's (2008) research, recounted much more informative and "emotionally connected" experiences than their older counterparts (p.1333). Marván and Molina-Abolnik (2012) found that despite being given more information, the 'pre-menarchists' still scored highly on feelings of secrecy and shame. In this way, as children we not only have an opportunity to learn about the vagina but also are introduced to the shared taboos and limitations of vagina-talk. Even amongst current friendship groups (which were discussed as being generally very open, particularly for the younger participants), most interviewees had a similar, almost instinctual understanding of what areas or topics relating to vaginas were permitted, with known boundaries appearing to define and protect what was 'necessary' (asking for a pad or a tampon), what was 'funny' (sexual mishaps a common example) and what was 'inconvenient' (particularly menstruation, such as not feeling able to go swimming).

After menarche, the amount of information passed on varied greatly. Most of the mothers provided some advice on contraception to keep them safe from unwanted pregnancy and sexually transmitted infections. Some expressed concerns about their daughters avoiding abusive and/or coercive sexual relationships and had discussed these issues with them. Participants' ethnicities and subsequent differences in family structure and upbringing affected the reported experiences of parenting. Natalie reflected on how her Chinese parents, particularly her mother, had strict views on femininity and sexuality. For example, Natalie would be 'told off' for sitting in an "un-ladylike manner with legs open or above head". Bianca reported similar experiences from her Catholic upbringing in Brazil. Hamia discussed the intersection between her religion (Islam) and her national culture (Arab) creating what she felt was a strong sense of taboo around issues to do with the body, especially sex. In many cultures, sexual modesty has a history of being viewed as traditionally feminine and thus often encouraged and reinforced (Barnhill, 2012). Cultural views on, and subsequently parental handling of, teenage sexuality varies from society to society. Clare spoke of her liberal minded Danish parents, something she felt could be attributed to a wider social acceptability of discussing sex and sexuality in Denmark. Clare's comparison of Denmark and the UK is similar to Schalet's (2011) analysis of the difference between Dutch and American parents' views and management of young

people's sexual lives, with teenage sexual activity markedly less normalised (rather found to be unacceptable) among the American parents.

Some mother-participants and daughter-participants reflected on the reliance on formal school education to take the burden of talking to the 'children' about their bodies, sex and reproduction. Maureen (70, WB) said she felt the education "the kids get these days is more than we ever did" and that she felt it less of a burden to talk to her children about sex as it was covered more comprehensively at school than in her own school life. Peggy also commented on the consequences of this change since her own school days:

I think the education that [my daughter] was going through at school...made them question more and I think because she questioned more, I talked to her. But whereas [...]it didn't seem to happen when I was at school, we didn't have that sort of relationship of having questions you know and...talking to parents

Peggy (79, WB)

Peggy highlights her daughter's inquisitiveness, acquired through school sex education, which opened up a channel of communication that Peggy felt she herself had missed from her own mother. Peggy, Maureen, Kim, Shirley and Bridget all reported feeling that they could not talk openly to their mothers, despite wanting to have the benefit of both the knowledge and shared intimacy with their mother that this could have provided. It is interesting that Peggy attributes greater openness to her daughter's school education and does not afford herself any 'credit' for creating an environment for her daughter in which she felt able to ask questions at home after school. Indeed, some of the younger (than 35) participants felt the lack of openness at home was not due to their lack of questions but rather, like the older participants, to the manner of parenting and the demeanour of their mothers in particular.

In and amongst the ringfences that operate around vagina (including taboos and stigma on sex and menstruation) is that of age, and a wider issue of 'protecting' children from sexuality. We can see this illustrated with the mothers when they choose to divulge

different information to their children at different ages. Joanne Faulkner (2010) suggests that whilst wanting to protect one's children is "eminently reasonable" (p.2), there is also room to evaluate what it is that adults wish to protect. Is it the children themselves or is it, as Faulkner posits, more about the concept of childhood as a whole; something that reflects more on the adults' vulnerabilities than that of the children they aim to shield. Whilst parents may not feel able to speak to their children about sex (Levine, 2002), Davis (2003) argues that often parents do not have a (successful) example of this behavior from which to draw experience. This, Davis argues, paired with a lack of clear and concise knowledge to pass onto children only serves to fuel the culture of censorship that seeks to 'protect' children from sexuality (Heins, 2007).

School life and peers

Whether or not they were already equipped with some basic information, formal school education was the next setting in which some participants learned both anatomical terms and reproductive science. The oldest participants (over 65) recalled a lack of any sexual or reproductive education at school, whilst the rest of the participants lamented the quality (and quantity) of their sex education as incomplete, irregular and uninformative.

[Sex education] was non-existent, I think. I don't think I remember...like an hour once every 2 weeks covering very little information maybe

Roxanne (27, WB)

I mean I guess it's useful information, but there wasn't anything about if you had a vagina or anything... Well, apart from the assumption that all sex is between a penis and a vagina, and the main focus is putting a condom on the penis, and thus is safe for use with vagina [both laugh]

Kit (24, non-binary masculine-of-centre)

The older participants, all of whom reported no 'proper' sex education, felt that the state of sex education had, to their knowledge, improved greatly since they were of school age.

This perception of school sex education as improving on a linear trajectory is, of course, flawed. As Jane Pilcher (2005) discusses, the state of UK sex education alone has changed in many ways, with the 1980s and 1990s being "countervailing decades" (p.153) in how sex education was governed and taught. The mother-participants also commented that they felt the culture of talking about one's body and experiences was more open than they remembered from their own school days. This varied from person to person, with individual preference and personality playing a role; some described friendship groups as an older school-goer (16-18) that encouraged vagina-talk (usually in the framework of heterosexual relations), whereas others reported much shyer groups or individual friends who limited free talk. Not one participant, of any age, reported what they felt was sufficiency in sex education. Among my younger participants there was a remembered focus on sexually transmitted infections (STIs), likely lead by national health campaigns. Millie, age 24, recalled a focus of her sex education on "crabs" known medically as 'pubic lice', something I could recall from my own school education, due to the high prevalence of pubic lice reported in the UK in the mid 1990's (Armstrong and Wilson, 2006).

The shortcomings of formal sex and sexuality education in schools have been widely documented (Roberts, 1980; Fine, 1988; Jackson, 1978a; Lamb, 1997; Tepper, 2000; Ingham, 2005). As Fine (1988) and Ingham (2005) discuss, one common absence from modern sex education globally is sexual pleasure, and particularly 'female' sexual desire. Where sex education at school was present, participants reported that it was mostly focused on reproductive (or *avoiding* reproductive consequences of) heterosexual coitus, as indicated by Kit's comment above. This approach to sex education "does little to enhance the development [of] adolescents" (Tepper, 2000, p. 283). It can be argued that including desire and pleasure in sex education could empower young females as sexual agents that are entitled to pleasure and responsible for their own sexuality (Fine, 1988; Tepper, 2000).

Since Michelle Fine's writing on the missing discourse of desire (1988), the last thirty years have seen some pleasure narratives making their way into the classrooms of western schools but the narrowed choices for girls' desire has left a need for what Fine and colleagues call a 'thick desire' (Fine and McClelland, 2006) entitling young people to a

wide array of different desires to relate to and experience. Thick desire "situates sexual well being within structural contexts that enable economic, educational, social and psychological health" (Fine and McClelland, 2006, p. 301) and requires a nuanced exploration of distinct groups of young people. This was reflected in my interviews with non-heterosexual participants, all of whom felt their sex education curriculum represented them insufficiently in comparison with their heterosexual counterparts, and overall failed to challenge heteronormativity and homophobia in the wider school context.

The school 'playground' must also be taken into consideration when discussing where information is exchanged. Whilst the classroom remains subject to educational policy, outside the classroom context different interactions occur; this might be in a physical social space, or a virtual one. Allen (2012) argues that whilst 'unofficial', 'female' (heterosexual) desire can be found every day at school, an increasingly 'sexualised culture' in the western world has only served to provide unhealthy expressions of 'female' desire such as when "representations of self as sexually confident, experienced and knowing draw on 'playboy' or 'pornified' discourses" (p.295). Thus, Allen argues, young 'female' desire remains elusive.

The cultural background of participants was important in relation to both formal sex education at school and peer-to-peer interaction. Natalie (31, Chinese) reported there was absolutely no formal sex education at school and that all her learning came from school friends instead. Peer-to-peer learning was spoken about by all my participants as an important site of information sharing. Similar to the mother-child relationship, menarche served as a turning point for peer conversations around vagina topics. Several participants mentioned that discussing sanitary products was common amongst 'girls' at school, as well as a shared concern with being 'normal', i.e. developing into puberty at an 'appropriate' rate. For example, some participants were either the first or last in their friendship group to have their first period and both of these situations brought some angst; it was undesirable to be an outlier, to have lighter or heavier periods than another child or be the last person to have started menstruating.

Hamia (25, Arab Muslim) also reported no formal sex education at school and discussed how peer discussions were limited to those of the same gender⁶⁰. Whilst sex was considered a taboo topic even amongst "just girls", periods were a topic that enabled some vagina talk even amongst what Hamia reported as "a more restricted culture than in the UK". There was some considerable misinformation that Hamia reported to me⁶¹, for example she remembered conversations between friends about whether or not using a tampon would disrupt their 'virginity', apparently unaware of the cultural nuances of the concept of 'virginity' as well as naïve to the physical realities of how a tampon is used.

Fingerson (2006) discusses how period talk for girls at school becomes interwoven with social power in that by bringing menstruation (which carries cultural shame) into public discussion without embarrassment, "girls can wield power in their social interactions with others" (p.2). In my interviews I found that whilst there was little reported embarrassment, there was a sense of 'necessity' being exercised, i.e. to ask the question "is it necessary?" when considering discussing periods and vagina talk more widely. A common thread throughout the interviews was that *medical* information or information relevant to health such as STI awareness and hygiene were necessary conversations that needed to be had with adolescents to protect them, to educate them in 'important' matters. As Fingerson (2006) points out, it is the medical, 'sanitary', the 'hygienic' aspects of vagina (particularly menstruation) that are considered vital, rather than any other issues. In recalling conversations as adolescents, participants reported 'necessity' as meaning practical help such as needing a sanitary pad or tampon (and thus needing to create an environment where such discussions can take place).

A vital part of understanding 'girls' perceptions of their own menstruation is the inclusion (or exclusion) of 'boys' in discussions of periods. Burrows and Johnson (2005) identify three main issues in this area; firstly that 'boys' lack of understanding about 'girl'-specific puberty helps to perpetuate negative stereotypes, an issue not aided by the separation of

⁶⁰ Hamia used binary terms when discussing her friendship groups and assumes all her friends are cisgendered.

⁶¹ Hamia was not the only participant who told me misinformation, many of the interviewees had inaccurate knowledge or understandings of various vagina topics.

'girls and boys' in sex and health education at schools; secondly that 'boys' subsequent negative reactions to menstruation encourages self-shaming in the minds of the 'girls'; and finally that the greater freedom for 'boys' to discuss their own puberty and particularly their own genitals creates an imbalance in power. This construction of 'boys' puberty as something to be proud of stands in stark contrast to the demeaning socialisation into shame received by 'girls' in puberty and is a notion that some theorists argue is helping to reinforce the global problem of 'female' inferiority (Ussher, Hunter and Browne, 2000).

Beyond school, friendships with women remained important to all participants (regardless of their gender identities) and a key area where vagina could be and was discussed.

I feel like I grew up in a way that probably there is a lack of shame about my body... in that particular part. Which was, which became a problem when I encountered other people who does find this bit sensitive. So I could be viewed as somebody who is a bit...talk too much or has no boundary, that sort of person...within my Chinese friendship circle.

Natalie (31, Chinese)

Natalie's observations highlight a cultural comparison that arose in most of the interviews with participants from outside the UK; that western friendship groups *based in the UK* were considered to be more open to topics that would be considered salacious or taboo in their home cultural contexts. Elle (Malaysian Chinese) discussed a friendship group formed through attending a UK university, none of whom are native UK inhabitants but who all found (at least) a temporary home in the UK. Elle felt this group of friends were more open to discussing all things vagina. In fact, almost all the non-native UK participants felt UK based groups were more open than those from their countries of origin. A clear outlier of this trend was Clare (Danish) who felt frustrated at what she described as closemindedness from her UK friends which limited vagina-talk considerably in comparison to her Danish friends.

With regards to menopause, I noted that no pre-menopausal participants included menopause in their topics of discussion amongst any groups including friends. Conversely, post-menopausal participants reported that peer discussions on the subject of menopause were relatively frequent and relaxed.

Only...only since...I've been through it [have I talked about menopause].

I've been helping other people through it and saying "look, it doesn't last long" or "try this, try that" so I have spoken about it, don't feel embarrassed about talking about it at all. So I have tried to help others and share information really...yeah, yeah just share my experience really

Bridget (59, WB)

Bridget talked about how she did not feel comfortable discussing the menopause with her friends until she had been through it herself and then found herself taking on an 'educator' role where she passed on information from her experiences and research into alternative therapies and herbal medicine. Returning to the notion of 'necessity', Kim and Shirley commented that they did not 'feel the need' to discuss their menopause with anyone as they had not experienced any adverse symptoms or suffered any difficulties during that time of their lives.

Medical fields

All my participants reported feeling 'able' to discuss their genitals with a doctor, reasoning that a visit to the doctor would be a setting considered necessary, safe and appropriate.

Despite this, few participants described what they felt were positive interactions with medical professionals regarding their genitals.

One common procedure mentioned amongst participants was cervical screening, described as an event to "get over quickly" (Bridget). All participants described the procedure as unpleasant, with a few reporting painful or distressing experiences. In the focus group, Rosa and Colette (from Mexico and Spain respectively) discussed the differences between cervical screenings in the UK versus in their home countries. One important difference that also appeared in some of the interviews with non-UK nationals

was the ease of access to a professional gynaecologist. In the UK a cervical screening is commonly performed by a trained nurse and takes place in a GP surgery room. Both Rosa and Colette felt the UK setting was "too clinical" (Colette) and "felt super weird" (Rosa) in comparison to visiting their regular gynaecologist where the clinical room was "warmer, and somehow less intimidating" (Colette). Almost all participants (of UK screening age and above) attended their cervical screenings, the exceptions being Lydia whose vaginismus prevents the insertion of the equipment and Bridget who felt the procedure was too intimate that she no longer wished to attend the appointments. There is a distinction to be drawn here between the physical discomfort of the cervical screening and a discomfort in the interaction, the social setting in which it takes place. Whilst Colette and Rosa referred to 'practical' things that they would prefer the UK screenings provided (such as giving them a proper medical robe to be comfortable in rather than just a piece of 'couch roll' for privacy), they found it difficult to describe many of the issues; it was in the manner in which the screening was conducted, the way in which words were spoken and information was shared during the procedure. Rosa did comment positively on the prescreening leaflet that is sent prior to booking an appointment as she found it useful and informative.

Alex, who identifies as genderqueer and undergoes hormone therapy, discussed the difficulty of navigating smear tests as a non-ciswoman. Under UK regulations, only patients marked as 'female' receive automatic invitations to cervical screenings, and so Alex was informed that they would no longer receive these invitations once their gender recognition certificate was registered by the GP practice. Gender identity was discussed in the interview as an area clearly omitted from the UK cervical screening process, with all documents, leaflets and communication-in-surgery referring to the patient as a 'woman'. Transgender patients with a cervix are still considerably much less likely to achieve screening rates equivalent to non-transgender women, even at clinics where providers have expertise caring for LGBT populations (Peitzmeier et al., 2014). The reasons for this remain relatively unexplored but it is likely that the social and institutional stigma of being transgender continues to be an issue (Johnson et al., 2016), particularly as training in transgender health is scarce if recognised at all (Reisner et al., 2013; Poteat, German and

Kerrigan, 2013). The institutional practices and procedures that assume binary gender cannot cope with a 'mis-match' between gender and reproductive organs; 'male with cervix' is thus rendered unintelligible.

When discussing cervical screening campaigns in the UK during the focus group, I showed the participants a video from the BBC aimed at young 'women'⁶² who are not taking up the opportunity to attend their screenings (BBC Stories, 2018). The video focuses on a group of young cis women who work in intimate waxing services, with a trained nurse talking to them about the myths surrounding the test and arguing that it is likely not to be as uncomfortable as a bikini wax. One of the focus group participants, Juliet, felt this type of campaign was "dishonest" as her experiences of having smear tests were all very painful and upsetting for her. She comments,

If I had seen this before I went to a screening I would have been in for a massive shock. They make it seem like it's going to be all fine but for a lot of people it's really hard, I mean it is for me

Juliet (31)

In her view, framing the screening experience as positive or relatively pain/discomfort-free was not only inaccurate but possibly making the situation worse due to the "shock" that could occur during your first screening experience. Juliet's worry lay with what she felt was a "dishonesty" surrounding the information encouraging people to take up the opportunity for cervical screenings, particularly surrounding the possibility of pain during the procedure.

Menopause was something that also featured as a heavily medicalized process for the participants I interviewed. Some had experienced significant distress during the perimenopausal stage, with symptoms causing them to seek medical advice and information early on. Those who did not seek advice reported they did not feel they needed information because the process was "straightforward" (Jean). Kim discussed how

90

⁶² Whilst the video did not explicitly exclude non-ciswomen, it used the words "women", "girls" and "female" which imply some demographic exclusions.

she viewed the symptoms of the menopause as "not worth" discussing with a doctor as they pertained, for the most part, to her intimate relationship with her husband; a topic she felt ought to remain private between the two of them. This experience contrasted with Shirley's description of her vaginal atrophy and dryness. Shirley felt her issues with not wanting to have sex ought to be solved with a visit to her GP and was reluctant to discuss the deeper issue of libido and desire with her husband. "Lack of information on, comfort with, and biases about the topic of sexuality after menopause are significant hurdles" that the medical field face (Simon et al., 2018). Recent literature on the menopause in medical fields suggests that doctors should be led by their patients in terms of how "bothersome" their symptoms are (Roberts and Hickey, 2016) and it is unsurprising that different people's symptoms would present varied experiences. It was clear in my interviews that the majority of information surrounding the menopausal transition was shared at the onset of symptoms rather than pre-emptively. Information was only sought once symptoms were experienced and, as Robert and Hickey (2016) note, crucially only for those symptoms to be troubling or inconvenient enough to seek medical guidance in managing them.

At the other end of the menstruation spectrum, menarche-aged children are expected to glean information from their mothers and from school education, and none are expected to attend a doctor's appointment to discuss any of the significant bodily changes they experience. I find it of interest that the menopausal transition works in the opposite way; there is no formal education and you are encouraged to seek advice from your GP (as well as possible treatments if necessary). Of the postmenopausal women I interviewed, only one recalled her own mother's menopause and her mother discussing it with her.

Arguably the lack of any formal education for menopausal-age adults and the possibility of one's parents not being alive later in life could influence the social opportunities for menopausal information sharing.

Participants who had undergone pregnancy discussed both the formal information they received through medical intervention as well as the informal information sharing with other parents. With regards to the medical context in particular, it is well documented that medical practitioners take an authoritative role within social interactions whether

they intend to or not, and that pregnancy and childbirth have become increasingly medicalised over the last fifty years (Lothian, 2008). Of my participants who had been pregnant, all of them reported positive communication with their medical practitioners, with midwives being especially well placed to pass on helpful and empathetic advice that was remembered by my participants even decades after the births of their children.

Pregnancy was presented as a situation where ringfences protecting certain 'vagina talk' were lifted. Jean discussed how the shared experience of having been pregnant and having had children meant topics that might be deemed taboo were suddenly found to be acceptable and even encouraged in certain friendship groups. Lydia commented similarly on her relationship with her sister,

My sister never talks to me about her personal life, certainly never about her body and absolutely not about her genitals. But after she gave birth to her first child she joked with me about how her stitches meant she kept having to hop and wiggle when she walked... and even asked me to pick up incontinence pads for her

Lydia (26)

Lydia's comment highlights the transformation of an inappropriate conversational topic, here about one's body particularly the genitals is suddenly deemed acceptable within a particular social group. Lydia went on to say she suspected her sister would not have been so open with a brother if they had one, which supports the idea that one ringfence operating here is that of presented gender, which is closely linked to assumed cultural genitals (or in the case of sibling relationships, probably known genitals). It is important to note that Lydia mentions that her sister was speaking humorously about her stitches; several participants I spoke to mentioned humour led the way in discussions around pregnancy which is similar to vagina talk more generally, something which can (but not always is) be used as a distancing device or to cover potential embarrassment.

Whilst some 'medical-led' vagina topics were able to flourish in conversations, others remained shrouded in stigma. For example, while visiting a clinic for a pregnancy check-up

was considered acceptable (even celebratory), visits to a clinic for sexual health testing were not viewed positively. This comes from the social perception of the issue in question; it is acceptable (again, even cause for congratulation) to be pregnant, but it remains shameful to have (or possibly have) a sexually transmitted infection or disease. Maddie (29, USA/Indian) discussed how living with genital herpes created conversational vacuums with people she would otherwise be emotionally intimate with, such as her sisters and friends. Nonetheless, the concept of 'what is necessary' is raised again here as Maddie did find she "had to" talk to her mother about the issue in order to gain access to medicine whilst she was abroad. As her father is a doctor, he has easier access to resources and medicine and Maddie discussed how in their family many medical issues could be raised with their father due to his expertise creating a practical 'need-to-know' atmosphere. Despite this, Maddie used her mother as a conversational go-between to 'reach' her father and his medical resources; she felt more comfortable disclosing the issue to her mother who she knew would pass the information onto the father for medicine to be obtained. This highlights how 'necessity' can function alongside embarrassment or discomfort within vagina-talk, with medical need taking form as a 'necessity' to be discussed.

Popular culture

Popular culture was mentioned as a source of information and as facilitating information sharing by many participants but particularly those younger than 40. Whilst the older participants recalled items from traditional media (such as newspapers and television advertisements), the younger group referred more to internet videos and streamed content (such as *Youtube* or *Netflix*). One area of shared experience across the participants was menstrual product advertisements. Television advertisements are among the most influential of all media products in the world (Del Saz-Rubio and Pennock-Speck, 2009) and research findings indicate that themes of secrecy are commonplace in advertisements for menstrual products with menstruation often portrayed as a hygiene crisis that needs to be managed through the use of the featured products (Erchull, 2013). With a focus on sanitation and hygiene, television advertisements illustrate a solution to the negative aspects of menstruation through purchase and utilisation of their products

(Barak-Brandes, 2011). Within menstruation research there has been a focus on the messages about menstruation conveyed by menstrual product advertisements, with less attention to how they are interpreted by the target audience (Barak-Brandes, 2011).

Within the focus group we discussed menstrual product advertisments and watched *Blood Normal* (Body Form, 2017) the campaign film from Bodyform that broke global taboos by depicting realistic red menstrual blood.

I found the graphics quite moving. I don't think I've ever been able to communicate to someone who doesn't menstruate what it feels like [...] it's just not like anything I've ever seen before to describe it and it felt...true

Juliet (31)

Juliet's comment that she has never been "able to communicate" about menstruation to a non-menstruator illustrates the assumption that only those who menstruate can understand the experience, but also that representations of menstruation have previously felt insufficient. Given the social significance assigned to menstruation (Delaney, Lupton and Toth, 1988; Fingerson, 2006) there is a disconnect between that significance and the ways in which popular culture media depicts it. As a group we discussed if the value the participants had ascribed to the campaign video was in any way negatively affected by the knowledge that it was created by a commercial company whose aims overall are to sell you a product. None of the participants felt this impacted the importance of the message that they felt Blood Normal was purporting, although this could be because they felt the film was not trying to sell them anything other than a hope for "a world that doesn't exist yet, where periods are 100% normal" (Kiefer, 2017). All three focus group participants shared the view that the best feature of Blood Normal was, in fact, how normal menstruating was for the narrative of the film. Periods were shown as part of a normal, everyday life rather than something special or out of the ordinary. Despite this pragmatic view of menstruation, the focus group were clear in their reporting of how the film "touched them" (Colette) on an emotional level for being so strikingly different from the advertisements they were used to, advertisements that commonly "function to heighten

insecurities [...] to perpetuate and maintain the silence and shame which surrounds menstruation in our society" (Simes and Berg, 2001).

Magazines aimed at teenage girls and young women were popular with some of my participants, with references to publications such as *Jackie*, *Sugar* and *Cosmo*. Information on puberty and changing bodies were important issues mentioned in interviews, as well as 'sex confessions' and other sex-themed content (non-pornographic). The dawn of the internet age has meant a wider range of materials are more freely available than ever before. Younger participants made reference to using online learning tools to supplement their sex education, particularly on video-sharing sites such as *YouTube* and *Vimeo*. The appeal of online content includes the wide range of resources readily available in hand (literally), that are easily shared with friends or kept private on one's own device.

Johnston (2017) raises the point that online sexuality media has also created virtual communities from people 'following' well-known online sex educators and interacting with them and each other on social media platforms. Online forums were popular with those undergoing fertility treatment or pregnancy and those wanting to self-educate on childbirth (and childrearing).

Within the focus group I conducted, we watched an informative (and comedic) animated video about the clitoris (Malépart-Traversy, 2016) from which all participants said they learned something new. The video was described as "cute" (Colette) and "relatable" (Rosa) and none of the participants had seen it before. We discussed how content on vulva/vagina topics is often framed as 'awareness-raising' or educative and can take on a political, usually feminist, stance in addressing topics that remain under the umbrella of cultural taboos.

Pornographic content was not something discussed by most of my participants, in fact only two interviewees raised porn within the interviews at all. Avery discussed how they prefer to watch independently-funded queer porn both for its higher quality queer representation and for the reassurance that the actors in the videos were well protected, consenting, non-exploited adults. It could be objected that I did not directly ask my participants about pornography, but I did not ask them directly about any media content

and yet some were mentioned spontaneously. For example, in one question I asked my participants when they had "encountered other vaginas, in real life or in media content" (see Appendix II) and still porn was not brought up as a place to have seen other vaginas.

Conclusion

Throughout this chapter it has remained clear that many of the historical 'taboos' encircling vagina remain operational, at least for my participants. In particular, age and gender were described as important gatekeepers: both having a vagina and being 'of the right age' were important in opening up vagina talk. People (assumed to be) without a vagina were excluded from much of the vagina talk my participants described, but even having a vagina was not enough, by itself, to open up all topics for conversation. With sexuality ringfenced as 'sensitive' or a taboo topic for children, it is perhaps unsurprising that these aspects of vagina talk were reserved for post-puberty discussions (for the most part). However, my participants described this lack of openness as an obstacle that they wished had been better negotiated – had they been given more specific information at an earlier age, they might have felt differently about their bodies.

Whilst medical settings were described by all my participants as appropriate places to discuss the vagina, this was not without discomfort and hesitation. Vagina talk in a doctor's office fell into the category of 'necessity' for all my participants, which highlights an important issue reflected across conversations – is it *necessary*, and is it *appropriate*? At times it is easier to determine these parameters than others, for example *having* a vagina immediately determines a need to discuss the genitals. Equally, having a 'need' to talk to a medical professional about your 'privates', is deemed both necessary and appropriate. Cultural differences must be taken into account, as always but in particular with linguistic choices and determining levels of 'appropriateness'. Whilst most of my white British participants could agree that menstruation was an acceptable topic to discuss more openly than, say, sex, not all cultures have the same boundaries.

Overall, what I found intriguing about the ways in which my participants described talking about vaginas was how intuitive it was to all of them. It was clear that they appeared to have learned these social rules implicitly as they had matured. Nobody described an event

where they had spoken out of turn, or had attempted to bring up vaginas only to have been met with stigma or shame. Instead, all had seemingly avoided this, but not without effort (acknowledged or not). All my participants reported to me that they enjoyed our interview, if just for the opportunity to speak freely about vaginas in a space where I had deemed it both necessary (for me) and appropriate (for them).

Chapter 5: The Embodied Vagina

Veeple's relationship to 'vagina' is both physical and cultural. In this chapter I will focus on the embodiment of vaginas, and how my participants framed these experiences. My participants had much to say about 'sensory and sensate embodiment', defined by Jackson and Scott (2010) as the physical senses of sight, hearing, touch and taste (sensory) and "the means through which we feel pleasure and pain, and more broadly experience our bodies as a part of being" (sensate) (p.147). Whilst seeing one's own vagina is difficult without use of a mirror/camera, touch, smell and taste remained important senses involved in their experiences of their genitalia, and feelings of pleasure, pain, comfort and discomfort remain entangled within those. Arguably, one's relationship to one's genitalia could well be indifferent to the rest of the body. However, I argue that there remain significant issues that affect genitalia in less generic terms, based on the experiences reported by my participants.

Much of what my participants reported about their bodies was related to an event or events they discussed as 'happening to them', such as having sex, being pregnant, giving birth, experiencing sexual assault or having an infection. I explore how my participants framed these experiences as outside of their control and yet close to their bodily sense of self. For example, sexual practices⁶³ may inform and/or reinforce one's sexual identity; or having children may shape one's sense of self through the lens of parenthood. In parallel to things happening to them, were the events they described as 'my choice', such as when and how to masturbate or touch oneself exploratorily, or the decision to not/remove pubic hair. That is not to say that the analysis of such 'events' relating to the body fit neatly into this binary of control and no-control, and I continue to explore the nuance of these positions throughout the chapter. For all my participants, their relationship to their vaginas was complex and evolving alongside their self-identity and how they made sense of their experiences.

⁶³ In this context, meaning those sexual actions directly involving the vulva/vagina.

Exploratory Touch

Sensorily, much of one's relationship to one's vulva is through touch, in part due to the difficulty in seeing it without the use of mirrors or cameras. Unlike the rest of the body, the genitalia and specifically touching your own genitalia, is not something which is introduced to a child (Hogarth and Ingham, 2009). Some parents or guardians might briefly explain how to clean oneself but as my participants reported, the reference to the genitalia for this purpose was unspecific and usually just a nudged reminder to "clean all your bits" (Lydia). Natalie discussed how her mother had "drilled into" her to wash her vulva every evening, but again this instruction was not followed by detailed information or use of specific vocabulary (see Chapter 4). Lydia mentioned that at her secondary school, sex educators encouraged "boys to peel back their foreskin and clean...like they specifically said that and used the word foreskin" (Lydia) whereas 'girls' were not awarded such specificity or direct part-labelling. Thus, exploratory touch (which may or may not be exclusively sexual in nature) takes on a personal significance for veeple, with "understandings of their own intimate anatomy....identified as critical to... reproductive health and sexual wellbeing" (Almeida et al., 2016). As discussed in Chapter 4, this learning opportunity presents itself much later on for 'girls' than for 'boys'. As a result, many veeple have not touched and/or do not touch their vulvas at all, particularly outside a sexual context. Scholars have, at times, noted that 'boys' may be introduced to touching their penis through holding it for urination (Arnstein, 1976; Roiphe and Galenson, 2018), something veeple do not need to do to effectively pass urine.

Within media and popular culture, not much has been done to encourage veeple's self-explorative touch, and even that which has attempted this often remains outside the mainstream. As discussed in Chapter 2, Canavan's (2014) *Raising the Skirt* is one such initiative, as is the design of the exploratory app *Labella* by Almeida et al. (2016). Almeida et al.'s app encourages veeple to digitally interact with a virtual vulva, but the app only works when the smartphone device is placed in between the legs scanning a makeshift 'QR code' on a branded pair of underwear. Once the phone's front camera detects the scannable image, a sketch drawing of the view appears as if from a mirror. Not

unsurprisingly, the app has not been publicised well and is no longer available to download.

The use of exploratory touch for sexual purposes remains taboo for many veeple, and yet paradoxically there also exists a notion of 'knowing yourself' and being sexually confident as something to strive for. Veeple, particularly women, are expected to know how to reach orgasm but are not encouraged to touch their genitals to find out how to do that. My participants responses reinforced this paradox; there was a sheepishness (amongst some) about masturbation and yet also an earnestness to ensure I perceived them as 'not naïve'.

Sexual Touch

Within sex, touch plays an important role. Regardless of sexuality, almost all participants referred to sexual touch and pleasure as an important part of their relationship to their genitalia; most raised it as the primary function for their genitalia. In some cases, 'discovering' masturbation or climax was something described as an achievement or something that had to be worked towards, either on their own figuring out their body or with a partner who "just isn't very good at reading my body" (Juliet). A prevailing answer to the question 'when do you feel most aware of having a vagina' was during sex or masturbation, i.e. during arousal and climax which was not affected by the sexuality of the participant.

When I masturbate, that's when I realise, 'OK, it works' [laughs] that's the best time.

Bhaarati (Lesbian)

Bhaarati's use of the word 'works' pertains to the vulva/vaginas primary function being of pleasure which, at least for the clitoris, is true. Most participants referred to their genitalia as being a part of the body that primarily brings them pleasure. In masturbation, the sensory and sensate meet, where physical touch brings sexual pleasure. Feminist thinking has been concerned with the lack of a pleasure narrative for women in sex for some time (Scott and Jackson, 1996), with pleasure and relationship to orgasm issues raised by a few

participants in the interviews. Dyke mentioned her purchase of a new vibrator to help her 'discover' her climax, something she previously found to be elusive, which was of concern to her. In contrast, Elle discussed what she felt could be an 'over-use' of sex toys that she worried might have "broken my clit". Knowing *how* to touch oneself or have another person touch you was discussed by my participants as something important to work towards (and 'achieve'), something understood to come with time, experience and trust (in both yourself and the other/s touching you). Participants who had sexual experience with other veeple discussed how learning to pleasure another vulva helped them to learn more about their own genitalia too, as well as their own body knowledge offering insight into another's body. In this way, this body-to-body mapping and integration becomes a method for 'sexual success'.

A clear distinction in penis and vagina sexual self-touch comes from the use of objects. Penis gratification is depicted and experienced as usually just with the use of one's hand, without the use of an object; although such objects do exist and are fairly lucrative, such as the *Fleshlight* (Ann Summers, 2020) which appears as a 'flashlight' (or handheld torch in British English) but is in fact a hollow gel tube with a silicone 'vagina lid' to place the penis inside. The use of dildos or other insertable objects is a considerably more varied and societally accepted field and often central in some lesbian and queer sexual scripts. This is not to say all sexual touch is object-driven for veeple, quite the opposite. However, it is important to note the employment of devices, both penetrative and non-penetrative. For Bianca, touching her vagina could only be with an object until quite recently,

For a while, I was only comfortable touching it with sex toys, whereas like, more recently, I've like, been able to like, actually be OK with just touching it with...my hands 64 um...but that's definitely been like a learning curve.

Bianca

⁶⁴ I use ^ to denote a rise in the participant's intonation, such as when asking a question in British English.

The use of an object to touch oneself can create a degree of separation between the self and the body, however contemporary research into the use of sex toys suggests they can be used to better understand one's body and contribute to overall 'sexual wellness' (Eaglin and Bardzell, 2011). In Bianca's case, she was squeamish about touching herself and needed to learn to be more comfortable with herself first. Even in communicating with me, we can see her hesitation, shown by her pauses in speech and rise in her intonation, demonstrating her wrestling with her discomfort. Lydia mentioned her first experiences with masturbation and orgasm did not come from using her hands but instead by using pillows or other objects to create friction. Whilst she did not explicitly say that she was uncomfortable touching herself with her own hands, as with Bianca's 'learning curve', Lydia also went through a process of becoming more comfortable with herself.

Historically there has been much written on penile masturbation but little on vulvic/vaginal. What has been written about veeple's masturbation has sometimes simply reinforced traditional ideals of binary gender. For example, Clower (1980) writes that "women" must not promote masturbation "at the expense of accepting the need for vaginal penetration in coitus" (p.153-154). Such misinformation is commonly found, particularly at the time of Clower's publication. More recent writing acknowledges masturbation's role in developing mature intimate relations and formulating positive sexual wellbeing (Hogarth and Ingham, 2009) as well as increasing the ease of reaching arousal and climax within partnered sex (Carvalheira and Leal, 2013). Much cultural antimasturbatory material (especially against veeple) either explicitly or implicitly uses conservative religious doctrine to perpetuate negative attitudes towards masturbation (Das, 2007; Baćak and Štulhofer, 2011) and those participants who referred to religious influences on their lives did correlate masturbatory shame with the religious ideals to which they were exposed.

Within the little vulvic masturbatory material that exists, a large portion is claimed by Shere Hite in her "revolutionary" report on female sexuality that "smashed taboos and scandalised the world" (Smith, 2006); she also emphasized the importance of the clitoris in sensory stimulation and sensate experience for women (Hite, 1977). In 2004, Hite

published a new edition of her original report in which she comments on the continued lack of research and attention to 'female' masturbation, "sharing our hidden sexuality by telling how we masturbate is a first step toward bringing our sexuality out into the world and toward redefining sex and physical relations as we know them" (Hite, 2004, p.52).

Sex and sexual pleasure for veeple does also have a history of being ignored, particularly in favour of penile gratification. In their analysis of women in gynaecology textbooks, Diana Scully and Pauline Bart (1978) observed the 19th century view that women of 'good morals' did not enjoy sex but rather performed it as a duty to their husbands and to the population, a notion unlikely to promote a progressive understanding of one's own vagina. In addition, the absence of the clitoris in medical textbooks and teaching materials has been well documented even within what would be considered a modern context (as discussed in Chapter 2).

Many of my participants discussed masturbation with me, and several chatted in detail about preferred methods and how they first began touching themselves. All who raised the issue of beginning to masturbate mentioned "feeling the urge" (Bhaarati) or just feeling curious to explore their body in an intimate setting with themselves. The younger (than 40) participants in particular discussed masturbation as something which they felt contributed to a sense of self-empowerment, which has been discussed previously in sexual research literature such as that of Christin Bowman. Bowman (2014) notes that when "women" can focus on their own sexual pleasure without the pressure of pleasing another partner or worrying about the possibility of pregnancy, they are more likely to achieve a sense of empowerment. She continues, "women were more likely to feel sexually empowered by the fact that they masturbate if they reported being more sexually efficacious, having higher genital self-image, and masturbating for sexual pleasure or to learn more about their bodies" (p. 363). I will discuss genital self-image later on in this chapter, but it is evident that there remains a clear link between one's sense of self, be that empowered or esteemed, is affected by the employment of sexual touch onto oneself.

There was less masturbation-talk from the older participants in my interviews, something I partly attribute to it not being directly raised by me. Whilst I also did not directly raise masturbation as a specific question to younger participants, it is likely that they felt more comfortable discussing it with me due to being of a different generation and crucially, a similar generation to myself. The older women were also all heterosexual and had all been married (two had remarried, one was widowed), and when talking about sex referred to their husbands rather than to solo experiences. Two of the older women did mention that touching themselves was often a part of a joint sexual experience with their husbands. As I discussed in Chapter 3, I think more could have been gleaned from these women about both sex and masturbation but the social dynamic of the interview, particularly the age gap between myself and the women, limited the scope of enquiry. Even if a solo experience was considered more taboo to discuss with me as an interviewer, it was notable that most of the older, married, participants didn't mention masturbation as a sex act to be enjoyed with their husbands either. They did not mention masturbation directly at all, but rather focussed on oral sex and vagino-penile penetration.

A key narrative in reports of my participants' masturbatory touch was that of discovery, particularly discovering sexual pleasure and a discovery of the existence of the clitoris. Waskul, Vannini and Wiesen (2007) note that most veeple discover their clitoris before they are provided with a symbolic understanding of it. This was certainly an issue among my interview demographic as many described early experiences of touching themselves sexually well before any sex education was introduced to them.

In parallel, the inability to have sex was also mentioned among my interviewees. For example, Shirley confided her concern to me that her post-menopausal vagina is painful and dry which is restricting pleasurable intercourse with her husband, despite attempts to lubricate appropriately. After a short discussion about this issue with Shirley, it became clear the issue was that she did not want to have sex and was assuming this was a 'normal' part of being a woman; and that having your husband "obviously" want sex more than 'the woman' was "to be expected". The idea that women are more passive with less erotic desire than men is found in early to mid- 20th century sex manuals (Gordon and Shankweiler, 1971). However, more recent analysis challenges this expectation of

gendered sexuality, with individual differences in libido and sexual desire not always reliably influenced by one's gender (Buss, 2016; McHugh, 2006) which challenges the stereotype of the ageing woman 'becoming' asexual (Hess, 2019). Despite implying that this was an expected part of her reality, Shirley did take the opportunity at the end of the interview to ask me if that assertion was correct:

Yeah so that sort of worries me and I think, is it just me or is it older women, you know, do a lot of older women just go off sex?

Shirley (65)

After posing this question, Shirley paused and looked at me, quizzically and expectantly, for the 'right' answer. I took this opportunity to talk to Shirley about consent, and the importance of not having sex with her husband if she didn't want to, something she admitted she had been doing. Shirley's concern highlights the issue of age and sex. Annie Potts, in her writing on the use of Viagra in older men and its effect on their ('female') partners, writes of a societal expectation for older people to continue "'youthful' (energetic) sex lives focused on penetrative intercourse" (Potts et al., 2003), something which may not always be realistic or 'achievable' by older people.

It was fascinating to me that Shirley had initially very confidently stated her perception, only to then question it all at the end of the interview when I enquired if she had any questions for me. It highlights the importance of perception in how we conceptualise ourselves in relation to others, and for Shirley the idea she was a 'normal' woman (and had a 'normal' vagina) was important to her. There is, of course, a difference between vagina and libido here but Shirley's concern was not that she wanted to increase her libido but that she wanted to effectively lubricate her vagina *as if* she were aroused, so she could have the sex her husband wanted but with less pain on her part. Again, I took this opportunity to reiterate that she does not need to be having sex that she doesn't want and is causing her pain. I found it intriguing that Shirley's concern lay with being a typical woman; she wanted to know if her experience was common or even universal, but she did not ask me if/how she could increase her libido.

Katz and Marshall (2004) discuss the notions of 'functional' and 'dysfunctional' in relation to ageing and sex and argue that sexual 'function' and 'dysfunction' have "become allencompassing markers of heterosexual competence" (p.53), noting that this extends beyond reproductive imperatives but continuing a pressure on older people to remain sexual. However, the social stigma of older sex contradicts this expectation to remain sexual. This relates to a wider culture (particularly in the west) of a pressure to be sexual as a form of 'normalcy'. For example, the narratives surrounding disability and sexuality demonstrate that many disabled individuals are assumed to be non-sexual as part of their stigmatisation (Kim, 2011), i.e. that they are permitted not be sexual simply because their disability places them outside what is considered 'normal'. However, Kim discusses how disabled people who do identify as asexual are often pressured into being sexual to demonstrate they have 'recovered' or been rehabilitated from their disability, rather than being accepted as asexual. In this way, there is a contradiction between the expectation for older and disabled bodies to be sexual and the parallel issue of the stigma that remains. Jane (a disabled wheelchair user) discussed with me the importance of sex to her relationship to her body. She talked to me about preparing for her first sexual encounter where she practiced sex positions that worked with her disability. In fact, Jane spent most of her interview talking to me about sex, and at the end she commented on how much she enjoyed focussing on talking about her body for pleasure rather than discussing her disability as a barrier to a healthy sexual life.

Two of my participants identified as asexual (or "ace" for short) and a third, Kit, was exploring the possibility of identifying in that way too. Interestingly, all three of them identified outside of a cis-gendered perspective. Kit discussed this directly with me,

So, because I feel ambivalent about my gender, it gives me this sense of disconnect from my vagina and thus I think that affects sex because I...don't feel like I fit...a definite masculine or a definite feminine role [...] and that puts me off sex because I'm not confident in what I'm doing with my body during sex

Kit was not sure how they identified on the ace spectrum, if at all, but it was interesting to hear Kit discuss the effects of their gender on their relationship with sex. Kit made explicit reference to the 'roles' expected of them during a sexual act, and discussed being somewhat affected by specifically heterosexual scripts, despite not identifying with those from a sexuality perspective. Many scholars, including Stevi Jackson (1999) and Pepper Schwartz (2007) have written extensively on the heterosexual imperative within sexual scripts and roles, and some have continued to explore how this compulsory heterosexuality affects those under the queer umbrella (Dreyer, 2007). For non-cisgendered people there is also the importance of body image on both libido and pleasure (Sammons, 2010), i.e. that not only would 'gender roles' during sex be an issue but also that body dysphoria might affect desire to engage with sexual acts.

Whilst I am not at all wanting to devalue or invalidate asexuality as a sexual identity, it is important to note that many people that identify on the ace-spectrum experience aversions to the cis-focused, binary-powered and heterosexually-fuelled sexual encounters. Identifying as both non-cis and non-hetero may in turn impact one's libido and be easily interpreted as a lack of sexual desire in general. These concepts are complicated and entangled and in no way take away from ace identities. For example, Cerankowski and Milks (2010) suggest that asexuality can be an expression of feminist agency if it serves as a rejection of phallocentric sex, while Cohen-Kettenis and Pfäfflin (2010) note that historically, many "transsexual" patients were also described as asexual.

One intriguing point to note here, on asexualism, is Hamia's assertion that she believes she "could have" identified as asexual if she had not been brought up in a predominately Muslim country. She explained how "other" identities (which, in this context, meant anything outside of a cishet marriage) "just don't exist in our culture". This is, as many Muslim LGBTQ+ activists and scholars would argue, untrue. Momin Rahman has written extensively on this topic (Rahman, 2014, 2015; Rahman and Valliani, 2016) and argues that "queer Muslims draw upon a range of western and eastern identity resources in negotiating their sexualities and thus testify to the intersection of apparently exclusive cultures" (2015, unpaginated). Nonetheless this apparent restriction on identity was real for Hamia, and shaped how she made sense of her desires and her body.

In addition to those identifying themselves as ace were those participants who discussed not having sex for a variety of reasons.

...for years after [giving birth], you know, won't have sex, not interested,
I just kind of thought, 'I don't, you know, my body is for making babies
and not for anything else'

Kim

Here, Kim discusses the impact of pregnancy and childbirth on both her libido and general attitude towards her vagina. It is worth noting here that none of the other mothers reported this phenomenon, although it is not unheard of within medical research fields (Barret and Victor, 1994; Hughes, 2008). Something I could have enquired further about was when Kim's loss of libido was 'restored' and whether she had any insight as to how and why her interest in sex returned later in life.

When I asked Jean when she felt most aware of having a vagina, she immediately related that to her sex life with her late husband.

Not [so aware of it] since Keith's gone [laughs]. Um...Keith and I had a very good sex life

Jean

As she went on to explain, Keith was her first and only sexual partner throughout her life. As her sex life 'ended' when he passed away, so has her awareness and attention to her vagina. Not much literature focuses on the widow's libido, although some representations do exist in popular culture (Weiss, 2016; Anonymous, 2019) with Cecilia Ahern's novel *P.S. I Love You* (2004; and film of the same name, LaGravenese, 2007) perhaps the most well-known western contemporary narrative. As is well-documented, the lasting effects of losing a partner may continue for decades after their passing, and so it follows that one's relationship to sex and intimacy would be deeply affected by this loss.

Bharaati, who spoke openly about her depression and mental health difficulties, discussed the impact of low mood and libido,

Mental health does impact sexual practices and there could be bad patches where you're just going through too much shit and you do not...you cannot feel it and you can't do it, and I just couldn't go through with it [...] some people just have way more sexual desire even in times of stress and I don't... I can't... I can't do it.

Bhaarati (Indian, Hindu)

Bhaarati went on to discuss how her lowered libido as a result of her mental health state caused friction within a relationship where her partner told her that she didn't feel Bhaarati was "sexual enough". Katz and Marshall's (2003) work on sex with older people who feel the pressure to be sexually doing *enough* relates to the similar issue of sex and mental health. Sufficiency of sex is part of a wider necessity culture surrounding sexual practices; to have regular (and 'successful') sex remains a part of most Western cultures as well as in other contexts.

Non-consensual/intrusive touch

As I discussed in my methodology chapter, I prepared myself prior to the interviews, knowing that I would hear stories of assault and violence. Nonetheless I was shocked at not only the sheer amount of intrusive touch towards veeple but the *normalisation* of that touch as well; the idea of "of course I've been groped" (Bhaarati), "of course I've been molested" (Rosa), and "yes I've been raped several times" (Lydia). There was shared understanding that *of course*, as a woman, as a person with a vagina, you will have experienced some kind of sexual violence against you. In Rosa's words,

No of course [it is] women. Women are the ones that are targeted.

Like...even...even when there are lesbians, and we enjoy like...other

women's bodies...we don't...invade their sexuality and their privacy... we
just express in a different way.

Rosa (Lesbian)

Rosa here makes the point that lesbians (including herself) do not engage in this widely accepted cultural practice of intruding upon women's personal space and making them

uncomfortable. Indeed, it is estimated that female sexual offenders comprise only 5% of the entire adult sexual offender population (Pflugradt and Cortoni, 2015). Rose, Zand and Cimi (1993) note in addition that "[lesbian] women often signify sexual interest by avoiding all contact with those very women they are most attracted to", an idea corroborated in their more contemporary research (Rose and Zand, 2002). In addition to her comment that "women are the ones that are targeted", Rosa's comment also implies that is men doing the targeting, i.e. that cis men are intruding upon women's personal spaces.

Some of my participants described situations of sexual assault explicitly,

There was this one time that I went to like a club in Bradford and... I remember... this guy just like...grabbed, literally grabbed like, my vagina. He grabbed my vagina, like from the back, and did like this [gestures grab].

Bianca

I was abused, sexually abused when I was young... and that's how I had my first born.

Peggy

My teacher for most things was a man called Mr Smith [laughs] who had wandering hands and I was one of his...favourites. It wasn't um...there was no rape or anything like that....I mean to use that horrible expression 'kiddyfiddling'...

Kim

Dyke discussed the sexual violence she experienced as a child by her uncle as a trauma that she still carries to this day, which is common in child sexual abuse survivors. Hamia and Tyler also reported child sexual abuse, and Millie reported child-on-child sexual violence. Despite the generational gaps between Dyke (22), Tyler (27), Kim (57) and Peggy (70), the ways in which they discussed their childhood sexual abuse was in many ways

similar. For example, all discussed having what they felt was a "fear" (Peggy) or "nervousness" (Dyke) around cis men, and a sense of wanting to protect their bodies from non-consensual touch, especially from cis men. Tyler and Kim both talked about the lasting impact on the ways they view privacy and their own bodies; whether it was choosing to wear loose fitting clothing to avoid the physicality of the crotch being viewed (Kim) or carefully (un)dressing in public areas so as not to show any flesh (Tyler). Vera-Gray (2016) notes that it is not just about the actuality of an 'intrusion' but also where the intrusion is anticipated, and that often people are unaware of how much they restrict their own freedom in response to possibility/actuality of public intrusions from 'stranger men'. This ongoing sense of embodied vulnerability disproportionately affects veeple, and notably that "it is also not only the threat of rape which plays this role, but the culmination of messages received as part of growing up that men's intrusion is inevitable and women's bodies are the source" (Vera-Gray, 2016, p.6). Thus, choosing to wear loose fitting clothing, choosing to avoid certain places at certain times (and other actions that might be taken by veeple) is a lived embodiment of vulnerability and a demonstration of the limited 'choice' veeple have.

Merleau-Ponty's (2002) conceptualisation of the habit body helps to explore the ways in which cis men's intrusions become 'women's' embodiment. These general principles of 'wear looser clothing' or 'don't walk via the river at night' become "a form of bodily knowledge, a way of living female embodiment" (Vera-Gray, 2016, p.5). As previously mentioned, something that particularly struck me about the responses from my participants was the *normalisation* of such embodiment, these intrusions. This idea of particular forms of embodiments becoming habitual as a result of this 'possibility' or 'threat' of intrusion could act as a protective defence mechanism for veeple in that they do not need to react adversely to these anticipated moments (because they are so frequent). Vera-Gray (2016) notes that the limitation of this however is that it "constructs women's 'safety work' as an act of *choice*, minimising or hiding the impact of men's practices" (p.6, emphasis added). In this way it is important to note that whilst my participants described these 'acts of choice' in limiting their own bodily freedom, these

are in fact forms of embodiment that are forced upon them and hidden through a process of habituation.

In addition to the explicit violence, 'softer' i.e. more 'accepted' forms of harassment were discussed, such as catcalling (Bianca, Rosa, Bhaarati). Despite being described as 'less serious' than "proper assault" (Maureen), the physical, bodily reactions to these occasions were still very prominent. Several veeple mentioned a 'tightening' or 'clenching' of the vagina when feeling threatened by these aggressions towards them, even microaggressions or instances with physical distance between them and the perpetrator. Again, we see the habituation of these instances, whether anticipated or actual intrusions, that cause a physical embodiment of vulnerability in the veeple affected. Elle summed up her worry about a threat to her vagina,

I feel very conscious about having a vagina [when] I'm feeling threatened. Um...like, I don't know why but from a very young age when I heard about what rape was...it, it just absolutely terrified me, like...I kind of feel like I live a lot of my fear, like live a lot of my life in fear of rape. Even if it's quite an imaginary thing like, 'oh my god they're coming after me, they're gonna rape me' um, like, and I'm not saying this in a jokey way, like it really just like, terrifies me. And I just feel like, such, that's when I feel most, acutely aware of the fact that, like, I have this vagina and it is...it could be...um intruded upon or...violated. I think it's that sense that...this is a part of me that would feel most violated.

Elle

The end of Elle's remark highlights an important issue regarding the significance accorded to this kind of violation. It is unwanted 'stranger' touch (or the threat of unwanted touch), but specifically the site of vulnerability in question is the vulva/vagina, which adds to the significance of the touch.

From stranger touch to partner touch, there remained a threat of the touch being unwanted. However, there was a strong sense from some participants that sexual violence

perpetrated by a partner could not 'count' as 'proper violence' and is diluted by the relationship to the perpetrator.

There are those situations where you are just, being, you are just being penetrated and like, it's not exactly like you feel you're being like, sexually assaulted, it's more like, I don't feel anything. This is, like, it's uncomfortable and you don't feel anything

Bianca

[Sexual assault has] never happened to me. I've had, I've had a few encounters where...like...it's not been pleasant or...um...[...] er...I've wanted it to stop before it had or...but it's never been extreme

Juliet

I mean I was not, I was not assaulted in the sense that it was not rape like...you know the sex was consensual but... .. I don't think I realised it, I never called it like assault, but I do think it was rough and I do think it was not about me at all. And it was not...you know it was something that I did because I just...it made being with him more bearable, it made living there in that like...more bearable but it was not something that I liked doing. But I don't know if I could call it rape or assault because it was a relationship that I chose to be in.

Maddie

Maddie continued to detail the sexual abuse from her husband for over 800 words, including vaginal cuts and bruises, coercion and psychological manipulation. Despite going over multiple incidents in close detail for so long, Maddie finished her description with the words, "but yeah, no sexual assault necessarily" to explain she had never experienced assault. I was left momentarily speechless.

Balos and Fellows (1991) discuss the issue of "nonstranger rape" in detail, referring to what they call the "legal oxymoron" (p.604) of the term in two ways. Firstly, that by a

"woman" consenting to any form of relationship with a man (anything from remote colleague to husband), she unknowingly also consents to sex with that man. Secondly, it is presumed she is responsible for "plac[ing] herself in a situation that might result in sexual contact, and, therefore, she must accept the consequences of her own conduct" (p.605). Here we see a direct contradiction to the idea that veeples' 'safety work' is unnecessary or overreactive; in this example the verson is reprimanded for not being careful enough. In addition, it serves to perpetuate the harmful notion that veeple are the property of their related men, they are not people in their own right. As Balos and Fellows (1991) point out, you don't just have to be the wife, you could also be the niece or even the colleague from work. Any pre-existing relationship with a man therefore becomes a pretext for sex.

It is important to note that some of my participants would have entered marriage before the UK law on marital rape changed⁶⁵. With marriage a contractual partnership, women consented to the nature of the contract which assumed consent to sexual availability. In my interview with Maureen we had a brief discussion on this issue, including what it means to have consented to a sexual act,

Maureen: Do you mean properly...how do you mean by sexual assault?

Lauren: Anything at all, anything that's...

M: That's somebody's done to you that you didn't want doing?

L: Yep

M: ...No

L: ...what is it that you were thinking of in your mind?

M: Well I don't know, I, I I...did you mean...[sigh] see I didn't know if you meant sexual assault on my body by somebody who I was a partner with and things that we did...

⁶⁵ In the UK, marital rape was defined as illegal in 1991, and legislatively reinforced by the Sexual Offences Act 2003.

L: Would you have consented to it?

M: Yes, so that's not sexual assault is it?

What was unclear in Maureen's response was to what exactly she had consented to; the relationship, the sexual encounter as a whole, or to the specific 'assault' she was not sure had happened. The pivotal issue across all of these examples is that the very definition of rape and abuse are not accepted in concrete social terms, at least not in practice. With veeple constantly asking themselves 'was that really abuse?' we can only make limited progress in dismantling a system designed to oppress them. Crucially, the legal definition of rape has only recently shifted to include 'marital rape' under the umbrella of rape; without the legal recourse to even discuss a case of rape within marriage, this kind of violence could be more easily hidden away within the domesticity of the partnership. With several of my interviewees, there was a sense of taking for granted a certain level of coercion in partnerships, which was disrupted by me calling it into question during the interview.

Similar to Maddie and Maureen in terms of how they described their abuse, some participants also discussed issues they brought up in response to me asking about sexual abuse but did not label them as such. They would add "not that it is really abuse" (Bridget) but would describe an event where they either explicitly declined consent or were not in a position to give consent. For example, when asked if she had experienced sexual assault, Bridget initially replied "no" but then added,

No... um... the only thing that I thought 'mm'⁶⁶ was when...I was expecting my first baby and...and I was overdue but I do...believe it was genuine...the GP...did a very very high internal examination so... I think perhaps he was being completely genuine but it didn't feel very pleasant and I didn't actually like that but I do think it was genuine um...but that

⁶⁶ 'Mm' was paired with a facial wince from Bridget.

it is locked there, you know, it's in my...mind or my.body is feeling as a not nice experience but... you can't say it was abuse or anything^.

Bridget

Something that concerned me during this part of my interview with Bridget was that she seemed unclear as to whether *I* would define her experience as assault. What made me feel uncomfortable was that there was a sense that somehow my 'expert positioning' or some sort of 'authority' on the subject was where she wanted to gain some validation, some agreement that she was right to consider it 'not abuse'. The very fact that Bridget retained that doubt, that need for external validation of her certainty, left me feeling burdened in how to respond adequately to her. In the moment I simply kept my face neutral and said "OK". Reflecting on this, I do not feel this was necessarily the best response I could have had. Still, I felt as though I ought not to take a position on Bridget's experience and, rightly or wrongly, I felt simply moving onto the next question was the easiest course of action. As mentioned in my Methodology chapter, these reflections are an opportunity for my research practice to grow and are an important part of practising ethical interviewing.

Reproduction

Another way in which intrusions on the vagina were described was in reference to pregnancy and childbirth. One aspect in particular that stood out was the perceived shift in openness about their body once they became pregnant.

But I think when you become pregnant and once you start going to the clinics for all the check-ups... everything else goes out the window and it sounds crudely to say it, but you'd open your legs to the world and 'off you go' sort of thing because this is how it is, people have to look at you, check you and that...so it's no good being shy and timid about it

Maureen

Maureen explains that for her, attending regular clinic appointments where vaginal exams were commonplace and to be expected, any shyness she might have had around having

someone look at or touch her genitalia seemed to disappear. Whilst not directly linked to the vagina, Roxanne also noted that as a pregnant woman you are also likely to often receive a stranger's touch on the expanded belly, a phenomenon widely seen across many forms of popular culture (Being the Parent, 2017; Hsieh, 2018). In her work on pregnant bodies, Longhurst (2000) discusses the 'complex corporeographies' of pregnant bodies, discussing how certain corporeal practices become normative during pregnancy. Maureen and Bridget (below) both discuss this change in how they saw themselves and held themselves during pregnancy and childbirth.

Everything goes out the window when you're in labour. It takes over basically. So you...you don't have...the opportunity to worry about anything other than...than what's going on, it just takes over your body so you are out of control completely [...][and afterwards when] you've got your legs up in the air and you're being stitched up but...in the euphoria of having had a baby...you're on...I think it must be to do with the chemicals that are released...you are on a different plane somehow so...you know, that...I remember being stitched up I didn't bat an eyelid...didn't bat an eyelid

Bridget

Bridget's description of her mind and body as being "on a different plane" is significant because it highlights a time in which the vagina is at the forefront of the event and yet the mind remains disconnected from it. In a sense, the body acts independently of the self which raises questions about embodied selfhood. Dissociation from the body during or after childbirth has been explored for its negative effects and even as an early indicator of postpartum post-traumatic stress disorder (Ayers, 2017). In terms of physicality, the participants who had given birth all discussed being more comfortable with their legs open, as we see above in Bridget ("legs up in the air") and Maureen ("open your legs to the world") than when they had previously been not-pregnant. Indeed, some of the neverbeen-pregnant participants mentioned their mental discomfort at the idea of having to spread your legs for a vaginal exam. The notion of it not being 'ladylike' to open your legs

remains a strong one in western cultures, and within parts of Asia too. Natalie, who had never been pregnant, discussed how her mother would chide her for sitting with her legs up in the air or with her knees spread apart. Megan, who had also never been pregnant, talked to me about how people would call her "mannish" for "sitting like a guy" with her knees spread open. In this way, it is understandable that both Bridget and Maureen would describe some sort of disconnect with themselves to 'allow' themselves to sit with their legs open despite it being heavily culturally entrenched not to.

In parallel to this idea of being dissociated from one's body is the notion of the body as autonomous from the self. Kim explained how this lack of control and autonomy over her own body was an issue for her during pregnancy, but particularly during childbirth because she was induced.

I went from [laughing] 0 to 60 in kind of, you know, really really quickly, which I found quite shocking cos you expect, you know, you have certain expectations and you expect it to gradually build up or whatever and one minute I was nowhere near giving birth and the next minute it was 'aaaahhhh!!' down the delivery room

Kim

Her description here highlights the expectations she had about the childbirth experience, and those expectations not coming to fruition as she had hoped. Kim goes on to discuss in more depth how this affected her,

So I found it really traumatic this whole kind of thing, everything was, I dunno, my body was doing its own thing, I had no control over it, and the thing it was doing was producing this child and um...and I felt completely traumatised and such...so much that I... had...birth trauma counselling, cos I just was completely...I felt like I'd done it all wrong

Kim

Kim's comment "I felt like I'd done it all wrong" is a common thread among those who attend birth trauma counselling (Priddis, Keedle and Dahlen, 2018), resulting from "a

chasm between idealised motherhood and reality" (p.17). Verdult (2009) noted that emergency c-sections had similar effects, with patients more likely to view the birth as traumatic if they had prepared for a "natural birth" and instead felt they lost "control over the birth process" and "ruined something precious like natural birth" (p.20). This sense of losing control, or put in Kim's words, the body "doing its own thing" can be terrifying for pregnant people and can also have a lasting impact on the ways in which they view their body afterwards. In Maureen's case, she felt vaginal exams were easier now that she'd experienced pregnancy and childbirth. However, despite her nursing background, Bridget refused to attend cervical screenings due to her discomfort with the process, even after giving birth to four children.

For Roxanne, the disconnect between her and her body (and what her body "did") does not impact her negatively. Instead she revels in it as an achievement, saying,

I feel quite like, 'yes! I did that!' And I've got these two boys and they're amazing yeah, and it's just like, my body did that and it's amazing.

Roxanne

We see in the same sentence she exclaims "I did that" and "my body did that". She is unbothered by the distinction between these two phrases, and views her body and self as both independent parts and one whole. Iris Marion Young (1984) discusses this separation of self in pregnant embodiment in terms of the integration of the body experience, "by rendering fluid the boundary between what is within, myself, and what is outside, separate. I experience my insides as the space of another, yet my own body". She goes on to suggest that the pregnant self is "split, or doubled in ways" which further highlights the significance of Roxanne's comment as feeling that *she* has done something, *and her body* has done something. There is both a separation and a unity to the embodiment which is unlike any other bodily experience my participants described.

Bianca discussed looking forward to the possibility of pregnant embodiment but feels different from some of her peers in that she is not sure she wants to keep the child she bears.

I have this like weird thing where like I really wanna experience pregnancy but I'm not sure I want children. I think the idea of carrying a child in my uterus is really interesting to me and I think I would like to experience all the weird stuff that happens to my body

Bianca

Most literature focused on surrogate motherhood is legal or political in nature (arguing for/against the support of commercial surrogacy), although some research does place importance on the individual experiences of surrogates in the childbearing, birth and 'giving away' process (Van den Akker, 2007). The key idea raised by Bianca here is the desire to *experience* pregnancy as a process separate to that of having a child and subsequently raising it. This conceptualisation of pregnancy as a stand-alone event or experience was not discussed by any other participants although some of the never-been-pregnant veeple did mention their feelings at the prospect or possibility of pregnancy. For example, Rosa stated that she feels her body "wants babies" now that she is nearing 30; similarly Maddie was feeling the time-pressure of her fertility in conflict with her not feeling ready to be pregnant and the idea of childbirth leaving her "totally freaked out".

There was a general understanding amongst my participants that the experience of pregnancy would be individual to each verson; with some comparing their experiences/potential experiences to those of the other 'women' in their family, such as their own mothers, sisters and grandmothers. Lydia mentioned that her mother had "warned [her] how fertile the women in our family are...a boy just has to wink at you", but that she also anticipated an easy pregnancy as her mother also mentioned how healthy and well she felt with pregnancy. Jean seconded this comment in her interview, "I loved every minute of [my pregnancy]. I was never as healthy. Same as Mum".

Menstruation

Whilst reproduction was framed as an optional bodily experience, menstruation was discussed by all as a mostly inescapable inevitability. Most participants viewed menstruation as an unfortunate necessity or something they deliberately avoided (with use of 'The Pill' or other medical means). One of the issues raised was that managing

menstruation was not just about physically managing the flow but also abdominal pain, mood swings, and for some veeple, navigating sexual activity. Two participants of menstrual age (i.e. not post/menopausal) had chosen to completely halt their periods, one via testosterone injections (as part of gender transition) and one via the contraceptive implant. It is crucial to remind ourselves here that all the veeple I interviewed were had menstruated at some point in their lives even if that had been stopped (by reaching menopause or by medical intervention to cease the periods).

In terms of the embodiment of menstruation, the management of menstrual blood was a common topic. Several participants made reference to 'leaking' menstrual blood to be a situation to avoid, with one admitting to being "that girl" who stained her clothes with menstrual blood at school and how embarrassing that was, an issue discussed in numerous previous studies (Kissling, 1996; Roberts, 2004; Lee and Sasser-Coen, 1994, all cited in Schooler et al., 2005). Greer argues that "the success of the tampon is partly due to the fact that it is hidden" (1971, p.50) and an important issue that was raised by the veeple I spoke to was keeping menstruation unseen. The ideal scenario was seen as one in which nobody would be able to tell that one had their period, there was no leaking blood or 'unsightly' period products on view; a successfully 'managed' vagina was one that showed no signs of menstruation. Fingerson (2006) explores the idea of concealing menstruation as a masculine-based concept of the body "because for women, menstruation is ordinary" (p. 15) and that the cultural messages sent to girls and women via media representations, female hygiene product placement and advertisement and social handlings of menstruation are that "menstruation is a dirty, unsanitary secret" (p. 16).

Menstrual shaming is a widespread issue; a news article comments on photo-sharing platform *Instagram*'s removal of artist Rupi Kaur's photograph of a woman with menstrual blood on her trousers and bed sheet in 2015, "it speaks volumes that the sight of period blood makes people uncomfortable in a world where we are consistently exposed to images that are actually explicitly sexual, violent and gory" (Gray, 2015). In an article for news website *Al Jazeera*, Erika Sánchez argues that menstruation taboos are a "deeply ingrained form of misogyny" (Sánchez, 2015), an issue further demonstrated by the media

controversy surrounding Kiran Gandhi's decision to run the London Marathon without any 'menstrual management', or as she called it, "going with the flow" (Gandhi, 2015). The idea that an ideal vagina is one that is not bleeding was reflected in the interviews I undertook, and a variety of methods were employed to ensure management was achieved that was comfortable, hygienic and crucially, socially acceptable. Ultimately, a 'successful' vagina was not a bleeding vagina.

Several of my younger (than 40) participants referenced reusable sanitary products such as cloth pads and the menstrual cup as eco-friendly, more economical alternatives to the traditional pad and tampon binary. Those who used the menstrual cup commented that they had become much more comfortable with being intimate with themselves as the nature of the cup demands an intimate physical knowledge of your vaginal canal in order to correctly place the cup, perhaps similar to the use of a 'diaphragm' as an internal vaginal contraceptive. Users of the cup also noted more familiarity and a sort of 'forced comfort' in holding the cup of blood in their hands, maybe smelling or tasting it before discarding the contents. This was similar to those who used re-usable pads as it involves rinsing out the pad and so provides a clear visual picture of the amount of blood leaving the pad. This is in comparison to a disposable pad or tampon which may be more quickly discarded without such close care, attention and inspection. It was interesting that my participants viewed reusable products as a 'modern' invention when in fact they predate the disposable sanitary napkin.

Kit (24, nonbinary) talked about the benefits of hiding menstruation as someone who does not identify as a woman; whilst they had to be physically internally aware of their vagina, the fact that the successful placing of the cup meant not noticing menstruation for several hours or even a full day meant that the cup was a helpful part of managing Kit's ongoing body dysphoria. Alex (21, genderfluid) discussed how since beginning testosterone injections, menstruation had ceased for them which, similar to Kit, was a relief from the often-present body dysphoria. Bianca (27, ciswoman) commented humorously that since she now has the contraceptive implant and her periods have ceased, she actually forgot they exist and was surprised I raised the issue of menstruation in our interview:

When I think of vaginas right now I don't think of periods because I have the implant in my arm so I [laughs] don't get periods, so it's really interesting that you brought up periods and I was just like, 'Of course! Of course she'd talk to me about periods!' [laughs]

Bianca

The 'changing body' narrative of the pre-menstrual to menstrual child was heavily linked to sociocultural ideas of womanhood and femininity, the cultural aspect of which I discuss further in Chapter 6. From an embodied perspective, my participants did not discuss much about their own physicality and understandings of such physicality. Instead, there was descriptive talk about the circumstances, including which other players were present (usually mother and/or sister) and what information sharing occurred prior to and during this time (see Chapter 4).

Intriguingly, whilst the pregnancy and childbirth aspects of reproduction brought forth ideas around productivity (making, growing, bearing), menstruation was not talked about in these terms at all by participants. Martin (1991, p.486) notes that "by extolling the female cycle as a productive enterprise, menstruation must necessarily be viewed as a failure". Whilst my participants did not explicitly discuss feeling that their periods were 'monthly failures of being' there were implicit tones of a general unhappiness about menstruation. For many, severe pre/menstrual pain and discomfort were big influencers into how negatively they viewed 'that time of the month'. The overall agreement was that the ideal vagina is one which does not bleed.

Ideal state

This concept of an 'ideal vagina' crops up in several more intriguing ways. From health and infections to pubic hair and cleanliness, another important part of the narrative surrounding the physicality of the vagina was the idea of an ideal state for the genitals to be in. Many participants discussed an 'unhealthy' vagina as bringing them discomfort both physically and emotionally. The variety of issues discussed ranged from thrush and cystitis to prolapse and herpes. Several women had experienced thrush; three women in particular had experienced thrush to an extensive and repeated degree. The

uncomfortable sensation of an itchy vagina was agreed by most as one of the worst 'states' a vagina could be in. My participants spoke openly about being able to touch and look at themselves to assess their genital health, checking for lumps or cysts, ingrown hairs or abnormal discharge. The general consensus was that any usual shyness about one's body ought to be put to the side if you are needing to look or touch yourself for health reasons. This was extended to allowing touch from a health professional, including attending cervical smears, although a few participants admitted they do not attend screening appointments due to being uncomfortable with the insertion process.

Nonetheless there was an overall sense that the presence of a medicalised or health-centred narrative would override most inhibitions about the body.

In terms of physical discomfort, the idea of a healthy vagina was referred by participants as the ideal state for the genitals to be in, but the social stigma of health was also an issue. Maddie, who has herpes, discussed the taboo of having what she felt was described as a "dirty" problem, mostly due to the lack of education around sexual health. The predominant issue discussed with health was the physical discomfort disrupting the normal 'functioning' of the vagina. As Maddie puts it,

The sign of knowing that your vagina is fine is like, not feeling it, right? Like...if you don't notice it's there

Maddie

Maddie's phrase 'not feeling' links to a sociocultural meaning of vagina as an absence (Braun and Wilkinson, 2001). Psychoanalytic formulations based around a physical absence (especially as a 'lack of penis') are reflected in a conceptual absence in which veeple are discouraged from speaking about the vagina⁶⁷, touching the vagina or from noticing it at all. Rees (2013) argues that this conceptual absence has a touch of irony to it; that the vulva/vagina holds so much cultural weight and significance that it has been pushed into the shadows by a jealous patriarchy designed to oppress veeple. Whilst my data does not directly corroborate this position, I share her sentiment that there is

⁶⁷ This is explored in more depth in Chapter 4.

certainly a clear link between the denigration of the genitalia and that of the people who have them.

Cleanliness and hygiene talk was scattered in and among explorations of sexual health. An important facet of the 'ideal vagina' was the 'sanitised vagina', i.e. to hide much of what occurs naturally such as hair, smells, and menstruation in order to 'feel right' and often in order to appease a sexual (even prospective) partner. Capitalist consumerism of course feeds this insecurity, reinforcing that in order to be 'sex ready' you must first purchase a set of appropriate management tools, washes, ointments, creams etc. to be on the path to a good sex life. This brings up two pertinent issues; firstly the use of (entirely unnecessary) cosmetic products; and secondly the need to be socially accepted by others. This highlights the ways in which selfhood is constructed through interaction with others. Very few participants admitted to using so-called 'feminine hygiene' products, but several mentioned their dislike of such things, claiming a 'natural' vagina was the ideal. With regards to being acceptable to others, particularly current/prospective partners, the need for the vulva/vagina to be perceived as positive was implied throughout my interviews.

In reality and in a day to day basis, how I feel about my vulva, my vagina, has been dependant on like, what sexual partners will say about it. So, you know, if I have, like a sexual encounter and a guy says like, 'oh that's a really beautiful pussy' ... I'm like happy to hear that, and I'm almost kind of relieved, where I think like, 'oh, [sighs] ok it's an acceptable, or it's a nice enough vulva' and there's nothing to have been worrying about all these years

Elle

Elle goes on to say that she "hate[s] that validation needs to come from... a heterosexual male partner...but that is how it is right now". Schick et al., (2010) found that "greater dissatisfaction with genital appearance was associated with higher genital image self-consciousness during physical intimacy, which, in turn, was associated with lower sexual esteem [and] sexual satisfaction" (p.394). Elle demonstrates self-awareness of what she refers to as her physical reality versus her mental idealism. In her mind, she would very

much like to not need external validation, but she accepts that this is a part of how she builds her self-esteem which in turn impacts her sexual satisfaction. She can relax and enjoy sexual intimacy, knowing that her partner/s appreciate her body.

Lydia reported that she felt her high self-esteem about her vulva (it's size, shape and sensitivity) also primarily came from having been extensively complimented on it by sexual partners, "I know it's a good-looking cunt, you know? And I always get told it smells good and tastes good too". Lydia's comment brings in an important facet to the ideal vagina, that of both smell and taste, not just visual aesthetics. Vaginal smell and taste were discussed explicitly by some participants, particularly in relation to cunnilingus. Recent research shows a sharp increase in reported engagement in oral sex for all genders over the last 50 years (Backstrom, Armstrong and Puentes, 2012) with concerns over the acceptability of one's genitalia a more frequent concern in parallel (Bay-Cheng and Fava, 2011).

Other facets of the 'ideal vagina' in relation to sex include tightness (a 'tight' vagina is a 'good' vagina, (Braun and Kitzinger, 2001b) which, for many cultures, links to a status of virginity, much like the ideas around a 'broken hymen' and hymenoplasty to 'reinstate virginity' (Kaivanara, 2016). For example, Hamia (who identifies herself as an Arab Muslim) mentioned she would be worried to use tampons as she had heard from her friends that they take away your 'virginity', something of cultural and personal importance to her. Whilst hymenoplasty was not something that surfaced in my interviews, labiaplasty was. Two participants admitted they had considered surgery to 'correct' their prominent labia, something they felt was an aesthetic issue, rather than one that caused them physical discomfort (i.e. would be considered as not medical but cosmetic surgery). Labiaplasties and 'cosmetic cutting' have been steadily on the rise in the West for the past 20 years (Braun, 2019) with 'designer vaginas' also receiving much more media attention (Braun and Kitzinger, 2001b; Braun, 2005, 2009).

As briefly mentioned in discussing attraction to a current/prospective sexual partner, pubic hair was an important part of the embodied understanding of one's vulva.

Removing body hair, especially shaving, was an activity all western women I spoke to

agreed was assumed even from an early age, not necessarily for the pubic region, perhaps the underarms and legs; getting rid of hair was an issue they were aware of and usually encouraged to participate in, "[endorsing] the assumption that a woman's body is unacceptable if unaltered" (Toerien and Wilkinson, 2003, p.333). A few veeple said they didn't consider pubic hair removal until they were faced with the prospect of wearing swimwear that displayed their hairs, or engaged in sexual activity, although most who discussed hair removal for sex were more concerned with the effects on cunnilingus rather than (heterosexual) penetrative sex.

The removal of body hair, especially pubic hair, is a relatively recent cultural phenomenon. The effects of this can be seen even beyond the physical body in the clothes available to buy; swimwear that reveals the high upper leg crease or even parts of the labia is marketed specifically to those wishing to 'show-off' their hairless pubic areas. Bikini waxing salons have appeared on high streets and the sight of a 'full bush' on television or film is now much rarer. With my younger (than 40) participants, there was an implication that choosing not to remove pubic hair (or to remove little of it) was a deliberate act of rebellion against societal pressures. Those individuals also often sat outside the norm in other ways such as identifying as not-heterosexual, and/or not-cisgendered, and thus are considered socially 'unacceptable' or 'deviant' for other reasons.

The vagina needing to be 'tidy' and 'acceptable' relates to what Norbert Elias referred to as "the civilising process and formalisation of manners [which] involves the management and concealment of body functions and processes" (Jackson and Scott, 2014, p.570). This "emotional barrier...grows continuously" (Elias, 1939, p.138) with bodily functions still guarded by taboos governing what is acceptable. As I discussed earlier when exploring menstruation, there has long been a degree of taboo around bodily functions, especially 'female' bodily functions, and especially 'female' reproductive functions. Menstruation in this way has been kept hidden under a banner of 'unacceptable' and thus efforts to conceal any trace of it were important.

Lastly, to address a point made by Natalie, that the colour of one's labia can be a significant marker against which an ideal vagina is perceived. Natalie commented that

darker coloured labias were, in her culture, seen as having had more sex, which was stigmatised.

Yeah, if the colour of that part is pink, let's say..which is actually the white woman's vagina I think is more likely to be in that colour...and that is regarded as more pure or more cute or sexy. And if you have a darker skin tone...down there...and that is like, oh my gosh, probably had lots of sex...it's not good.

Natalie

Natalie points out the clear racism in this point of view; that the shade of your skin tone would indicate on any level your 'purity' or that the darkness of one's skin would contribute to them being 'tainted' is fundamentally racist in principle. Natalie's comments also raise the issue of being highly sexually active (or considered to have been, true or not) being perceived in negative terms, something which I discuss further in Chapter 6.

Conclusion

In this chapter I have explored my participants' reported experiences with their vulvas as embodied narratives, focusing on the areas of sexual touch (including non-consensual touch), reproduction, menstruation and the idea of the vagina having an idealised state. Issues that were raised varied throughout the different aspects of embodiment, but strong themes included a separation of self and body in parallel to a feeling of 'wholeness' with oneself. In addition, the relationship between the self and 'others' (whether specific to particular people, such as sexual partners, or more generally to cultural 'others'), was evidently important to my participants in how they discussed their experiences.

The sense of touch has been pivotal in this chapter, with touch operating as the central sense for interacting with one's vulva. There is a clear distinction to be made between one's own touch, and the touch of another; furthermore, the touch of another can be interpreted differently according to differing contexts. What is stimulating or arousing in one context can be frightening or traumatic in another; indeed, in some contexts there could be no strong feelings either way, or a sense of neutrality to the touch (such as

gynaecological examinations which were described as neither arousing nor frightening, and depending on the individual could be described as either 'not unpleasant' or 'unpleasant'). Thus, it is not simply the physicality of the experience, but how it is interpreted by an embodied self. As Jackson and Scott (2010) write, "we do not perceive by physical sense alone: the work of perception is accomplished by an embodied *self*, someone who not only has 'sense organs' but is capable of active, reflexive *sense-making* by virtue of her social being, social location and personal biography" (p.147, emphasis in original). In this way, it is not simply the *touch* that is significant, but how it is interpreted by an embodied self.

A running theme throughout this chapter has been one of choice, and a complex unravelling of what sorts of choices are available to veeple and in which contexts. For example, the older married women I spoke to accepted having to be sexually available to their husbands as part of their expectations of heteronormative married life. Similarly, all my participants understood acts they undertook to avoid sexual assault or the threat of sexual assault, as normal and part of everyday life.

In both of these themes we see an overarching idea of the vagina as dynamically relational to the self. The sense of one's closeness to their body, especially the vagina, can 'zoom in' and 'zoom out' in relation to the experience. In order to undergo gynaecological procedures, several veeple noted they 'checked out' of themselves and of reality in order to cope with the discomfort and/or pain of the examination. For those that had experienced childbirth, again there was a strong sense of separation from body and self as well as a simultaneous entanglement of these concepts within the self.

As part of this notion of closeness to body and self, there was a strong undercurrent of wanting the vagina to remain 'under their control'. The veeple I interviewed wanted to have agency over their bodies, from choosing the right menstrual product (if any) to contraception choices and pubic hair arrangements. Nonetheless, there remained a narrative of the vagina remaining 'uncontrollable', such as the regular monthly bleeds (for some), hair continuing to grow or not (e.g. in ageing).

Ultimately, the vagina is conceptualised here as powerful, changeable and sometimes even dangerous. This may, on the surface, seem to perpetuate negative stereotypes of the vagina as 'dangerous' and certainly there is evidence to support that position. However, there were also strong forces amongst the veeple to reunite with their genitalia, to accept themselves and their bodies, and to live 'in harmony' with their vaginas. Much of the continued discontent with the vagina related to how veeple were treated, especially in relation to gender ideals and cis-heteronormativity. I discuss the role of the concept of 'woman' in relation to the vagina in the next chapter.

Chapter 6: The Cultural Vagina

After discussing how vaginas are talked and embodied, I now turn to the wider sociocultural meanings surrounding the vulva/vagina and *how* it means. As discussed in my Methodology chapter, one of the 'new' questions I added to the interview schedule following the pilot MA research was 'what does it mean to you to have a vagina?' (see Appendix II), but ideas on the meanings associated with having a vagina surfaced both in answer to this question and elsewhere in the interviews.

Commonly shared meanings derive from cultural scenarios and discourses, but are also modified through interaction, individual biographies, and reflexive processes of the self (Gagnon and Simon, 1974; Jackson and Scott, 2010). Whilst some of the meanings discussed by my participants were widely shared, they were not expressed or interpreted in the same manner by all. Concepts of womanhood cloak much of the understandings of vaginas, with ideas of womanhood eclipsing veeple in places. Indeed, my participants discussed not just being labelled women but being treated as women. I introduce the term 'womanhood clubhouse' to describe the complex labyrinth of thresholds that must be negotiated and continually monitored, in/validating one's place within it. Importantly, the threshold first encountered is that of being assigned female at birth (AFAB), where the vagina acts as a passkey. Much of what my participants described as what it meant to be veeple, overlapped with their conceptualisations of what it means, to them, to be a woman – whether or not they identified as one. In this chapter, I trace these issues through the 'life cycle' of the vulva/vagina: from birth to birthing, from sexing to sex, and from menarche to menopause. Finally, I discuss how other people's conceptualisations of vagina impact on the vagina-owners themselves, in what I refer to as the 'shared vagina'.

The birthed vagina

In the cases of some cis women, the idea of 'having a vagina means you're a woman' was referred to positively or in a more neutral, matter-of-fact, 'this is how it is' way.

[Having a vagina] marks me as a woman, like it...it's kind of the defining feature of womanhood [...] it is the defining feature of what it means to be a woman

Maddie (29, cis)

Maddie's use of the word "marks" is interesting because it links to the labelling, the 'identifying' use of genitalia. It has been well documented that "women and men are very basically distinguished by their genitals" (Strong and DeVault, 1994, p.148) and that even before birth a child is assigned a sex based on an inspection of their genitalia (Braun and Wilkinson, 2005). This arguably becomes the first 'function' of vagina: to be socially defined as 'female'. Whilst Maddie refers to the vagina as identifying her as "a woman", I will first explore the link between vagina and being marked as a 'girl'.

With regards to unborn or newly-born veeple, there are some medical reasons for assigning sex, such as monitoring sex-dependent hereditary disorders (Colmant et al., 2013). However, much medical literature refers predominately to the 'social need' of the parents and family to 'know' the sex of the unborn child, particularly in discussions addressing any genital ambiguity. For example, one article states, "any uncertainty or doubt about a baby's sex is *extremely worrying and unsettling* for its parents and family" (Verwoerd-Dikkeboom et al., 2008, p. 510, emphasis added), while others refer to needing to alleviate 'parental anxiety' around the possible sex of their baby (Igbinedion and Akhigbe, 2012), or the need to adjust parental 'counselling' if the genitalia are considered to be ambiguous (Pinhas-Hamiel et al., 2002). It is of note that foetal sexing first looks to identify a penis, thus it is the *absence of penis* rather than the *presence of vagina* that determines being assigned 'female'. Whilst medical literature reports this as a practical issue (it is easier to see an appendage such as a penis on a sonogram than to identify the labia or clitoris), ⁶⁸, Braun and Wilkinson (2001) argue that this conceptualisation of the

⁶⁸ If a penis cannot be identified, it is often the uterus that is next searched for.

vagina as an *absence* leaks into the sociocultural meanings ascribed to the vulva/vagina in a wider context.⁶⁹

The idea that both sex and gender are dichotomous has been linked to the flawed assumption that genitals themselves are naturally dimorphic (Kessler, 1998) with genitals perceived to be anomalous (intersexed) posing a threat to social order; "a symbolic insult to a deeply held system of beliefs" (Perper, 2000, p.294). As in the medical literature, the predominant issue with genital ambiguity is a social one. It is rooted in the expectations of parents, family and wider society that all children must belong to one of two boxes: girls or boys. This initial boxed categorisation of 'girl' or 'boy' is expected to remain with the child for the rest of their life, albeit 'graduating' to the adult version 'woman' or 'man'. As West and Zimmerman (1987) argue, the category of gender assigned to a child becomes as "static" (p.126) as our social understandings of categories of sex. As I will discuss later in the chapter, this systemic binary categorisation of children can be extremely damaging, especially to those who later realise they do not identify with the sex or gender they have been assigned (and continually monitored for).

The social expectation to find out the (assumed dimorphic) sex of an unborn child has kept its significance since the technology arrived in the 1950s (Stainton, 1985; Taylor, 2000) to the extent of 'gender reveal' parties becoming a North American ritual in the last decade, where the sex of the unborn child is announced to the parents and their families and friends (Pasche Guignard, 2015). Pasche Guignard (2015) notes that the 'gender-reveal' almost always involves a display of the colour blue or pink to be able to rapidly and visually 'announce' the sex of the unborn child, "a well-established and unmistakable symbolic code in North America" (p.486). Thus, while it is a medical professional (using "socially agreed biological criteria" (West and Zimmerman, 1987, p.127) who assigns a sex to the child, for most other than the immediate family of the child it is then the assumed genitalia that becomes the identifier (except for occasions where the child's genitals are visible to others). Indeed, it could be argued that the genitals of the child themselves are

-

⁶⁹ See Chapter 2 for more from Braun and Wilkinson; see Chapter 4 for how a conceptual absence or 'lack' relates to the vocabulary assigned to vulva/vaginas.

not significant, it is the wider meaning of what society deems 'girls' and 'boys' to be; from stereotypes such as wanting to 'dress up a girl' to endless debates on 'which sex is easier to bring up'. In this way, the 'gender reveal' (regardless of whether it is announced in the form of a ritual or in a less elaborate, but nonetheless meaningful, declaration of 'it's a girl/boy',) is not just about saying to the world 'my un/born child has a vagina!', it is about informing the world of which of the two static boxes the child will inhabit, dictating how others will interact with them⁷⁰.

Maddie's view that having a vagina marks her as a woman was shared by several cis women I interviewed; they too felt their vaginas identified them as women. Far fewer, however, spoke of how the vagina first marked them as a girl. For my participants, 'girlhood' was not referred to in the same way as, or even alongside, 'womanhood'. Girlhood was referred to as the state of being prior to menarche, which is indicative of menarche being perceived as the "entrance to...womanhood" (Lee and Sasser-Coen, 2015, p.10). Germaine Greer comments that once a baby is marked 'girl', the vulva/vagina (and particularly the internal reproductive organs) are distinctly ignored and not discussed until menarche (1999). This seems to reflect the reported experiences of my participants in which few experiences of having a vagina were linked to childhood⁷¹ but rather to elements found in perceived 'adulthood': menstruation, sexual pleasure and reproduction. Nonetheless, the assumed gender of the child, based on genitals largely ignored in girlhood, 72 continues to be significant. Girls and boys are universally raised and treated differently. Whilst what it means to be a qirl is beyond the scope of this thesis (particularly as my participants reflected mostly on their adulthood), one lens through which to explore this would be to conceptualise girl as 'woman-to-be'. Thus, the differential treatment of 'girls' 73 reflects the differential treatment of adult women.

•

⁷⁰ Indeed, much has been written on the perceived differences between 'girls' and boys' including writings surrounding female feticide in India (Ahmad, 2010), China (Cheng, 2006); in both (Eklund and Purewal, 2017), and discussions of intercultural feminist stances (Moazam, 2004).

⁷¹ The exceptions to this were those that had experienced sexual abuse as a child, and those which reported 'early' masturbatory practices, which is discussed in Chapter 5.

⁷² It is important to note that boys' genitalia are not ignored in the same way.

⁷³ See Emma Renold's work for some post-millennium discussions on this (Renold, 2002, 2004, 2006, 2007).

[Having a vagina] is part of being a woman, I think that's what it means to me.

Maureen (70, cis)

It is of note that whilst Maureen felt the vagina equalled woman, she did not suggest that woman equalled *only* vagina; we see this in her phrasing "part of being". Similarly, although Maddie sees vagina as the "defining feature" of womanhood, she does not imply it is the *only* feature of 'being a woman'. This raises an important issue: the vagina may be integral to the perception of womanhood but, as crucial a threshold as it is, only one threshold does it remain. As discussed above, once marked as 'female', the next threshold of womanhood is menarche, but this does not take away the significance of the vagina 'marking' the person as woman, something that must be continually re-asserted. Whilst this might not be overt (showing what genitalia one possesses), it can be done in subtler but no less socially gendered ways. As I will discuss later, much of this is what we might consider to be 'passing as a woman'.

Whilst this wasn't necessarily Maureen or Maddie's position, it strikes me that some consider the vagina the passkey to the club of womanhood. They will tell you the club is far richer than simply the entry passkey but will still consider club membership exclusive to vagina 'key holders'. As Muscio (1998) puts it in her first edition of *Cunt*, the idea is that one can agree that "womanhood is varied and vast. But we all have cunts" (pg.6). While Muscio went on to append that "I never thought my cunt was what made me a woman, but I knew that many of my experiences as a woman were (and continue to be) centered around my cunt" (Muscio, n.d., n.p.), some still interpret her original words as weaponry to exclude trans women and gender non-conformists from 'women-only' spaces.

The pivotal tenet of the self-named 'gender critical feminists' - or 'trans-exclusionary radical feminists' (TERFs) as they are also commonly known - is that only those assigned 'female' at birth count as 'real women' because they maintain a strict division between what they refer to as 'gender' and 'sex'; thus, from their viewpoint, one may be permitted to 'change their gender' but they are unable to 'change their sex'. Those with penises, ambiguous genitalia or even those with 'man-made' (rather than 'woman-made', or 'born

with') vaginas as a result of vaginoplasties, are excluded from the clubhouse. For gender critical feminists, TERFs and transphobes alike, the vagina takes on an exclusive 'pass-key' role, with 'counterfeit' keys not accepted into their clubhouse at all; only those AFAB are considered 'women'. In this way, the clubhouse is both metaphorical and literal, as it can refer to the actual, material physical spaces from which trans women are excluded. This also extends to considering AFAB people as 'women' even if they choose not to identify as such. Thus, the anti-trans approach is to label people as male or female based on their assignment at birth, with no other criteria taken into account. In this way, trans women are excluded from the 'woman clubhouse' for not 'being real women', and yet AFAB non-binary people and men are consistently sent reminders that they are part of the 'woman clubhouse' even if they asked to have their membership revoked. Being misgendered and continually forced in to or out of these 'member's only' areas has highly devastating, lasting effects on the gender non-conforming and trans community.

When considering the trans-exclusionary position, it is worth noting that whilst it affects all gender non-conforming people, the excluding process focusses much more on people with penises than those with vaginas. Furthermore, much of the issue revolves around what is discussed as 'women's safety' and areas considered to be traditionally 'women's spaces'. As Halberstam (2018) writes, AFAB gender non-conformists, particularly trans men, tend to be ignored and invisiblised, where trans women are vilified, attacked and murdered. Ergo, with the clubhouse, there are stricter rules for who is allowed *in* rather than worrying so much about those that want *out*.

The bleeding vagina

Whilst my participants did not report much from their childhoods in terms of their genitalia, puberty marked a time when genitals took on significance again as their bodies changed to becoming adult. For veeple, one important landmark is menarche, and how this is culturally understood as 'becoming a woman', not for the hormonal or bodily changes but for the social practices it entails. As Thorne (1993) notes, this transition is "not dictated by the degree of one's physical maturity or the state of one's hormones;

social practices shape the transition" (p.147). However, for my participants, the social significances of menarche differed from person to person.

My mum had been prepping me for it and, um, she very much associated it with it, you know, like womanhood, like 'you're a woman now' and I'm like...no, really not.

Millie (24, non-binary)

The idea that menstruation meant becoming a woman, was echoed by many of my participants. Menarche is, of course, just one example of how a child with a vagina is prepared for adult life with a vagina, but it remains a prominent one. Culturally speaking, much has been written about the 'celebration' of menarche as a symbol of 'becoming a woman' (Delaney, Lupton and Toth, 1988; Britton, 1996; Fingerson, 2006) although as I will explore later, once menstruation begins, the next thresholds of 'womanhood' appear and some, arguably, remain unachievable.

For Millie, menarche was different because as a nonbinary person she did not identify with her mother's perspective on her periods, rather seeing the event instead in purely practical terms - that her body's reproductive organs were maturing into adulthood. By openly not identifying as a woman – something her mother finds difficult to grasp – Millie continually wrestles with her mother's views on womanhood. It is possibly worth mentioning here that Millie is autistic which, as an autistic person myself, I feel contributes to her ability to conceptualise her menarche in such concrete, practical terms. With concepts of gender not making any personal sense to her, it remained 'obvious' to Millie that it was simply a bodily function and not something that needed to be tangled up with slippery notions of gender, all of which carry heavy social burdens. Nonetheless Millie described a long, difficult, and ongoing process of trying to explain her nonbinary identity to her mother⁷⁴.

and Smith, 2012; George and Stokes, 2018).

⁷⁴ Readers may be interested to research autism and gender identity (as well as sexuality) – with some autistic people identifying themselves as 'auti-gender', i.e. that they feel their autism means they 'see through' the illogicality of sociocultural conceptualizations of gender and sexuality. For example, there have been reports of higher likelihoods of non-heterosexuality among autistic populations (Gilmour, Schalomon

Kit and Avery, who also identify themselves on the nonbinary/genderfluid spectrum similarly discussed puberty, and particularly menarche as slightly disorienting for them since they did not find the concept of womanhood appealing, or relevant to their identities. Whilst they did identify as 'girls' at the time, they have since reflected on this and retrospectively understand their past feelings as partially due to discomfort in their social role of 'girl'. Indeed, all my trans* participants mentioned discomfort during puberty in comparison to their cis peers (even if they did not have a means of making sense of that discomfort at the time).

For the cis women I interviewed the idea that the beginning of menstruation meant they were 'becoming women' did not bother them. They did not struggle in the same way in accepting the societal expectation of womanhood when becoming menstruators, even if they did describe some irritation at having to 'deal with' the blood. Megan, for example, found the onset of periods particularly inconvenient considering that she often wore white because of her regular cricket playing. She describes how she was upset to 'become a woman' but not because of the wider social implications, only for the practical inconvenience of having to wear something extra to participate in her usual activities: which she noticed immediately was different to 'boys'.

Megan, however, had "managed to avoid" periods for longer than her peers, with a relatively late menarche. Interestingly she mentioned that this was brought up in the public sphere of a classroom when the class learned about veeple who had Y chromosomes. She and her friends laughed that it "could legit be me". Megan's humour did not appear defensive, rather she said she had been unperturbed by not having her periods begin, which makes sense considering that she framed it as an inconvenience rather than something exciting or fulfilling. By contrast Hamia, an Arab Muslim woman, described being very pleased to start her period so that she might "be like the cool women in my family". She looked up to the women in her family and saw menarche as her gateway to that life for herself, saying that she finds the ritual of menstrual management brings her together with her women-friends and women-relatives. It is worth noting that overall, Hamia's perception of herself differed from Megan's; whilst Hamia embraced

strict notions of femininity, Megan rejected them. Nonetheless, they both steadfastly identify as women, which attests to the broadness of what 'woman' can encapsulate.

The vagina and sex

Braun and Wilkinson (2005) found that the cis women they interviewed in their research on gendered identity "affirmed a link between having a vagina and being a woman" and explored this link "through associated functions (heterosex and reproduction)" (p.511). Here we see that once the initial identification process has taken place, the key to the clubhouse has been accepted, the task is to find a place within the womanhood club, which involves negotiating social expectations of what it means to 'be a woman'. It is of interest that Megan, a heterosexual cis woman, associates her vagina with her womanhood "only ...during sex", because "that is what is for, job done". In Megan's case, having heterosex affirms a link between her vagina and her identity as a woman.

However, Megan also expressed an internal contradiction in that she "usually" (outside of sex) "feels more like a male" despite still identifying as a woman.

But I don't really picture that to do with...the particular sexual organs that I have to be honest, I think of [being woman] more as like a social construct [...] Everything about me is actually more like a boy, [not] biologically who I was, more sort of like, why are my opinions and attitudes and stuff more in line with like the male perspective on life than the female?

Megan (cis)

Megan's contradiction lies in the expression of feeling she associates her vagina with her womanhood "during sex" and yet states she does not associate her womanliness with the "particular sexual organs that I have". This suggests that heterosex affirms her womanhood in ways which are not necessarily 'biological' or indeed physical, but rather linked to the sexual scripts at work during heterosexual intimacy. As Riley (1988) notes, "it's not possible to live twenty-four hours a day soaked in the immediate awareness of

one's sex," (p. 96). Megan's gendered self-consciousness emerges during heterosex but also when it comes to be considered 'woman enough'.

The penetrated vagina

Lydia, who was diagnosed with vaginismus at age 18, said her vagina refusing penetration contributed to feeling "less of a woman", particularly in how she was treated by cis men partners near the time of diagnosis. Whilst Lydia described this feeling of 'less than', Megan discussed only feeling like a woman during heterosex: the penetrated is placed on the position of women, to the extent of male on male rape being culturally considered to 'feminise' the victim (Javaid, 2016). This pertains to the penetration imperative; that penetration is the pinnacle of sexual encounters -which is not limited to heterosexual pairings. Elle reflected on her sexual encounters and what she called the "heterosexism" of her sexual life; she discussed how she likes to take on a "submissive role" and links this to feeling "traditionally feminine" in the bedroom: being dominated by a (cis)man. Interestingly, Elle did go on to discuss with me that she has felt attraction to masculine lesbian women, and suggesting that it is the masculine/feminine binary that she finds erotic in a sexual setting, rather than the physicality of the body as "male/female". Whilst this idea was not confined to heterosexual participants, those who identified as straight did all express a desire to be 'woman enough' in a heterosexual pairing, i.e. that they needed to 'play the role of the woman', however they interpreted that. This wasn't necessarily a traditional or stereotypical 'wife' role, but a gendered script that was being played out between the couple.

Lydia's discussion of how her vaginismus was handled by her GP and by her previous partners builds on the harmful idea of the 'coital imperative', i.e. that sex cannot be considered 'real' or 'proper' without penile-vaginal penetration (Jackson, 1984; Potts, 1998; McPhillips, Braun and Gavey, 2001; Potts et al., 2003). Lydia talked candidly with me about this, as she found that realising she preferred to have relationships with veeple came "hand in hand with realising I just didn't want or need to be penetrated". Whilst she didn't explain it as the 'reason' why she preferred sex with veeple, she saw it as complementary. It made her life easier – removing penises from the equation meant sex

could be negotiated differently. Lydia found that her veeple-partners were less bothered about the fact she could not (and did not want to) be vaginally penetrated. However, she was aware this was not always the case in same-sex couplings or in queer relationships, as despite research finding veeple experience more and better orgasms during queer sex than heterosexual intercourse (Willis et al., 2018), heteronormative sexual scripts can nonetheless be applied and reinforced within queer sex.

The birthing vagina

The crucial aspect of the coital imperative is that it is derived from prioritizing a reproductive view of sex. Thus, as with menarche, another important 'womanhood threshold' that comes into play is motherhood. Maureen conceptualized her vagina as serving the purpose of enabling her to have sex as well as to "give her" her child, a sentiment shared with all the mothers I interviewed. Maureen also later reflected that many women feel they are not "whole women" unless they have children and referenced her daughter-in-law who is paraplegic and unable to have children. Maureen discussed the greater acceptance "these days" of parents having non-biological children, perhaps by adoption, and recognised that some people may choose to not have children. Whilst this may not seem directly linked to the vagina, when we consider the connection Maureen makes from womanhood to motherhood (and in our western understanding of the word vagina to represent a wider sociocultural meaning of all female reproductive organs), we can see that the decision to not have children and thus 'reject' motherhood could have implications on one's perception of one's own selfhood, particularly womanhood.

Natalie reflected on her own thoughts around possibly (not) wanting to have children in the future,

I think this is...something probably has changed in my head... Because [previously] ...I problematise the idea of what does it mean to be a woman? And that was...giving birth is just part of the package you don't even question it and now I do. So, I don't know.

Natalie (31, cis, Chinese)

Her perspective has changed. She has realised she conceptualised woman to include giving birth but now that she is deconstructing those ideas in her own mind, even questioning what 'woman' means, she no longer is sure she wants to have children. Is she implying that she felt she wanted children but now realises she felt it was just expected, something she of course must do, because she identified as a woman?

In discussing the *decision* not to have children, we must also consider the navigation of motherhood space by those not *able* to have biological offspring. For example, the impact of infertility on a woman's sense of self, and the desire to follow a 'biological' route to have offspring of 'your own' such as by assisted reproduction rather than to opt for fostering or adoption of offspring from another set of parents. This issue has been discussed widely as a 'biological imperative' for prospective parents to prefer having children that are genetically linked to them rather than the "unwanted" or "leftover" children put up for foster care and/or adoption (Matějček, Dytrych and Schüller, 1978; Brinich, 1995; Bitler and Zavodny, 2002). In their book *Relative Strangers*, Nordqvist and Smart (2014) address how, among those relying on assisted conception, even a simulated resemblance becomes important to some in their journey to have children who are not biologically linked to them, thus choosing the biological parents of your child can also be an important factor in 'finding a match' (Verdult, 2009).

Furthermore, according to reports by De Jong and Kemmler (2003, as cited in Verdult, 2009), women who prepared for a natural birth and were not expecting a c-section but end up having one often say they feel they are (or will be perceived as) not being a complete woman having failed to give birth vaginally. Priddis, Keedle and Dahlen (2018) reported that comments such as "I felt like I'd done it all wrong" (Kim) were a common thread among those who attend birth trauma counselling. They argue that this results from "a chasm between idealised motherhood and reality" (p.17). This sense of lost control can be terrifying for pregnant people and can also have a lasting impact on the ways in which they view their body afterwards.

This brings me back to the idea of the womanhood 'clubhouse'. Once you are in the door (you are assumed to have 'the key') you need to negotiate interacting zones and

hierarchies, one of which involves sexuality and pleasure, and another is motherhood. Ussher et al., (2012) discuss what they refer to as the reproductive imperative, where coital sex and motherhood are positioned as mandatory within marriage. Given the reproductive possibilities of the vagina and associated organs (the ovaries, the uterus, the fallopian tubes...etc) it is perhaps not surprising that parenthood would feature as part of the clubhouse.

The next event following reproduction for my older participants was menopause. Bridget said the dryness of her post-menopausal vagina resulted in her life feeling less "geared towards sex". She noted that using assistive lubrication was something which "takes the spontaneity out of it" and thus found that overall, she was wanting less sex. This was not universal across all the post-menopausal women, but Bridget was not alone. For those of whom the idea of wanting less sex resonated, there was evidence of yet another renegotiation of 'womanness' and 'enoughness'. For some, they reframed their womanhood as one not in need of as much sex as their younger selves. For others, they utilised their relational self to help understand that what they experienced was common amongst post-menopausal people. Importantly, all those who told me they desired less sex also had anecdotes to share that proved others had experienced the same lack of feeling, that this feeling was *normal*, and that this contributed to the reality of womanhood (or being considered 'enough' of a woman).

Treated as a woman

One prevailing idea that arose in every interview was that as veeple they had all, at some point, been treated as 'women': a shared 'vagina experience'. As discussed in my methodology, the fact that I was approaching this thesis from a feminist standpoint was something that many of my participants mentioned they appreciated. Indeed, something that all my participants could agree upon was that researching the vagina was worthwhile. Whilst they did not all identify as women, they could all draw upon experiences where they had been, or continued to be, treated as women socioculturally. When asking why they wanted to take part in my research, almost all my participants referenced that they felt 'feminism', 'women's rights' or 'women's things' were important to defend and

uphold. Here we find the 'reclaiming narrative' is still of great importance. The shared vagina becomes part of another shared space: feminism.

I think that the vagina is an incredibly strong muscle in the body and I think it empowers us and it makes us...the female sex...one that can endure such...I mean, [...]I think that's just such an incredible thing but I think in today's world, women are somehow perceived as weak or the vagina is perceived as something weak

Maddie (cis)

Here, Maddie refers to another facet of the 'shared vagina', that having been labelled 'girl' or 'woman' on the basis of one's genitalia also means you are treated as a girl or woman. Maddie refers to the issue of women being perceived (and treated) as inferior to men. For her, her womanhood has been denigrated by men, she looks to shape her selfhood by finding strength in what has been used to diminish her. Thus, her vagina and the concept of woman become central in her identity. Maddie did not elaborate on how she felt about people with vaginas that are not women.

Megan, a heterosexual cis woman, raised a similar point in her interview. Although she did not link her genitalia to her womanhood in the same way as Maddie, she also sought to assert women's strength.

I like to associate myself with being a woman as, kind of like, being strong and being, like, independent and things like that

Megan (cis)

Maddie explicitly talked about reclaiming the vagina as strong, and not just symbolically. Megan's use of the word "strong" mirrors Maddie's idea of women being perceived as weak; something both women wanted to 'fight back' against.

I think I'm glad I have a vagina I'm just less happy about the way people treat me because I have one and/or...yeah, give me the necessary tools or education to appropriately care [for it].

Here, Dyke's words again focus on the idea that vaginas mean you are treated a certain way, and this is a big part of the experience of having one. By being labelled by others as 'woman' for the genitals you are assumed to have, veeple are linked together and treated in the way others believe 'women' should be treated. Importantly, intersections such as age, sexuality, disability, race and gender identity create overlapping boundaries or 'types of verson'. Thus, we can appreciate that the experiences of, for example, a white cis lesbian will differ from those of a Black heterosexual trans man.

Megan discussed at length the challenges she has felt with regards to being considered 'woman enough'. She describes being regularly mistaken as trans* despite identifying as a cis woman, and also as being wrongly assumed to be non-heterosexual. Whilst Megan stated she did not take these assumptions as contrary to her status as a woman (i.e. in her opinion, being trans* or non-heterosexual would not negate her womanhood) she was aware that others were making those connections. In chatting around this issue, Megan suggested she felt her "masculine appearance" was part of the reason she was misidentified, but also that her "attitude" was often assumed to be on the male side of the binary. The issue here is that others were not able to accept Megan's performance of womanhood as acceptable (cisnormative) womanhood, and thus challenged her status in the hierarchy. By asking her if she's "actually gay" or "actually a trans woman", others are attempting to make sense of traits they find difficult to understand in terms of binary gender. This highlights an important part of the womanhood clubhouse hierarchy: you must be able to judge the book by its cover. Importantly, Megan's childhood, adolescent and adult status as a "tomboy" was something that others anticipated would lead to a 'realisation' of her coming out as either gay, trans* or both. As Halberstam writes, this is actually a "part of a struggle with the narrow scope of conventional womanhood" (2018, p.70) and demonstrates the fine lines of acceptable womanhood within the clubhouse.

For trans* people, being considered 'enough' can be about passing⁷⁵ which can be directly linked to their safety as well as simply 'fitting in' (Wong and Lawrence, 2015). Gender attribution (Kessler and McKenna 1978), works through "rapidly scanning bodies and making assumptions about their morphologies and orientations" (Halberstam, 2018, p.58). My trans* participants described attempts at passing, but precisely what they were passing as was subject to change, and this was not just due to the lack of fixity of some of their identities (such as genderfluid, for example). Kit spoke about how they bind their chest (and are awaiting top surgery) for their own comfort but also to avoid being feminised – however when presented with binary public toilets they try to "pass as female enough" as that is the bathroom that they felt safest using. Kit told me they felt "lucky" that the "worst that's happened is a funny look". Here Kit refers to the social punishment one faces for not being successfully 'read as' one of the two binary genders, which can be anything from a discriminatory 'double take' glance to assault and murder (Lee and Kwan, 2014). This negotiation of gender performance that Kit describes highlights the differing intersectional interpretations of the need to be 'enough'. In addition to gender identity, much has been written on the varying pressure faced socially to look and behave in ways ascribed to strict binary gender coding. For example, women of colour have a long history of being described (even legally, e.g. in the early US Constitution) as 'less-than' a woman (Thomas, 2007), and butch and/or lesbian women are still not considered 'real women' in many parts of the world (Ochse, 2011).

The idea of not being 'woman enough' extends to the physical vulva/vagina in several ways. For some it might be prominent labia: two participants made explicit reference to feeling embarrassed that their prominent labia could appear not dissimilar enough to that of a penis bulge. For others it could be about managing their pubic hair or feeling that their natural scent is not 'feminine enough'. Elle, for example, considered that the way her vulva looked was of particular importance to her femininity because she felt her small breasts did not "count for much" (Elle). Elle's use of the word "count" again pertains to

-

⁷⁵ Passing, or 'being read as' is the idea that a stranger/onlooker would observe you and assume your correct gender (which may not align with that which you were assigned at birth).

this concept of the 'womanhood clubhouse'. Despite being allowed entry due to having a vagina, Elle finds she is battling an internal hierarchy of 'counting' womanhood points. Whilst Elle felt her small breasts left her with a lower womanhood 'currency', others I interviewed felt it might be their choice to not engage with other stereotypical gendered ideals for 'women', such as not shaving their body hair, "[endorsing] the assumption that a woman's body is unacceptable if unaltered" (Toerien and Wilkinson, 2003, p.333).

The impression I got is that they have got it from their parents that you do not shave your vagina. A decent woman does not shave her vagina, only porn star shave it.

Natalie (31, cis, Chinese)

An issue Natalie raises is that "porn stars" are not considered to be "decent", whatever that means. This is reflected within the womanhood clubhouse in the hierarchical nature of the comparison: to be decent is to be superior, thus 'porn stars' – and other sex workers - are inferior. In this case, the treatment of your pubic hair is a signifier for your decency. Natalie also mentioned the issue of labial skin colour: that a darker skin tone is associated with having had lots of sex - which is seen as negative. She discussed the colourist implications of these ideas of "purity", referring to both racism and classism in how darker skin tones are perceived as inferior. There is also the implication that, for veeple, there is an expectation that your 'purity' is directly controlled by your sexual experiences: the fewer you have, the more 'pure' you are, the more superior you are.

For the trans* people I interviewed, linking vagina to womanhood was complicated in a different way from that demonstrated by the cis women I interviewed. Kit, age 24, identifies as nonbinary masculine-of-centre.

I mean...like typically, old fashioned thinking would be, you have a vagina therefore you're a woman. And in this kind of new... age, anyone can have a vagina. Male, female, nonbinary. But even in this quote unquote "new" way of thinking, I still don't feel empowered by that. So

like I still don't feel connected to my vagina because I'm a nonbinary person.

Kit (24, nonbinary)

Kit refers to the idea of 'vagina equals woman' as "old-fashioned", and comments that in this "new age", gender identity does not have to be restricted by genitals, the sex assigned at birth or by the traditional gender binary. This brings up a pertinent issue – perceived cultural shift. How new is 'queer' thinking about vagina? It could be argued that, whilst the spectrum of gender and sexuality is not a 'new' idea, public awareness of these identities has increased in the last decade (Halberstam, 2018). Trans* issues are being discussed in public sectors such as health (Lombardi, 2001), education (Gegenfurtner and Gebhardt, 2017) and in law (Köhler, Recher and Ehrt, 2013). We are seeing forms that no longer restrict your gender to "male" or "female", and there is much more visibility in the media of different gender identities (see Chapter 2).

I was interested to hear that despite asserting that having a vagina did not mean one is a woman, Kit still felt disconnected from their vagina, which they reasoned was *because* they are nonbinary. Kit did explain that their understanding of their gender identity was evolving, and they had only recently 'come out' as nonbinary to their friends and family. Nonetheless, the concept of being 'outside' the gender binary is a difficult one to grasp, not just for cisgendered people but for those under the trans umbrella too. As Kit discussed in their interview, despite *being* nonbinary, and despite *recognizing* that "anyone can have a vagina", they were still affected by the prevailing idea that their vagina may be 'feminising' them. Avery, who is genderqueer, commented similarly on this issue, noting that their body dysphoria was directed towards the parts of their body that others would label as 'female', and that this was particularly hard on days they felt more masculine-of-centre. So, for example, both Avery and Kit bind their chests, and both discussed 'packing'⁷⁶ to ease their dysphoria. In both cases, binding their chests gave

⁷⁶ 'Packing' in this context refers to putting something on your crotch (usually inside underwear) to give or enhance a bulge or 'package', often to resemble a penis or testicles, but not always. Packers can be homemade (rolled up ball of socks, anything you can find) as well as shop bought with various functionalities

visible results that could be perceived by an onlooker (as well as to themselves) but packing was not something done for the benefit of an onlooker (or to avoid being misgendered). In Avery and Kit's cases, packing was a private act, done to ease their own dysphoria rather than to be noticed by others. In Avery's words, "I hope people aren't looking at my genitals in general to be honest!". It is important to acknowledge that the purpose of using vagina to identify oneself as a particular sex or gender may not be one that is embraced or indeed in harmony with the rest of one's gender identity.

The protected vagina

One negative aspect of having a vagina discussed by everyone I interviewed was as a site of vulnerability to violence, and violence against women. As I discuss in my Methodology, whilst I was prepared for this, I was nonetheless overwhelmed by the volume of incidents participants referred to as well as, in some cases, the severity. Every single participant could draw on personal experience in this area. Also as discussed in my methodology chapter, it is important to note that none of my participants had experience of female genital mutilation (FGM) and as such it was not explored within the interviews.

Nevertheless, with over 200 million veeple alive having undergone FGM in 31 countries (UNICEF, 2020), it is crucial to remember FGM as a leading issue in the fight on violence against women. With violence or the *threat* of violence in mind, a recurring theme within my interview data was that of *protecting* the vagina, particularly from men and especially from unwanted penetration.

The idea of protecting the vagina was discussed by my participants as part of an unavoidable reality for veeple. It was difficult for my participants to explain exactly the nature of the 'need to protect' that they all acknowledged was present.

I can't...I can't really...pinpoint to you...like, one thing...I think it's a lot of things. I think it's...like the social messaging of...you know, like I can't remember a time where my Mom told me, like "you should protect your

(may come with harnesses to attach securely, may give the wearer the option to urinate out of them, or penetrate a partner) and can be worn 'soft' (unerect) or 'hard' (erect).

vagina" [laughs] type thing, but I think it was definitely implied that I am, like, a girl and my parts are special

Bianca

Here Bianca highlights an important reason for the need to protect the vagina: the vagina is special. This 'specialness' was something described to me by all my participants, something that resulted in reported feelings of both vulnerability and power, often simultaneously. One aspect of protecting the vagina that my participants acknowledged was penetration. Whether by fingers, tampons, penises or medical instruments, all my participants described either avoiding or safeguarding against penetration in some way. Hamia (who is an Arab Muslim) told me that tampons are controversial within her culture due to the religious understandings of 'virginity'. Bridget (who is white British) also did not like the idea of tampons, not linked to virginity but instead linked to what she described as 'being natural'. She spoke about feeling that inserting man-made objects into the vagina was not natural, which extended to the speculum used for cervical screenings (something Bridget opts out of). Natalie (who is Chinese) used the same phrasing as Bridget of what she considered to be 'natural', but applied it to masturbation. She said she felt that using her fingers to penetrate her vagina felt "unnatural" but realised as she was talking to me that she was not applying the same criteria to her partner's penis, or to his fingers. The issue of protecting the vagina from penetration was not only linked to consent but was magnified by it. For example, in considering sexual assault, the risk one's vagina might be penetrated was at the forefront of concern. Whilst any sexual assault was considered to be unmistakably awful, there was a cultural importance assigned to the act of penetrating the vagina. This view has also been reported within scholarly work on sexual abuse (Kempe 1984; Summit and Kryso 1978; both as cited in Ronai, 1995), wherein the act of penetrating the vagina is seen as the 'worst case scenario' presented along a spectrum of assault. Despite the damaging consequences of this viewpoint, it does serve to illustrate the cultural understandings of how 'bad' unconsensual vaginal penetration is perceived to be.

One way in which my participants considered the need to protect the vagina was through comparison to the penis. Megan described how she viewed that comparison.

I have to admit it does...like...your vagina does feel like a huge area of responsibility compared to like what men have with the penis, in the sense of you're expected to like protect it in some ways but...and like others not...in the sense of 'oh you have to make sure it's with the right person', [whereas] guys can literally stick their penises in fucking hoovers and no-one cares.

Megan

Megan said she felt that in comparison to people with penises, veeple were held much more to account for their actions towards and with their genitalia, referencing the act of putting one's penis into the narrow tubing of a vacuum cleaner (usually out of curiosity or for masturbatory practices). The use of the word "stick" here is particularly useful in aiding our understanding of the comparison; whilst there is a carefulness designated to handling vulvas, Megan's use of the word "stick" to describe the manner in which the penis is placed inside the vacuum cleaner suggests a lack of care, and a lack of consequences, "noone cares". This highlights not only the differences in expected behaviours between veeple and penis-owners, but also the difference in consequences for those actions.

In considering the differences in how vulva/vaginas and penises/scrotums are perceived by society, this idea of the vagina being "special" or needing particular attention was reflected in another one of my participants' stories. When recalling a visit to a nudist beach, Kim described the difference in how she felt between looking at men's and women's bodies.

It would've been, to me it just felt wrong to be looking at, you know, I mean... blokes' willies bouncing up and down you can hardly kind of miss them really [laughs] quite comical but I don't think I would've...looked at women cos I would've felt that I was intruding, that it's not right, you shouldn't be doing that.

Here Kim refers to seeing penises as something silly or humorous, whereas she described feeling unable to look at the "women" due to feeling it was "not right". This again pertains to the need to protect the vagina, that even looking at the vulva would be inappropriate or would be intrusive in a way that looking at penises would not be.

Imagined audience

A large part of how one perceives their own 'enoughness' is an implicit orientation to an imagined audience – others who might judge or misrecognise one; the self is always constituted in relation to others. This locating process often takes the form of comparison.

I asked all my participants about their experiences encountering another vulva (in 'real life' and in the media). Looking first to 'real life' encounters, all the heterosexual participants initially denied any memory of ever encountering another 'real life' vulva, before slowly realising they all had experiences to draw upon. The mothers of daughters expressed surprise (and often laughter) when I pointed out they had previously told me they had daughters (and thus must have seen their child's genitals). Almost all heterosexual participants agreed they had, at some point, 'spotted' their own mother's vulva whilst changing or bathing. One particularly amusing (for both me and the participant) example was with Roxanne, who, like other heterosexual participants, initially denied ever seeing another vulva. She later explained in her interview that she had trained as a bikini waxer, which meant she had been exceptionally close to several vulvas. It seemed that all my heterosexual participants assumed I had meant encountering another vulva in a sexual sense; it is interesting that they all made the same assumption, particularly as they could easily recall experiences of seeing penises in non-sexual settings. When considering penises, all participants immediately had non-sexual experiences to draw upon (including seeing drawings or graffiti); penises (and testicles) were conceptualised as more present. This highlights the cultural taboo of seeing the 'female genitals' (the vagina as hidden), something which was also reflected in my participants' responses to the question relating to encountering vulva/vaginas within media settings

(books, TV, film, etc: see Chapter 2 for more discussion on the lack of vulva/vagina representation in media).

Fascinatingly, none of the non-heterosexual participants made the same assumption as their heterosexual counterparts; in fact, all of them immediately drew upon non-sexual examples in the first instance and a few times I actually had to remind some of them that earlier in the interview they had already told me they encountered vulvas during sex. However, when discussing encountering vulva/vaginas in a sexual way, many of the non-heterosexual participants made reference to how important those experiences had been for them, both in how they understood their own bodies and in how they conceptualised desire. Lydia discussed finding her first lesbian sexual encounter "life-changing".

Utterly life-changing. To see another vulva in front of me and just feel like, cool. It helped me understand my own body, and helped me be okay with how my body is too.

Lydia

For Lydia, her first sexual experience with another vagina came after several heterosex encounters with cisgender men, where she described a pressure for her body to look a certain way rather than "being okay" with how her body "is". Millie also reported that she felt a shift in her perception of vaginas after beginning to have sex with other veeple.

I always had that idea that the vagina is something ugly I guess, or undesirable and...having sex with other vagina-owners...um..kind of normalised that and...it, it kind of gives you the space to think, actually, this is desirable, like it can be part of...being desired and desiring others, as much as, like, a penis can...it's a relieving feeling.

Millie

Millie's words refer to the sociocultural notion of the vagina as "undesirable", something which all my participants mentioned in their interviews; not that they necessarily agreed or aligned themselves with that position but that the narrative of vagina as ugly genitals

had been present in their experiences.⁷⁷ Both Lydia and Millie referred to this normalisation of the vagina within sex in terms of framing their own desire but also in their relationship to their own bodies. Importantly, these reconceptualisations occur both within sexual acts and beyond them. For example, Lydia talked to me about how having two menstruators in her relationship helped to normalise the presence of blood in their household and even though she hadn't considered herself as "conservative or embarrassed about periods" during her heterosexual pairings, she noticed that the level of openness between her and her queer partners, both physically and emotionally was markedly higher.

The cultural taboo of seeing vulvas contributes to the harmful conceptualisation of vaginas as hidden (Braun and Wilkinson, 2001) and impacts on veeple's genital self-image. Genital self-image for veeple has been found to be associated with low self-esteem as well as being related to engagement in certain sexual acts (such as cunnilingus) and a withdrawal from gynaecological screenings (Laan et al., 2017).

The Shared Vagina

Whilst the self-other relation can be used to question/judge one's own body, it can also be used to negatively distance self from the 'other', to bolster a sense of one's normality in relation to others. Having examined the womanhood clubhouse closely, it continues to strike me how markedly important the identity and lives of others are in how we shape our own ideas of (particularly gendered) selfhood. As I have regularly stated throughout this thesis, the decision to deliberately, actively include trans* voices in my work was personal, political, and methodological. I knew that I would be potentially losing the interest of those who disagreed with my choice not to recruit "women", but instead "people with vaginas". As I have been theorising and writing this chapter, a question has emerged and entangled itself throughout my explorations: why do other people's identities (or 'lifestyle choices') matter so much to some? When reflecting on my interviews it struck me that none of my participants commented on or asked me to

⁷⁷ And a long cultural history of negative imagery of the vagina, see Rees (2013).

comment on my decision to recruit "people with vaginas" and not simply "women", which could be because they didn't feel (strongly enough) about it to consider questioning me about it directly. Nonetheless, there were plenty of examples within the interview and focus group data where it could be clearly seen that the identities of others were shaping how my participants made sense of their own gendered selfhoods.

Speaking to participants who did not identify as cis women brought up several issues regarding shared selfhoods. Kit and Avery referred to the idea that others attempt to 'gender' (or misgender) them, usually just by visual, physical information which is then used to assume what genitalia they have and thus what sex or gender they 'must' be. These 'cultural genitals' are assumed to be synonymous with biological genitals (Garfinkel 1967; Kessler and Mckenna 1978; Lundgren 2000) — and the "revelation that this assumption is false can result in brutal consequences" (Braun and Wilkinson, 2005, pg 2). Wilton (1996) used the term "genital identities" to refer to the "heavy burden of signification borne by the human genitals" (p. 104). This was spoken about by Kit and Avery in terms of the distress and discomfort it causes them, and they both spoke about a continual 'monitoring' of their surroundings to avoid both their own discomfort and a possible incident of discrimination and/or violence. Positively or negatively, having a vagina still 'matters', something which I argue attests to the ongoing symbolic significance of vagina.

The backlash against trans* people suggests that their existence 'threatens' the gender binary in a way that makes some people feel uncomfortable. As discussed earlier, ambiguous genitalia in intersex children are also considered to be a threat to social order and thus 'must be' surgically 'corrected' (Kessler, 1998). Overall, not fitting into the arbitrary dichotomy of cis man and cis woman is considered a problem to be discussed rather than understood to be part of the reality of selfhood. What interests me about this is why other people's identities carry so much significance to others and how they make sense of their own identities. If you feel your vagina makes you feel like a woman, why is it that someone else's vagina that means something else to them impacts you or can threaten your own womanhood? Why is it that genitalia carries so much significance that we must monitor other people's identities through it? Is it about some sort of desire to

find an 'absolute truth'? If we are given the assumption that vagina equals woman, and one's own experiences with one's own vagina results in feeling more of a woman, then that assumption has been reinforced and thus becomes central in one's belief system. However, if other people's experiences or feelings towards their vaginas are contrary to 'vagina' meaning 'woman', then that is seen as disrupting the 'overall truth' of 'what does it mean to have a vagina' and then, by proxy, filters through to dilute someone else's womanhood. The gender divide is so fundamental to how social order works that any disruption of that normalcy, where the socially accepted boundaries of gender are blurred or transgressed, immediately threatens the foundations of some people's senses of self.

Writing on the topic of resistance to same-sex marriage rights in Taiwan, Chin uses Mead's lens of the self to argue that these type of "anti" narratives, "inform us ...[of] their [narrators] self-reflexivity, which is embedded in the network of kinship interwoven with the institution of heterosexual marriage", (Chin, 2021, p.532). Using Mead's lens in the context of my own research, the process of developing the self is shaped by interacting with others, is defined by one's relationship to others. Thus, the self is always social in that it exists only in relation to an 'other'. In this way, the gendered selfhood that appears apparently 'threatened' by the existence of gender non-conforming people is at risk or is, in Chin's words, "a vulnerable self".

Returning to the idea of the 'clubhouse', the question is, if having a vagina gives you access to a club you don't identify with, how does that affect the club if it claims to represent all veeple? This brings us on to the issue of 'protecting the clubhouse'. We can see two initial threats to the clubhouse: one is non-key holders (women that are not veeple) trying to gain entry, the second is a key holder who will not conform to the club rules or who sets up an alternative clubhouse (veeple that are not women).

Thinking first of 'women that are not veeple', this is arguably where the most *visible* backlash occurs. It is here that trans women have their identities scrutinised, and their bodily morphologies are brought to the surface for assessment by cis women. This is where we see a fierce defending of 'women only spaces' which often results in 'genitalia talk', and one must prove their womanhood by demonstrating the presence of a

vulva/vagina (or, at least, an absence of the 'dangerous' penis). Within *S/he*, Minnie Bruce Pratt discusses this gender essentialism and writes "I don't want *woman* to be a fortress that has to be defended. I want it to be a life we constantly braid together from the threads of our existence" (Pratt, 1995, p.184). Thus, the initial defence of 'woman' or the womanhood clubhouse is reduced to the presence of the 'correct' genitalia, in which the rejection (and fear) of penis emerges alongside the fear of 'men' usurping 'women only spaces'.

Bianca, a cis woman, reflects on how she feels about the issue of genitalia and gender identity, and discusses with me the issue of 'veeple that are not women'.

I do tie [my vagina] to my womanhood, like to my own womanhood [...] it's really difficult because like, [sighs] it just, it really sucks because I...I...I never want to say...to someone who has a vagina that like...they are a woman if they don't identify as that because I think that's really vile. But I can't really deny that like, a lot of my womanhood and my like, experiences with womanhood are tied to my vagina

Bianca (27, Latina, cis)

Two things about this quote interest me in particular; firstly, the idea that she links her own womanhood to her genitalia; but secondly, how hard she must grapple with what she feels are conflicting issues. Her own womanhood, as she calls it, is connected to her own vagina. And yet, she is aware that other people's selfhoods may or may not be connected to their genitalia. Whilst those that argue against the existence of identities outside of the traditional gender roles suggest any 'anomalies' or 'outsiders' threaten the status quo, or the 'shared vagina' - as Bianca's dilemma indicates, the issue can also be found among 'sympathetic' cis feminist women, but in the sense that their own 'normative' identities may undermine a desire to queer the vagina. Bianca does not want her identity to threaten the identity of someone else, "I never want to say...to someone who has a vagina that...they are a woman [...] but I can't really deny [that that is the case for me]". Her internal conflict comes from wanting to be inclusive to non-cis identities and experiences without having to diminish her own. Returning to Mead's lens of selfhood, Bianca is

referring to almost the opposite process. Rather than the 'other' influencing her 'self', she is proactively concerned about her status as the 'other' for another person's selfhood. Bianca is able to use her reflexive thinking to centre the lens of self onto another person, rather than holding onto her own selfhood tightly to protect it. Using Chin's analogy of the 'vulnerable self', we see here that Bianca is identifying a vulnerability in the 'other', recognising that for those individuals they are, in their eyes, also a 'self'.

Thus, there are different levels of objection to trans* people's existence, and varying levels of monitoring the womanhood thresholds – particularly the initial 'vagina' threshold. Whilst there are some who simply falter under an interactional confusion (how do I interact with this human if not through the standard gendered lens?), there is also the moral argument, often fuelled by a religious or faith-based standpoint. There is a political divide here – between those supporting trans rights and those who see themselves as defending women's rights through excluding trans women.

Conclusion

In this chapter I have explored the meanings that my participants associated with their vulva/vaginas. One overarching idea that affected all my participants was the idea that 'vagina equals woman', although this was significantly problematized by both the trans* and cis veeple I interviewed. Given the overlap to the concepts of 'woman' with 'vagina', issues surrounding 'femininity' and 'being (woman) enough' were prevalent.

Aside from the assigning of a sex to the un/newly born child, the earliest shared point of significance for my participants was menarche, where again issues of 'becoming' a woman were highlighted and scrutinized. A recurring theme within this chapter has been that of considering oneself 'enough', specifically in a gendered way, for example feeling or *feeling perceived as* 'woman enough' or as a 'real woman'. I have described what I refer to as the womanhood clubhouse in which the vagina acts as the passkey to an internal labyrinth of further thresholds such as menarche, penetration, pregnancy and childbirth.

Furthermore, it is not enough to consider the vagina as simply the key to the clubhouse, for it also acts as a *marker* outside the clubhouse – a label to let society know which club you belong to (for we 'must' all belong to one) in order for you to be addressed and

treated accordingly. In this way, I have discussed in this chapter how being assumed to have a vagina also means, societally, you are assumed to be a woman, and thus are subject to the inferior treatment that women bear. It is also important to note that for those whose gender non-conformity is obvious to an onlooker, there is also the treatment of that person as deviant from the norm, which can result in specific forms of stigmatisation and discrimination in combination with misogyny. Feelings about one's vagina are related to recognition and misrecognition and are sustained by these gendered interpretations of the body.

Chapter 7: Discussion and Conclusion

I embarked upon this research journey with an aim to explore how life experiences impact the vagina-owner, and how having a vagina in turn influences how one experiences life. To address this aim, I employed the use of interviews to hear veeple's stories and to engage with how veeple talk about their experiences with their vaginas across different stages of their lives. When I began there was little literature addressing the issues I was interested in, and therefore I was able to identify gaps in the scholarship and situated my research within a broader sphere not specifically about vulvas and vaginas but about a wider literature on gendered embodiment and sexuality. Within Chapters 1 and 2, I outlined the gaps in the existing scholarship and positioned my research as well-placed to begin to fill those spaces and to contribute to a wider understanding of how we relate to our bodies and negotiate gendered selfhoods. Having "travel[led] in this ocean of knowledge", (Chin, 2016, p.19), I detailed the relevant contextualisation for my analysis, focusing specifically on discourses of 'women', 'vaginas' and trans* identities. As I have argued throughout this thesis, sociocultural notions of the vulva/vagina are tied to sociocultural notions of queerness, as well as 'womanhood' and 'womanliness'. Thus, where pertinent, I included aspects of trans, queer history alongside the 'vagina histories'.

Chapter 3 focused on my methodological approach to the research, and I reflected upon the process of preparing and undertaking the empirical work. I discussed at length my reasoning for using qualitative methods, in particular semi-structured interviews, and my desire to articulate my work as feminist research. Something I notice now, towards the end of my doctoral project and two years into the global COVID-19 pandemic, is that my issues with conducting virtual interviews on Skype may have unfolded differently had my empirical work been undertaken during the pandemic. Indeed, it is unlikely that I would have used Skype at all, given how quickly other platforms became popularized, such as Zoom, Google Meet and Microsoft Teams. This could also have changed how I approached my focus groups, as I could have considered a virtual option which may have eased some of the logistical concerns (although may have presented other issues). At the time I

completed my empirical work, using online platforms to meet strangers was quite unusual: now it has become somewhat of a norm in and of itself.

I am aware that my data works as somewhat of a 'snapshot' of how those particular veeple felt at a specific moment in time: their experiences, and their reflections, will have continued to expand beyond (and arguably, because of) our encounters. Several of the participants that I knew prior to the interviews continued to discuss 'vagina issues' with me long after the interviews had been completed.

I discuss the empirical data in three major themes: talk, embodiment and meaning. Firstly, I focused on the ways in which vagina talk occurs, and explored the different ringfences that veeple navigate in order to communicate effectively about their bodies and experiences. Euphemisms for use with 'children' are common, and with the native English speakers there was a distinction between 'real' words considered appropriate for children (such as 'bits' or 'privates') and 'nonsense' words (such as 'foo foo' or 'fairy') which some participants found patronising. Nonetheless, across all languages discussed in the interviews, there was a general consensus that 'adult' language for genitalia was not considered appropriate for (small) children, with everyone reporting euphemisms that they were provided with at a young age. For those that did not identify as cis women, word choices for one's body took on a special significance. The cultural, gendered, weight of words such as 'vagina' or 'vulva' were described by these participants as problematic for them. Not only does it create issues when discussing genitalia in general, but especially in and around the topic of sex and intimacy. A lack of 'vagina' words was lamented by all participants, regardless of gender identity, but for those outside of the cis woman umbrella it was particularly painful. The quest for finding a 'neutral' word, particularly a gender-neutral word, proved difficult. One of my participants reported using 'genitals' but no other participant reported feeling comfortable with this 'medicalised' term. The comparison to 'penis' words was raised by several veeple I interviewed, some with a 'tongue in cheek' humour, but most with somewhat of a bitterness at the unfairness of the situation. They resented that 'men' had such a large repository of vocabulary available to them, suited to different situations with differing levels of slang. As Greer (1971) notes, "the names for the penis are all tool names" (p.40) which adds another layer of

significance: not only are there more available words, they are also framed differently to their 'female' counterparts. All my participants confirmed with me at the start of their interviews that they were comfortable using the word 'vagina', at least for the purposes of the interview. And yet, few actually did so. I noted that whilst nobody admitted any embarrassment or apprehension towards using 'vagina' or 'vulva', various nonverbal cues gave me the impression these feelings were still present. Arguably, I pushed them to their 'vagina' limit: I was not just asking them to use the word once, but repeatedly as they divulged personal details about their own bodies. This no doubt had an effect on my participants, but not one that was sufficient to stop the interview or cause any issues during the dialogue.

In terms of discussing 'vagina', mothers played an important role for all my interviewees. Not only were mothers providing the language for their child(ren), but were considered the most appropriate parent (all reported cis-heterosexual parents) to discuss 'vagina' with their 'daughters'. How a mother handled these early interactions with their child seemed to shape their ideas about their bodies - whether strictly 'need-to-know' or whether more open in nature. There was a generational difference to be found here, with the older veeple reporting their mothers were less open about talking about 'vagina topics' than younger participants' mothers. There were also individual differences, unable to be explored much further here, where some mothers were more 'tight-lipped' than others, depending on their own attitudes towards the topics in question. For some mothers, talking about vaginas with regards to menstruation was much easier than approaching the topic of sex, for example. Nonetheless, some mothers opted not to address any topic with their child(ren), which was reported by my participants as 'unhelpful'. All my participants demonstrated an almost instinctual understanding of what 'vagina topics' were allowable in which contexts, from things considered 'necessary' (menstruation featured heavily here), 'funny' (menstruation also featured, but so did sexual 'mishaps'), and what was 'inconvenient' (shared 'grumbles' about having a vagina, with menstruation featuring heavily again). These three categories are important because they outline the silent rules in place, the silent learning that negotiating taboo topics require. This firmly places 'vagina' as still a taboo, at least for the majority.

All my participants lamented the state of sex education, with older participants reporting that they felt 'things had changed' since they were at school. Whilst this is probably true (for the most part, at least), younger participants reported that their sex education was still, "pretty shit" (Lydia). A reproductive focus on sex education was considered by all to be insufficient. As several have argued (Fine 1988; Tepper 2000, Allen 2012, Mark et al. 2021), the missing discourses of pleasure and desire (especially for 'girls') remains an issue in modern 'sex education' programs within schools. There is an expectation that children will somehow 'pick up' the missing knowledge through personal experience or by conversations with others — which completely ignores the reality of the continuing social taboo around these topics even in those permissible spaces.

Vaginas may be difficult to talk about, but they are unavoidably embodied. The vagina exists at a large intersection of negotiable issues for veeple: just *talking* about it requires careful consideration as to where you are, who you are with, what topic is being raised. For gender non-conforming people, another main artery disrupts the intersection and becomes prioritised. Negotiating how one presents oneself, whilst common to all, is experienced differently by trans* people and adds another layer of complexity to these negotiations. There is a disruption between their experiential embodiment and how they are perceived by others; even being critical of gender and identifying themselves as outside of the traditional gender binary is not enough to counteract significant issues such as gender dysphoria and, more specifically, genital dysphoria. Whilst one might want their genitals to 'not matter', it is hard to distance oneself from the social meanings of them.

In discussing the physical embodiment of having a vagina, touch took on a special significance for the veeple I interviewed. There appears to be two main issues here, one is understanding if and when it is considered acceptable to touch oneself, and the other is effectively managing the continual threat of another's unwanted touch. The vagina was conceptualized by all as something special, something important to be protected, cared for, looked after. Importantly, many of my participants directly raised the comparison to 'men' and 'penises', lamenting that these issues are not present for them: they can seemingly touch themselves and anyone else any time and place that they like. Not only do they not have to worry if it is 'okay' to touch their own genitalia, they are not spending

anywhere near as much time as veeple worrying about non-consensual touch as a threat to their safety.

The veeple I interviewed discussed the vagina as being dynamically relational to the self. There were descriptions of being able to 'zoom in and out' of (self) consciousness about the vagina, something close to what might be described as dissociation. This was usually deployed at moments where discomfort and/or pain were seen to be 'unavoidable'. Despite this regular 'tuning out', the veeple I interviewed all wanted to have agency over their bodies, which did not exclude their genitals. From choosing the 'right' menstrual product for them (if any) to contraceptive choices, veeple want to feel in control. Unfortunately, there was an overall agreement that education to this end was not sufficient, or even present at all for some. Capitalist ventures aimed at taking veeple's money (particularly those such as 'sanitary' or 'hygiene' product placements) were deemed unhelpful and often misleading.

Vagina is not just part of one's anatomy, but is also imbued with all manner of significance: it carries a heavy cultural weight. Whilst some cis women felt comfortable with the cultural idea of 'having a vagina means you are a woman', not all aligned themselves with this view. The gender non-conforming participants I interviewed all raised this directly with me and discussed how difficult this continual navigation of gendered constructs is for them. The inclusion of non-cisgendered people in my research is something I consider vital to the critical examination of gendered selfhood. The issues raised by the gender non-conforming participants only serve to strengthen this argument: their perspective is a unique one and raises important questions about how we identify ourselves and others around us. Whilst not all my participants identified as 'women', they all had experience of being 'read as a woman', and treated accordingly. In almost all examples, this treatment was described as discriminatory: being 'read as' as woman meant being treated as inferior. Indeed, almost all my participants referred to 'women's rights' (or words to that effect) as one of the reasons they responded to my call for participants. I introduced the idea of the 'womanhood clubhouse' to examine the overlapping hierarchies that my participants described, with particular attention to feeling 'enough' (which, for some cis women, was framed as being 'woman enough'). The

assumed presence of a vagina is not simply a passkey to the clubhouse, but acts as a label, a marker outside the clubhouse that reinforces membership.

As with all research, this thesis comes with its limitations, which mostly focus on the demographics of my participants. Unfortunately, I did not manage to conduct interviews with any people that had experience of FGM, and no trans women responded to my call for participants. This could have been due to how the call was framed – possibly even using "people with vaginas" was not sufficient as they could have assumed I intended 'people born with a vagina' which would exclude any trans women even with surgically constructed vaginas. It could, however, simply have been the 'luck of the draw', but regardless I would argue that future research would be well placed to actively recruit from these demographics. Despite not being able to include trans women, my research did feature five voices of gender non-conforming people which is, to my knowledge, the first 'vagina' research to do so. It is also worth noting that whilst my participants were mostly white (with eight exceptions), the age range represented by those I interviewed was broad and captured veeple from their early twenties to their late seventies. In this way, whilst I acknowledge the limitations of this study in terms of representativeness, I argue that the accounts shared by my participants describe not only their experiences with having a vagina but also their reflections on what and how vagina means in a broader sociocultural sense.

My research did not have the scope to include data from people without vaginas, particularly people with penises. In a larger study it may be of interest to include experiences of people without vaginas to gain a different perspective on how vaginas are constructed within sociocultural meanings, but for the purposes of my research questions I wanted to focus on vaginas due to their link to femininity and/or womanhood particularly as a site of violence and oppression. It was also important to my research ethos to focus on "women's" narratives as part of a wider feminist research methodology: by including gender non-conforming people I do not intend to group them under the umbrella of "women's voices" as they do not fit that category. Nonetheless I have prioritised voices that are not cisgendered men, which remains a feminist standpoint. Having conducted the research it became clear that much of the 'male gaze' and 'penis

perspective' is commented on by veeple themselves, referencing men/penis-owners in their lives that have impacted on their embodiment of vagina— the only perspective that is truly lacking is that of penis meanings for those with one, i.e. how penis means, which is not possible to include within the scope of this study.

At the beginning of this thesis, I recalled a few childhood memories that, I envisage, act as landmarks on my personal journey towards this doctoral project. Now as I near the conclusion of my thesis, I reflect on my journey through and beyond this research. The conversations about vulva/vaginas that I have detailed here, in the vagina dialogues, are just one segment of my journey. My research life and my personal life have been full to the brim with vulvas and vaginas: from daily conversations with friends and partners to regular emails in my inbox entitled 'saw this vagina thing and thought of you'. In my Introduction, I included a story about my own mother, where we 'talked vagina' together. In what may seem a little too poetic, I feel it might be poignant to conclude this chapter with a discussion about 'vagina talk' with my Dad, who has lived through it all with me. The pains, the joys, the complicated feelings that have come with this thesis and my life more generally, have all sparked fresh conversations with my Dad who, as always, has been keen to 'get on board' with my research interests. As an avid learner himself, Dad has always encouraged my curiosity with the world around me, and nourished the inquisitiveness he saw sprouting within me. I was lucky, and privileged, enough to have two parents who told both me and my sister, repeatedly, that we could do anything we set our minds to, that anything was in reach for us. But it was my Dad who could see the observer in me, who never stopped answering my insistent questions, and who reached for books to give me when he felt he had run out of answers. This is what fuelled my love for research: although my research position may have shifted from my childhood-self's view of wanting to 'find things out', my passion for 'knowledge' endured. Over the past five years as I have been writing this thesis, my Dad has been enthusiastic to hear me read a chapter, or hear my opinion on something 'vagina related' on the news. Looking back, we didn't really ever talk about vaginas before I began my MA dissertation. In many ways I think this was partly due to practicality - I knew he didn't have one, but Mum did so I would ask her about mine. But pragmatics aside, there was also a cultural boundary in

play, a stigma against 'fathers and daughters' talking about what could be deemed an intimate, sensitive topic with taboo status. Arguably we have not disrupted this paradigm much, by ringfencing our 'vagina talk' to when discussing my academic work. Regardless, it has opened up new channels of communication between us that were not there before. And it has not just been 'all about vagina' but about gender non-conformity, about gender performance and about how we identify ourselves.

In as much as I have challenged my father to 'keep up' with my (arguably) progressive research, I myself have not gone unchallenged through the doctoral project. As I alluded to in my Introduction, even my own gender identity has been subject to questioning throughout this exploration of vulva/vaginas. On an academic level, I have also had to negotiate my own evolving ideas on my research position, my analysis of the empirical data and my subsequent conclusions. I set out with the intention to *ask* veeple, "what is it like to have a vagina?", and my analysis revealed multiple varied and shared experiences, many of which challenge us to question what we might take for granted about bodies, and about gender. As all of my interviewees attested, having the space to talk openly about vulvas and vaginas is not only important, but necessary, and feminist research that speaks on veeple's experiences and interpretations must be considered valuable.

Appendix I - Participant Details

Here I list the interviewee details alphabetically by their pseudonym and include: age, gender, ethnicity, and sexuality. Note that I have maintained the exact wording that my participants gave me in all cases (but clarified where necessary).

Alex: 21, genderfluid, white Irish, bi/questioning

Avery: 23, non-binary agenderflux, white British, ace

Bhaarati: 26, female, Indian (Hindu), lesbian

Bianca: 27, woman, Latina, bi

Bridget: 59, female, white British, heterosexual

Clare: 20, female, white Scandinavian, lesbian/pan-curious

Dyke: 22, non-binary woman/girl thing/girlvoid, white British, queer/lesbian/ace-

spectrum

Elle: 36, woman, Malaysian Chinese, straight

Hamia: 25, female, Arab, straight

Jane: 25, female, white British, straight

Jean: 66, female, white British, straight

Juliet: 31, female, mixed-mostly white British with some euro/Asian, queer/bi/pan

Kim: 57, female, white British, straight

Kit: 24, non-binary masculine-of-centre, white British, queer

Lydia: 26, woman, white British, queer

Maddie: 29, female, Indian/USA, straight

Maureen: 70, female, white British, "normal" (later clarified: heterosexual)

Megan: 24, female, white British, straight

Millie: 24, non-binary, mixed-British/Caribbean, ace/poly

Natalie: 31, woman, Chinese, "straightish"

Peggy: 79, female, white British, "private" (later clarified: heterosexual)

Rosa: 29, woman, Mexican, lesbian

Roxanne: 27, female, white British, straight

Shirley: 65, female, white British, straight

Tyler: 27, female, white USA, straight

Appendix II – Interview Guide

Hello and thanks for taking part in my study! I really appreciate it.

First things first I just want to double check that you're OK for me to audio record this interview?

All data gets immediately transcribed and everything is confidential and anonymised, deleted at the end of my research, is that OK?

Some of the topics we might discuss are quite sensitive and I appreciate they might be difficult to talk about, different things trigger different people so if at any point there's a question you'd rather not respond to or a topic you'd like to avoid then just let me know and we'll move on.

Equally, if you need to stop or want to withdraw then again just let me know, that's no problem.

Talking about the Vagina

Explain my use of 'vagina', check what word they are comfortable using for the interview.

What sort of words do you use regularly to mean "vagina/vulva"? Do you use different words with different audiences?

When/with whom, do you feel most comfortable talking about your vagina (if at all?)

Learning about the Vagina

Where did you learn the basic facts about your vagina?

How was your school on teaching in this area?

...your parents/family?

...your friends/peers?

...through other media?

Relationship to own vagina

In general, how would you describe your feelings towards that part of your body?

When do you feel most aware of having a vagina?

What does it mean to you, to have a vagina?

Senses: What is your relationship with the sight/taste/smell/touch of your vagina?

Other Vaginas and You

What are your thoughts on vagina 'diversity'? Is it something you're familiar with?

Popular 'vagina' topics.... Hair? Discharge/Cleanliness? Labia size/shape?

When, if ever, have you encountered other people's vaginas (in media or in real life), and what was that like for you?

Other People and Your Vagina

Thinking about experiences with other people and your vagina...can you tell me a story about...

...intimate and/or sexual encounters?

...doctors/GP/specialist appointments, smears, check ups etc?

...if you've experienced pregnancy/childbirth?

Was there anything else that we haven't covered, that you would like to talk about?

Do you have any questions for me?

Appendix III – Information and Consent Form (Interviews)

Who am I?

My name is Lauren Cowling and I'm a PhD student in the Centre for Women's Studies here at the University of York

I'm exploring what people think and feel about their vulvovaginal region, experiences they have had with that part of themselves (periods, sexual/intimate encounters, doctor's appointments etc) and the effect of these on their relationship with their bodies. I'm also looking at public narratives in this area, exploring the social meanings of vagina.

Who am I looking for?

I'm looking for a range of people to talk about their attitudes and perceptions of their vaginas, no matter what those views and experiences are, (positive or otherwise). The study is open to those of any or no gender.

What does it involve?

A one-to-one interview with me (lasting approximately 1 hour) to talk about your body and your experiences. The interview will be audio-recorded and will cover issues you are comfortable to discuss - this may include what words you use in different contexts to refer to your genitalia, where/from whom you learned about your body and your ongoing experiences involving that part of your body. The interview will be partly guided by myself but the content we discuss is completely up to you so there's no need to divulge information you don't want to and we can stop the interview and recording at any time.

More information

All data will be entirely confidential and all identities will be anonymised in the final submission.

Everyone has the right to withdraw from the study up until the date of thesis submission.

Any concerns?

If you have any questions or concerns you can contact either myself or my supervisors,

Ann Kaloski-Naylor: ann.kaloski-naylor@york.ac.uk

Stevi Jackson: stevi.jackson@york.ac.uk

If you'd like to learn more about the Centre for Women's Studies, you can find us online at www.york.ac.uk/inst/cws

For information regarding ethics, please contact: University of York Ethics Committee Chair (ELMPS): Professor Tony Royle - tony.royle@york.ac.uk

Consent Form (Interviews)

Project Title: Vagina Dialogues: Exploring social meanings of vaginas

Researcher: Lauren Cowling lfc503@york.ac.uk

Please read the information sheet, tick and sign the form below and return to the researcher.

- I have read the information sheet and understood the purpose of the study
- I have had the opportunity to ask questions
- I understand that my participation is voluntary and that I have a right to withdraw from the study up until the date of thesis submission
- I agree to the audio recording of the interview
- I agree to the use of this material in the researcher's work
- I agree to the use of this material in any resulting publications
- I agree to the use of this material to be submitted to the National Archive
- I understand that all data will be stored securely on the university mainframe all data will be confidential and anonymous.

Contact: University of York Ethics Committee Chair (ELMPS): Professor Tony Royle - tony.royle@york.ac.uk

Signed by participant, Print Name, Date

Signed by researcher, Print Name, Date

Appendix IV – Information and Consent Form (Focus Groups)

Who am I?

My name is Lauren Cowling and I'm a PhD student in the Centre for Women's Studies here

at the University of York

I'm exploring what people think and feel about public narratives within the social

meanings of vagina.

Who am I looking for?

I'm looking for a range of people to talk about their attitudes and perceptions, no matter

what those views and experiences are, (positive or otherwise). The study is open to those

of any or no gender.

What does it involve?

A small focus group (lasting approximately 1 hour) where we will discuss public narratives

that involve vaginas, for example 'sanitary' product advertisements, cervical screenings

etc. The focus group will be audio-recorded and will cover issues you are comfortable to

discuss - but will not require any divulging of and personal stories from participants and of

course there is no obligation to join any discussion you are not comfortable with. We can

stop the focus group and recording at any time.

More information

All data will be entirely confidential and all identities will be anonymised in the final

submission. As you will be part of a group, everyone will be required to sign a

confidentiality agreement to ensure no identities or information from within the focus

group is shared. Everyone has the right to withdraw from the study up until the date of

thesis submission.

Any concerns?

If you have any questions or concerns you can contact either myself or my supervisors:

Ann Kaloski-Naylor: ann.kaloski-naylor@york.ac.uk

174

Stevi Jackson: stevi.jackson@york.ac.uk

If you'd like to learn more about the Centre for Women's Studies, you can find us online at www.york.ac.uk/inst/cws

For information regarding ethics, please contact: University of York Ethics Committee Chair (ELMPS): Professor Tony Royle - tony.royle@york.ac.uk

Consent Form (Focus Groups)

Project Title: Vagina Dialogues: Exploring social meanings of vaginas

Researcher: Lauren Cowling lfc503@york.ac.uk

Please read the information sheet, tick and sign the form below and return to the researcher.

- I have read the information sheet and understood the purpose of the study
- I have had the opportunity to ask questions
- I understand that my participation is voluntary and that I have a right to withdraw from the study up until the date of thesis submission
- I agree to the audio recording of the interview
- I agree to the use of this material in the researcher's work
- I agree to the use of this material in any resulting publications
- I agree to the use of this material to be submitted to the National Archive
- I understand that all data will be stored securely on the university mainframe all data will be confidential and anonymous.
- I agree to total confidentiality of the identity of other participants within the group
- I agree to total confidentiality of the discussions that occur within the focus group

Contact: University of York Ethics Committee Chair (ELMPS): Professor Tony Royle - tony.royle@york.ac.uk

Signed by participant, Print Name, Date

Signed by researcher, Print Name, Date

Bibliography

Adams, M. (2003). The reflexive self and culture: a critique. *British Journal of Sociology*, 54 (2), pp.221–238. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1080/0007131032000080212.

Adrienne, R. (1977). *Of woman born: motherhood as experience and institution*. WW Norton.

Ahern. (2004). PS, I love you. Thorndike Press.

Ahmad, N. (2010). Female Feticide in India. Issues in Law & Medicine, 26, p.13.

Aitken, T. (2017). *Banned Femfresh advert*. [Online]. Available at: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=ewir-gKWSN0 [Accessed 31 March 2019].

Alexander, J. and Yescavage, K. (2003). Bisexuality and transgenderism: InterSEXions of the others. *Journal of Bisexuality*, *3*(3-4), pp.1-23.

Allen, L. (2012). Girls' portraits of desire: picturing a missing discourse. *Gender and Education*, 25 (3), pp.295–310. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1080/09540253.2012.752795.

Almeida, T. et al. (2016). On looking at the vagina through Labella. In: *Proceedings of the 2016 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*. 7 May 2016. San Jose California USA: ACM. pp.1810–1821. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1145/2858036.2858119 [Accessed 1 August 2020].

Anderson, K. and Jack, D. C. (2006). Learning to listen: Interview and analysis techniques. In: Perks, R. and Thomson, A. (Eds). *The Oral History Reader*. 2nd ed. London: Routledge. pp.129–141.

Ann Summers. (2020). What is a Fleshlight?: Fleshlight guide. [Online]. Available at: https://www.annsummers.com/sex-toys/help-advice/choosing-the-right-fleshlight.html [Accessed 1 August 2020].

Anonymous. (2019). My life in sex: the young widow. [Online]. 25 October 2019. Available at: https://www.theguardian.com/lifeandstyle/2019/oct/25/my-life-in-sex-young-widow [Accessed 2 August 2020].

Ardener, S. (1987). A note on gender iconography: The vagina. In: Caplan, P. (Ed). *The Cultural Construction of Sexuality*. London: Routledge. pp.113–142.

Arksey, H. and Knight, P. (1999). *Interviewing for social scientists*. United Kingdom: SAGE Publications, Ltd. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.4135/9781849209335 [Accessed 26 October 2019].

Armitage, S. H. and Gluck, S. B. (2006). Reflections on women's oral history. In: *The Oral history reader*. 2nd ed. London: Routledge. pp.74–80.

Armstrong, A. (2017). Certificates of live birth and dead names: On the subject of recent anti-trans legislation. *South Atlantic Quarterly*, 116 (3), pp.621–631. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1215/00382876-3961743.

Armstrong, N. R. and Wilson, J. D. (2006). Did the "Brazilian" kill the pubic louse? *Sexually Transmitted Infections*, 82 (3), p.265. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1136/sti.2005.018671.

Arnold, A. J. (2003). Perilous symmetry: Exoticism and the geography of colonial and postcolonial culture. In: Freeman, H. G. (Ed). *Geo/graphies: Mapping the imagination in French and francophone literature and film*. French Literature Series, 30, pp.1–28. [Online]. Available at: 10.1163/9789004333581_002 [Accessed 2 March 2020].

Arnstein, H. S. (1976). How sex attitudes develop. *Day Care and Early Education*, 3 (5), pp.11–14. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1007/BF02353879.

Ash, M. (1980). The misnamed female sex organ. In: Kirkpatrick, M. (Ed). *Women's sexual development: Explorations of inner space*. New York: Plenum Press. pp.171–179.

Askham, G. (2015). Why do we find it so hard to say...vagina? *Glamour magazine*, pp.271–274.

Atalanta, H. (2016). *The Vulva Gallery*. [Online]. The Vulva Gallery. Last updated: 2022. Available at: https://www.hildeatalanta.com/thevulvagallery/ [Accessed 23 May 2022].

Attwood, F. (2006). Sexed Up: Theorizing the sexualization of culture. *Sexualities*, 9 (1), pp.77–94. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1177/1363460706053336.

Ayers, S. (2017). Birth trauma and post-traumatic stress disorder: the importance of risk and resilience. *Journal of Reproductive and Infant Psychology*, 35 (5), pp.427–430. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1080/02646838.2017.1386874.

Baćak a, V. and Štulhofer, A. (2011). Masturbation among sexually active young women in Croatia: associations with religiosity and pornography use. *International Journal of Sexual Health*, 23 (4), pp.248–257. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1080/19317611.2011.611220.

Backstrom, L., Armstrong, E. A. and Puentes, J. (2012). Women's negotiation of cunnilingus in college hookups and relationships. *The Journal of Sex Research*, 49 (1), pp.1–12. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1080/00224499.2011.585523.

Baker, P. (1998). Hearing and writing women's voices. *Resources for Feminist Research*, 26 (1), p.31.

Ball, C. and Money, J. (1980). Physiological aspects of female sexual development: Gestation, lactation, menopause and erotic physiology. In: Kirkpatrick, M. (Ed). *Women's sexual development: explorations of inner space*. New York; London: Plenum Press. pp.61–76.

Balos, B. and Fellows, M. L. (1991). Guilty of the crime of trust: nonstranger rape. *Minnesota Law Review*, 75, pp.599–618.

Barak-Brandes, S. (2011). Internalizing the taboo: Israeli women respond to commercials for feminine hygiene products. *Observatorio*, 5 (4). [Online]. Available at: doi:10.15847/obsOBS542011524 [Accessed 24 January 2020].

Barnhill, A. (2012). Modesty as a feminist sexual virtue. In: Crasnow, S. L. and Superson, A. M. (Eds). *Out from the shadows: analytical feminist contributions to traditional philosophy*. Oxford University Press. pp.115–138.

Barret, G. and Victor, C. (1994). Postnatal sexual health. *BMJ*, 309 (6968), pp.1584–1585. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1136/bmj.309.6968.1584c.

Bay-Cheng, L. Y. and Fava, N. M. (2011). Young women's experiences and perceptions of cunnilingus during adolescence. *The Journal of Sex Research*, 48 (6), pp.531–542. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1080/00224499.2010.535221.

Bazeley, P. and Jackson, K. (2013). *Qualitative data analysis with NVIVO*. 2nd ed. Los Angeles; London: SAGE.

BBC Radio 4. (2019, 2020, 2021). Woman's Hour.

BBC Stories. (2018). *Smear test rates are declining*. [Online]. Available at: https://www.facebook.com/BBCStories/videos/1962505923966709/?v=1962505923966709 [Accessed 31 March 2019].

de Beauvoir, S. (1949). The second sex. Harmondsworth: Penguin.

Beemyn, G. (2013). A presence in the past: a transgender historiography. *Journal of Women's History*, 25 (4), pp.113–121. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1353/jowh.2013.0062.

Being The Parent (2017). Why do people touch my pregnant belly? [Online]. Available at: https://www.beingtheparent.com/people-touching-pregnant-belly/ [Accessed 4 August 2020].

Bell, S. and Apfel, R. (1995). Looking at bodies: Insights and inquiries about DES-related cancer. *Qualitative Sociology*, 18 (1), pp.3–19. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1007/BF02393193.

Bendelow, G., Birke, L. and Williams, S. (2005). Debating biology. Routledge.

Berg, D. H. and Block Coutts, L. (1994). The extended curse: Being a woman every day. Health Care for Women International, 15 (1), pp.11–22. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1080/07399339409516090.

Berman, L., et al. (2003). Genital self-image as a component of sexual health: relationship between genital self-image, female sexual function, and quality of life measures. *Journal of Sex & Marital Therapy, 29, Suppl 1*, pp. 11-21. [Online]. Available at: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/713847124 [Accessed 26 January 2020].

Berman, L. and Windecker, M. A. (2008). The relationship between women's genital self-image and female sexual function: A national survey. *Current Sexual Health Reports*, 5 (4), pp.199–207. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1007/s11930-008-0035-4.

Bernat, F. P. (2022). The LBGTQ+ community and criminal justice. *Women & Criminal Justice*, pp.1–1. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1080/08974454.2022.2021000.

Big Mouth. (2017). Netflix, 29 September 2017.

Bitler, M. and Zavodny, M. (2002). Did abortion legalization reduce the number of unwanted children? Evidence from adoptions. *Perspectives on Sexual and Reproductive Health*, pp.25–33.

Blackledge, C. (2003). *The story of V: Opening Pandora's box*. London, GB: Weidenfeld & Nicolson.

Blackledge, C. (2020). *Raising the skirt: the unsung power of the vagina*. London: Weidenfeld & Nicolson.

Blackledge, C. (2009). The function of the orgasm. In: Ferber, A., Holcomb, K. and Wentling, T. (Eds). *Sex, gender and sexuality: the new basics: an anthology*. 1st ed. New York: Oxford University Press. pp.272–284.

Blau, A. (1943). A philological note on a defect in sex organ nomenclature. *The Psychoanalytic Quarterly*, 12 (4), pp.481–485.

Body Form. (2017). *Periods are normal, showing them should be too.* [Online]. Available at: https://www.bodyform.co.uk/our-world/bloodnormal/ [Accessed 27 March 2019].

Bordo, S. (2004). *Unbearable weight: Feminism, Western culture, and the body*. Univ of California Press.

Bornstein, K. (1994). *Gender outlaw: on men, women, and the rest of us.* New York: Routledge.

Boston Women's Health Course Collective. (1971). *Our bodies, our selves: A course by and for women.* Boston: New England Free Press.

Boston Women's Health Course Collective. (1984). *Our bodies, ourselves*. New York: Simon & Schuster, Inc.

Boston Women's Health Course Collective. (2005). *Our bodies, ourselves: A new edition for a new era.* New York: Touchstone.

Bourdieu, P. and Passeron, J.-C. (1990). *Reproduction in education, society and culture*. Sage.

Bowman, C. P. (2014). Women's masturbation: experiences of sexual empowerment in a primarily sex-positive sample. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, 38 (3), pp.363–378. [Online]. Available at: doi:https://doi.org/10.1177/0361684313514855.

Bozzoli, B. (2006). Interviewing the women of Phokeng. In: *The Oral History Reader*. 2nd ed. London: Routledge. pp.157–161.

Bramwell, R. (2002). Invisible labia: the representation of female external genitals in women's magazines. *Sexual and Relationship Therapy*, 17 (2), pp.187–190. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1080/14681990220121293.

Bramwell, R. and Morland, C. (2009). Genital appearance satisfaction in women: The development of a questionnaire and exploration of correlates. *Journal of Reproductive* and *Infant Psychology*, 27 (1), pp.15–27.

Braun, V. (1999a). Breaking a taboo? Talking (and laughing) about the vagina. *Feminism & Psychology*, 9 (3), pp.367–372.

Braun, V. (1999b). Public talk about 'private parts'. *Feminism & Psychology*, 9 (4), pp.515–522. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1177/0959353599009004024.

Braun, V. (2005). In search of (better) sexual pleasure: female genital 'cosmetic' surgery. Sexualities, 8 (4), pp.407–424.

Braun, V. (2009). Selling the 'perfect' vulva. In: Heyes, C. J. and Jones, M. (Eds). *Cosmetic surgery: a feminist primer*. Surrey: Ashgate Publishing Limited.

Braun, V. (2019). Selling a perfect vulva? Selling a 'normal' vulva! In: Creighton, S. M. and Liao, L.-M. (Eds). *Female genital cosmetic surgery: solution to what problem?* Cambridge University Press.

Braun, V. and Kitzinger, C. (2001a). "Snatch," "Hole," or "Honey-pot"? Semantic categories and the problem of nonspecificity in female genital slang. *The Journal of Sex Research*, 38 (2), pp.146–158.

Braun, V. and Kitzinger, C. (2001b). Telling it straight? Dictionary definitions of women's genitals. *Journal of Sociolinguistics*, 5 (2), pp.214–232.

Braun, V. and Kitzinger, C. (2001c). The perfectible vagina: size matters. *Culture, Health & Sexuality*, 3 (3), pp.263–277. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1080/13691050152484704.

Braun, V. and Wilkinson, S. (2001). Socio-cultural representations of the vagina. *Journal of Reproductive and Infant Psychology*, 19 (1), pp.17–32.

Braun, V. and Wilkinson, S. (2003). The vagina: liability or asset. *Psychology of Women Section Review*, 5 (2), pp.28–42.

Braun, V. and Wilkinson, S. (2005). Vagina equals woman? On genitals and gendered identity. *Women's Studies International Forum*, 28 (6), pp.509–522. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1016/j.wsif.2005.09.007.

Brinich, P. M. (1990). Adoption from the inside out: A psychoanalytic perspective. *The psychology of adoption*, pp.42–61.

Brinich, P. M. (1995). Psychoanalytic perspectives on adoption and ambivalence. *Psychoanalytic psychology*, 12 (2), p.181.

Briscoe, J. (2003). Snatch squad. [Online]. 30 August. Available at: https://www.theguardian.com/books/2003/aug/30/highereducation.booksonhealth [Accessed 27 November 2021].

Britton, C. J. (1996). Learning about "the curse": An anthropological perspective on experiences of menstruation. *Women's Studies International Forum*, *19* (6), pp.645–653. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1016/S0277-5395(96)00085-4.

Brochmann, N. and Støkken Dahl, E. (2018). *The wonder down under: a user's guide to the vagina*. Yellow Kite.

Brown, J. D., Steele, J. R. and Walsh-Childers, K. (2001). *Sexual teens, sexual media:* investigating media's influence on adolescent sexuality. Routledge.

Bryman, A. (2008). Social Research Methods (3rd edn.) Oxford University Press. Oxford.

Bryman, A. and Burgess, R. G. (1994). Reflections on qualitative data analysis. In: *Analyzing qualitative data*. New York: Routledge. pp.216-226.

Buchwald, E., Fletcher, P. R. and Roth, M. (Eds). (1993). *Transforming a rape culture*. Minneapolis: Milkweed Editions.

Burrows, A. and Johnson, S. (2005). Girls' experiences of menarche and menstruation. *Journal of Reproductive and Infant Psychology*, 23 (3), pp.235–249.

Buss, D. M. (2016). The evolution of desire. Springer.

Butler, J. (1990). *Gender trouble: feminism and the subversion of identity*. New York; London: Routledge.

Butler, J. (2004). Undoing gender. New York; London: Routledge.

Butler, R. N. and Lewis, M. I. (1976). Sex after sixty: A guide for men and women for their later years. Harper & Row.

Cairns, K. V. and Valentich, M. (1986). Vaginal reconstruction in gynecologic cancer: A feminist perspective. *Journal of Sex Research*, 22 (3), pp.333–346.

Califia, P. (2003). Sex changes: the politics of transgenderism / Patrick Califia. 2nd ed. San Francisco: Cleis Press.

Canavan, N. (2014). *Raising the Skirt*. [Online]. Available at: http://www.raisingtheskirt.com [Accessed 10 August 2018].

Caplan, P. (1987). *The Cultural construction of sexuality*. London; New York: Tavistock Publications, Tavistock.

Carvalheira, A. and Leal, I. (2013). Masturbation among women: associated factors and sexual response in a portuguese community sample. *Journal of Sex & Marital Therapy*, 39 (4), pp.347–367. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1080/0092623X.2011.628440.

Cater, J. K. (2011). Skype a cost-effective method for qualitative research. *Rehabilitation Counselors & Educators Journal*, 4 (2), p.3.

Cerankowski, K. J. and Milks, M. (2010). New orientations: asexuality and its implications for theory and practice. *Feminist Studies*, 36 (3), pp.650–664.

Chambers, R. et al. (2004). The practice of cultural studies. Sage.

Charlier, P., Deo, S. and Perciaccante, A. (2020). A brief history of the clitoris. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 49 (1), pp.47–48. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1007/s10508-020-01638-6.

Cheng, S. (2009). Questioning global vaginahood: reflections from adapting The Vagina Monologues in Hong Kong. *Feminist Review*, (92), pp.19–35.

Cheng, T. O. (2006). Where have all the baby girls in China gone? *American Journal of Cardiology*, 98 (3), p.425. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1016/j.amjcard.2006.02.029.

Chimot, C. and Louveau, C. (2010). Becoming a man while playing a female sport: The construction of masculine identity in boys doing rhythmic gymnastics. *International Review for the Sociology of Sport*, 45 (4), pp.436–456. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1177/1012690210373844.

Chin, T.-F. (2016). *Everyday work, everyday gender: women employees' experiences in Taiwan*. University of York. PhD.

Chin, T.-F. (2018). *Everyday Gender at Work in Taiwan*. Singapore: Springer Singapore Pte. Limited. [Online]. Available at: http://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/york-ebooks/detail.action?docID=5287473 [Accessed 11 June 2021].

Chin, T.-F. (2021). The Vulnerable Self: Narratives of Heterosexual Marriage in Taiwan. *Journal of Gender Studies*, 30 (5), pp.525–535. Clark, E. (2001). Metaphors of motherhood: claiming back the female body in the poems of Mary Sidney and Mary Wroth. *Women's Writing*, 8 (2), pp.263–273.

Clower, V. L. (1980). Masturbation in women. In: Kirkpatrick, M. (Ed). *Women's sexual development: explorations of inner space*. New York; London: Plenum Press. pp.147–166.

Cohen-Kettenis, P. T. and Pfäfflin, F. (2010). The DSM diagnostic criteria for gender identity disorder in adolescents and adults. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 39 (2), pp.499–513. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1007/s10508-009-9562-y.

Colmant, C. et al. (2013). Non-invasive prenatal testing for fetal sex determination: is ultrasound still relevant? *European Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology and Reproductive Biology*, 171 (2), pp.197–204. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1016/j.ejogrb.2013.09.005.

Connor, G., Coombes, L. and Morgan, M. (2015). iAnorexic: Haraway's cyborg metaphor as ethical methodology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 12 (3), pp.233–245. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1080/14780887.2015.1008901.

Cooper, C. M. (2007). Worrying about vaginas: feminism and Eve Ensler's The vagina monologues. *Signs: Journal of Women in Culture and Society, 32*(3), pp.727-758.

Crann, S. E. et al. (2017). Women's genital body work: health, hygiene and beauty practices in the production of idealized female genitalia. *Feminism & Psychology*, 27 (4), pp.510–529. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1177/0959353517711964.

Crasnow, S. L. and Superson, A. M. (2012). *Out from the shadows: analytical feminist contributions to traditional philosophy*. Oxford University Press.

Criado Perez, C. (2019). *Invisible women: exposing data bias in a world designed for men.*USA: Abrams.

Creighton, S. M. and Liao, L.-M. (2019). *Female genital cosmetic surgery: solution to what problem?* Cambridge University Press.

Das, A. (2007). Masturbation in the United States. *Journal of Sex & Marital Therapy*, 33 (4), pp.301–317. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1080/00926230701385514.

Davis, D. (2003). Harmful to minors: the perils of protecting children from sex - book review. *Sex Roles*, 48 (11/12), pp.567–568.

Davy, Z. (2011). *Recognizing transsexuals: personal, political and medicolegal embodiment*. Farnham, UK: Taylor & Francis Group.

Del Saz-Rubio, M. M. and Pennock-Speck, B. (2009). Constructing female identities through feminine hygiene TV commercials. *Journal of Pragmatics*, 41 (12), pp.2535–2556. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1016/j.pragma.2009.04.005.

Delaney, J., Lupton, M. J. and Toth, E. (1988). *The curse: A cultural history of menstruation*. University of Illinois Press.

DeMaria, A. L., Meier, S. J. and Dykstra, C. (2019). "It's not perfect but it's mine": Genital self-image among women living in Italy. *Body Image*, 29, pp.140–148. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1016/j.bodyim.2019.03.011.

Dewaele, J.-M. (2015). British 'bollocks' versus American 'jerk': Do native British English speakers swear more – or differently – compared to American English speakers? *Applied Linguistics Review*, 6 (3), pp.309–339. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1515/applirev-2015-0015.

Dewaele, J.-M. (2017). "Cunt": on the perception and handling of verbal dynamite by L1 and LX users of English. *Multilingua*, 37 (1), pp.53–81. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1515/multi-2017-0013.

Dodson, B. (2001). *Untitled*. Bettydodson.com [online]. Available at: www.bettydodson.com [Accessed 16 December 2021].

Dodsworth, L. (2019). Womanhood: the bare reality.

Drenth, J. (2005). *The origin of the world: science and fiction of the vagina*. Translated from the Dutch edition (2001). London: Reaktion Books Ltd.

Dreyer, Y. (2007). Hegemony and the internalisation of homophobia caused by heteronormativity. *Teologiese Studies / Theological Studies*, 63 (1), pp.1–18.

Eaglin, A. and Bardzell, S. (2011). Sex toys and designing for sexual wellness. In: *CHI '11 Extended Abstracts on Human Factors in Computing Systems*. New York, NY, USA: Association for Computing Machinery. pp.1837–1842. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1145/1979742.1979879 [Accessed 8 August 2020].

Earnest, T. Z. and Leslie, C. A. (2017). The Pussy Hat: An intersection between needlework, feminism, and identity. International Textile and Apparel Association Annual Conference Proceedings 74(1).

Eklund, L. and Purewal, N. (2017). The bio-politics of population control and sex-selective abortion in China and India. *Feminism & Psychology*, 27 (1), pp.34–55. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1177/0959353516682262.

Elias, N. (1939). The civilizing process. Oxford: Blackwell.

Elliot, J. (2005). Interpreting people's stories: narrative approaches to the analysis of qualitative data. *Using narrative in social research: Qualitative and quantitative approaches*, pp.36–59.

Ensler, E. (2001). The Vagina Monologues. Random House, New York.

Erchull, M. J. (2013). Distancing through objectification? Depictions of women's bodies in menstrual product advertisements. *Sex Roles*, 68 (1), pp.32–40. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1007/s11199-011-0004-7.

Fahs, B. (2014). Genital panics: constructing the vagina in women's qualitative narratives about pubic hair, menstrual sex, and vaginal self-image. *Body Image*, 11 (3), pp.210–218. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1016/j.bodyim.2014.03.002.

Fahs, B. and Frank, E. (2014). Notes from the back room: gender, power, and (in)visibility in women's experiences of masturbation. *The Journal of Sex Research*, 51 (3), pp.241–252. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1080/00224499.2012.745474.

Faulkner, J. (2010). *The importance of being innocent: why we worry about children*. Cambridge University Press.

Fausto-Sterling, A. (1993). The five sexes. *The Sciences*, 33 (2), pp.20–24. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1002/j.2326-1951.1993.tb03081.x.

Fausto-Sterling, A. (2019). Gender/sex, sexual orientation, and identity are in the body: how did they get there? *The Journal of Sex Research*, 56 (4–5), pp.529–555. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1080/00224499.2019.1581883.

Federation of Feminist Women. (1981). *A new view of a woman's body: a fully illustrated guide*. New York: Simon and Schuster.

Fine, M. (1988). Sexuality, schooling, and adolescent females: The missing discourse of desire. *Harvard educational review*, 58 (1), pp.29–54.

Fine, M. and McClelland, S. (2006). Sexuality education and desire: still missing after all these years. *Harvard educational review*, 76 (3), pp.297–338.

Fingerson, L. (2006). *Girls in power: gender, body, and menstruation in adolescence*. Albany: SUNY Press.

Flood, A. (2020). 'Vagina is not a rude word': the scientist fighting to empower women, one word at a time. [Online]. 20 February. Available at:

https://www.theguardian.com/books/2020/feb/20/vagina-is-not-a-rude-word-catherine-blackledge-raising-the-skirt [Accessed 28 November 2021].

Forrest, S. (2000). 'Big and tough': boys learning about sexuality and manhood. *Sexual and Relationship Therapy*, 15 (3), pp.247–261.

Freeman, H. G. (Ed). (2003). *Geo/graphies: mapping the imagination in French and francophone literature and film*. [Online]. Available at: https://brill.com/view/title/29680 [Accessed 2 March 2020].

Freud, S. (1927). Some psychological consequences of the anatomical distinction between the sexes. *The International Journal of Psycho-Analysis*, 8, pp.133–142.

Fudge, M. C. and Byers, E. S. (2019). An exploration of psychosocial factors associated with female genital self-image. *Gender Issues*. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1007/s12147-019-09242-2 [Accessed 26 January 2020].

Gadamer, H.-G. (1989). Truth and method (J. Weinsheimer & D.G. Marshall, trans.). *New York: Continuum*.

Gagnon, J. H. and Simon, W. (1974). *Sexual contacts: the social sources of human sexuality*. Chicago: Aldine.

Gair, S. (2002). In the thick of it: a reflective tale from an Australian social worker/qualitative researcher. *Qualitative Health Research*, 12 (1), pp.130–139.

Gandhi, K. (2015). *Sisterhood, blood and boobs at the London marathon 2015*. [Online]. Available at: http://kirangandhi.com/2015/04/26/sisterhood-blood-and-boobs-at-the-london-marathon-2015 [Accessed 14 August 2018].

Garber, M. B. (1993). *Vested interests: cross-dressing and cultural anxiety.* London, etc.: Penguin.

Garfinkel, H. (1967). Studies in ethnomethodology. Prentice Hall.

Garlick, S. (2012). Masculinity, pornography, and the history of masturbation. *Sexuality & Culture*, 16 (3), pp.306–320. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1007/s12119-011-9125-y.

Gartrell, N. and Mosbacher, D. (1984). Sex differences in the naming of children's genitalia. *Sex Roles*, 10 (11–12), pp.869–876.

Gegenfurtner, A. and Gebhardt, M. (2017). Sexuality education including lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender (LGBT) issues in schools. *Educational Research Review*, 22, pp.215–222. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1016/j.edurev.2017.10.002.

George, R. and Stokes, M. A. (2018). Sexual orientation in autism spectrum disorder. *Autism Research*, 11 (1), pp.133–141. [Online]. Available at: doi:https://doi.org/10.1002/aur.1892.

Gieseler, C. (2018). Gender-reveal parties: performing community identity in pink and blue. *Journal of Gender Studies*, 27 (6), pp.661–671.

Gilmour, L., Schalomon, P. M. and Smith, V. (2012). Sexuality in a community based sample of adults with autism spectrum disorder. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 6 (1), pp.313–318. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1016/j.rasd.2011.06.003.

Glesne, C. and Peshkin, A. (1992). Becoming qualitative researchers. New York: Longman.

Gluck, S. (1977). What's so special about women? Women's oral history. *Frontiers: A Journal of Women Studies*, 2 (2), pp.3–17.

Gökarıksel, B. and Smith, S. (2017). Intersectional feminism beyond U.S. flag hijab and pussy hats in Trump's America. *Gender, Place & Culture*, 24 (5), pp.628–644. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1080/0966369X.2017.1343284.

Golden, J. (1980). Another point of view. In: Kirkpatrick, M. (Ed). *Women's sexual development: explorations of inner space*. New York; London: Plenum Press. pp.167–170.

Golick, D. (2019). Crass stitches: reclaiming dysphemism and domesticity. *The English Languages: History, Diaspora, Culture*, 5, pp.48–59.

Goody, J. (1969). Adoption in cross-cultural perspective. *Comparative Studies in Society and History*, 11 (1), pp.55–78.

Gordon, M. and Shankweiler, P. J. (1971). Different equals less: female sexuality in recent marriage manuals. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 33 (3), pp.459–466. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.2307/349845.

gov.uk. (2018). *PHE to launch national cervical screening campaign in March 2019*. [Online]. Available at: https://phescreening.blog.gov.uk/2018/11/30/phe-to-launch-national-cervical-screening-campaign-in-march-2019/ [Accessed 28 July 2018].

Grace and Frankie. (2016). Netflix, 8 May 2016.

Gray, A. (1997). Learning from experience: cultural studies and feminism. In: *Cultural methodologies*. pp.87–105.

Gray, E. (2015). *The removal of Rupi Kaur's Instagram photos shows how terrified we are of periods*. [Online]. Available at: http://www.huffingtonpost.com/2015/03/27/rupi-kaur-period-instagram_n_6954898.html [Accessed 29 August 2018].

Greer, G. (1968). Lady, love your cunt. *The mad woman's underclothes: essays and occasional writings*, pp.74–77.

Greer, G. (1971). The female eunuch. London: Paladin.

Greer, G. (1999). The whole woman. London: Transworld Publishers.

Griggs, C. (2004). *Journal of a sex change: passage through Trinidad*. Berg Publishers.

Gunter, J. (2019). Why I wrote The Vagina Bible. [Online]. Available at:

https://thespinoff.co.nz/society/09-04-2019/why-i-wrote-the-vagina-bible [Accessed 28 November 2021].

Hakim, C. (2011). Honey money: the power of erotic capital. Penguin UK.

Halberstam, J. (2018). *Trans*: a quick and quirky account of gender variability*. Oakland, California: University of California Press.

Hall, K. Q. (2005). Queerness, disability, and the vagina monologues. *Hypatia*, *20*(1), pp.99-119.

Hammers, M. L. (2006). Talking about "down there": the politics of publicizing the female body through The Vagina Monologues. *Women's Studies in Communication*, 29 (2), pp.220–243.

Happy Play Time. (2013). Happy play time. [Online]. Available at:

https://happyplaytime.com/ [Accessed 23 May 2022].

Heins, M. (2007). *Not in front of the children: 'indecency,' censorship, and the innocence of youth*. Rutgers University Press.

Heller, Z. (2012). Pride and Prejudice. [Online]. Available at:

https://www.nybooks.com/articles/2012/09/27/pride-and-prejudice/ [Accessed 28 November 2021].

Herbenick, D. L. (2009). The development and validation of a scale to measure attitudes toward women's genitals. *International Journal of Sexual Health*, 21 (3), pp.153–166.

Hershberger, R. (1948). Adam's rib. New York: Pellegrini and Cudahy.

Hess, L. M. (2019). Lesbian-feminist aging: June Arnold's sister gin (1975). In: Hess, I. M. (ed). *Queer aging in North American fiction*. Cham: Springer International Publishing. pp.77–98. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1007/978-3-030-03466-5_4 [Accessed 1 December 2019].

Hine, D. (2019) Your 2019 Womanifesto. *Boots health and beauty magazine*, January/February 2019, pp.77–79.

Hines, D. A. and Douglas, E. M. (2009). Women's use of intimate partner violence against men: prevalence, implications, and consequences. *Journal of Aggression, Maltreatment & Trauma*, 18 (6), pp.572–586. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1080/10926770903103099.

Hite, S. (1977). The Hite report: A nationwide study of female sexuality. New York: Summit.

Hite, S. (2004). *The Hite report: A nationwide study of female sexuality*. Seven Stories Press.

Ho, P. S. Y. and Tsang, A. K. T. (2005). Beyond the vagina–clitoris debate—From naming the genitals to reclaiming the woman's body. *Women's Studies International Forum*, *28*, pp.523–534.

Hobbs, C. (1973). Our bodies ourselves. Off Our Backs, 3 (8), p.29.

Hogarth, H. and Ingham, R. (2009). Masturbation among young women and associations with sexual health: an exploratory study. *The Journal of Sex Research*, 46 (6), pp.558–567. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1080/00224490902878993.

Holland, J. et al. (1998). *The male in the head: young people, heterosexuality and power*. London: Tufnell Press.

Holliday, R. (2018). *Vagina dialogues: theorizing the 'designer vagina'*. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.4324/9781351133678-12 [Accessed 26 January 2020].

Holstein, J. A. and Gubrium, J. F. (1995). The active interview. California: Sage Publications.

hooks, b. (2006). Black looks: race and representation. Academic Internet Pub Inc.

Horne, S. and Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J. (2005). Female sexual subjectivity and well-being: comparing late adolescents with different sexual experiences. *Sexuality Research and Social Policy*, 2 (3), pp.25–40.

Hsieh, C. (2018). 8 women on how it really feels when strangers touch your pregnant belly. [Online]. Available at: https://www.cosmopolitan.com/sex-love/a16701318/strangers-touching-pregnant-belly/ [Accessed 4 August 2020].

Hughes, H. (2008). Management of postpartum loss of libido: midwives, health visitors and GPs are key in counselling and reassuring women about sexual problems after childbirth, as Dr Henrietta Hughes explains. *Journal of Family Health Care*, 18 (4), pp.123–126.

Iantaffi, A. (2019). *Life isn't binary: on being both, beyond, and in-between.* London: Jessica Kingsley Publishers.

Igarashi, M. (2015). What is obscenity? A story of a good for nothing artist and her pussy. Canada: Koyama Press.

Igbinedion, B. O.-E. and Akhigbe, T. O. (2012). The accuracy of 2D ultrasound prenatal sex determination. *Nigerian Medical Journal: Journal of the Nigeria Medical Association*, *53* (2), pp.71–75. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.4103/0300-1652.103545.

Independent. (2006). *Shere Hite: On female sexuality in the 21st century*. 30 April, 2006. [Online]. Available at: http://www.independent.co.uk/news/people/profiles/shere-hite-on-female-sexuality-in-the-21st-century-475981.html [Accessed 27 October 2019].

Ingham, R. (2005). 'We didn't cover that at school': education against pleasure or education for pleasure? *Sex Education*, 5 (4), pp.375–388.

Irigaray, L. (1996a). The powers of discourse and the subordination of the feminine': this sex which is not one. Oxford: Blackwell.

Irigaray, L. (1996b). This sex which is not one. In: Scott, S. and Jackson, S. (Eds). *Feminism and Sexuality: A reader*. New York: Columbia University Press.

Jackson, M. (1984). Sex research and the construction of sexuality: A tool of male supremacy? *Women's Studies International Forum*, 7 (1), pp.43–51. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1016/0277-5395(84)90083-9.

Jackson, S. (1978a). Girls and sexual knowledge. In: Spender, D. and Sarah, E. (Eds). *Learning to Lose: Sexism and Education*. London: The Women's Press. pp.131–145.

Jackson, S. (1978b). How to make babies: Sexism in sex education. *Women's Studies International Quarterly*, 1 (4), pp.341–352. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1016/S0148-0685(78)91231-9.

Jackson, S. (1999). Heterosexuality in question. SAGE.

Jackson, S. and Ho, P. S. Y. (2020). *Women doing intimacy: gender, family and modernity in Britain and Hong Kong.* Palgrave Macmillan.

Jackson, S. and Scott, S. (1996). *Feminism and sexuality: A reader*. Columbia University Press.

Jackson, S. and Scott, S. (1997). Gut reactions to matters of the heart: reflections on rationality, irrationality and sexuality. *The Sociological Review*, 45 (4), pp.551–575. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1111/1467-954X.00077.

Jackson, S. and Scott, S. (2010). Theorizing sexuality. Maidenhead, McGraw-Hill Education.

Jackson, S. and Scott, S. (2014). Sociology of the body and the relationship between sociology and biology. In: Holmwood, J. and Scott, J. (Eds). *Handbook of sociology in Britain*. London: Palgrave Macmillan. pp.563–587.

Jaffer, L. (2015). A study exploring isi-Xhosa women's experiences and meaning- making around the portrayal of menstruation and menstrual products in television advertisements. Thesis. University of the Western Cape.

Javaid, A. (2016). Feminism, masculinity and male rape: bringing male rape 'out of the closet'. *Journal of Gender Studies*, 25 (3), pp.283–293. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1080/09589236.2014.959479.

Jay, T. (2000). Why we curse: A neuro-psycho-social theory of speech. John Benjamins Publishing.

Jeffreys, S. (1997). Transgender activism: a lesbian feminist perspective. *Journal of Lesbian Studies*, *1* (3-4), pp. 55-74. [Online] Available at: https://doi.org/10.1300/J155v01n03 03.

Jenkins, A. and O'Doherty, K. C. (2021). The clean vagina, the healthy vagina, and the dirty vagina: Exploring women's portrayals of the vagina in relation to vaginal cleansing product use. *Feminism & Psychology*, 31 (2), pp.192–211. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1177/0959353520944144.

Johnson, M. J. et al. (2016). Quantitative and mixed analyses to identify factors that affect cervical cancer screening uptake among lesbian and bisexual women and transgender men. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 25 (23–24), pp.3628–3642. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1111/jocn.13414.

Johnston, J. (2017). Subscribing to Sex edutainment: sex education, online video, and the YouTube star. *Television & New Media*, 18 (1), pp.76–92. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1177/1527476416644977.

Kaivanara, M. (2016). Virginity dilemma: Re-creating virginity through hymenoplasty in Iran. *Culture, Health & Sexuality*, 18 (1), pp.71–83. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1080/13691058.2015.1060532.

Kamberelis, G. and Dimitriadis, G. (2005). Focus groups: strategic articulations of pedagogy, politics and inquiry. In: Denzin, N. K. and Lincoln, Y. S. (Eds). *Handbook of qualitative research*. 3rd ed. California: Sage Publications.

Kamil, N. (2014). *Pap Rap #SocialMediaSmearPioneer*. [Video]. Available at: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=m595hMxXou0 [Accessed 31 March 2019].

Karras, N. (2003). *Petals: fine art photography of vulvas*. Crystal River Publishing.

Katz, S. and Marshall, B. (2003). New sex for old: lifestyle, consumerism, and the ethics of aging well. *Journal of Aging Studies*, 17 (1), pp.3–16. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1016/S0890-4065(02)00086-5.

Katz, S. and Marshall, B. L. (2004). Is the functional 'normal'? Aging, sexuality and the biomarking of successful living. *History of the Human Sciences*, 17 (1), pp.53–75. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1177/0952695104043584.

Kessler, S. J. (1998). Lessons from the intersexed. Rutgers University Press.

Kessler, S. J. and McKenna, W. (1978). *Gender: An ethnomethodological approach*. University of Chicago Press.

Kiefer, B. (2017). Blood is the new normal: Why Bodyform and Libresse took a marketing risk for a campaign about periods. [Online]. Available at:

https://www.campaignlive.co.uk/article/blood-new-normal-why-bodyform-libresse-took-marketing-risk-campaign-periods/1447989?utm_source=website&utm_medium=social [Accessed 26 January 2020].

Kim, E. (2011). Asexuality in disability narratives. *Sexualities*, 14 (4), pp.479–493. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1177/1363460711406463.

Kimmel, M. S. (2007). *The sexual self: the construction of sexual scripts*. Vanderbilt University Press.

Kinsey, A. C. et al. (1953). Sexual behavior in the human female. Indiana University Press.

Kirkman, M., Rosenthal, D. A. and Feldman, S. S. (2002). Talking to a tiger: Fathers reveal their difficulties in communicating about sexuality with adolescents. *New Directions for Child and Adolescent Development*, 2002 (97), pp.57–74. [Online]. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1002/cd.50.

Kirkpatrick, M. (1980). *Women's sexual development: explorations of inner space*. New York; London: Plenum Press.

Kitzinger, C. (1999). Intersexuality: deconstructing the sex/gender binary. *Feminism & Psychology*, 9 (4), pp.493–498.

Klammer, C. and Goetz, J. (2017). Between German nationalism and anti-Muslim racism: representations of gender in the Freedom Party of Austria (FPÖ). In Köttig M., Bitzan R., Petö A. (Eds.) *Gender and far right politics in Europe* (pp. 79-93). Palgrave Macmillan, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-43533-6 6.

Koedt, A. (1996). The myth of the vaginal orgasm. In: Jackson, S. and Scott, S. (Eds). *Feminism and sexuality: a reader*. Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press. pp.111–116.

Köhler, R., Recher, A. and Ehrt, J. (2013). Legal gender recognition in Europe. *Transgender Europe*, p.80.

Komarnicky, T. et al. (2019). Genital self-image: associations with other domains of body image and sexual response. *Journal of Sex & Marital Therapy*, 45 (6), pp.524–537. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1080/0092623X.2019.1586018.

Krassas, N. R., Blauwkamp, J. M. and Wesselink, P. (2001). Boxing Helena and corseting Eunice: sexual rhetoric in Cosmopolitan and Playboy magazines. *Sex roles*, *44*(11), pp.751-771.

Laan, E. et al. (2017). Young women's genital self-image and effects of exposure to pictures of natural vulvas. *Journal of Psychosomatic Obstetrics & Gynecology*, 38 (4), pp.249–255. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1080/0167482X.2016.1233172.

Laqueur, T. (1992). *Making sex*: body and gender from the Greeks to Freud. Cambridge: Harvard University Press.

LaGravenese, R. ((Director). (2007). *P.S. I Love You*. [Film]. United States: Warner Bros. Pictures.

Lamb, S. (1997). Sex education as moral education: teaching for pleasure, about fantasy, and against abuse. *Journal of Moral Education*, 26 (3), pp.301–315.

Laughland, O. (2015). Vagina Monologues playwright: 'I never said a woman is someone with a vagina'. [Online]. Available at: http://www.theguardian.com/world/2015/jan /16 /vagina-monologues-eve-ensler-rejects-mount-holyoke-college-claims-reductionist-exclusive [Accessed 28 July 2018].

Lavie-Ajayi, M. and Joffe, H. (2009). Social representations of female orgasm. *Journal of Health Psychology*, 14 (1), pp.98–107. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1177/1359105308097950.

Lee, C. and Kwan, P. (2014). The trans panic defense: masculinity, heteronormativity, and the murder of transgender women. *Hastings Law Journal*, 66 (1), pp.77–132.

Lee, J. (2008). "A Kotex and a smile" Mothers and daughters at menarche. *Journal of Family Issues*, 29 (10), pp.1325–1347.

Lee, J. and Sasser-Coen, J. (1996). Memories of menarche: older women remember their first period. *Journal of Aging Studies*, 10 (2), pp.83–101.

Lee, J. and Sasser-Coen, J. (2015). *Blood stories: menarche and the politics of the female body in contemporary U.S. society.* Routledge.

Lee, V. (2019). This Palestinian artist dares to celebrate female Arab sexuality, despite boycott calls. [Online]. Available at: https://www.haaretz.com/israel-news/.premium-this-palestinian-artist-dares-to-celebrate-female-arab-sexuality-despite-boycott-ca-1.7800770 [Accessed 20 July 2021].

Leitenberg, H., Detzer, M. J. and Srebnik, D. (1993). Gender differences in masturbation and the relation of masturbation experience in preadolescence and/or early adolescence to sexual behavior and sexual adjustment in young adulthood. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 22 (2), pp.87–98.

Lerner, H. (1976). Parental mislabeling of female genitals as a determinant of penis envy and learning inhibitions in women. *Journal of the American Psychoanalytic Association*, 24 (Supplement), pp.269–283.

Letherby, G. (2003). Feminist research in theory and practice. UK: McGraw-Hill Education.

Levine, J. (2002). *Harmful to minors: the perils of protecting children from sex*. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press.

Lewis, H. (2013). Lip service. New Statesman, 142 (5172), pp. 47–47.

Lewis, M. I. (1980). The history of female sexuality in the United States. In: Kirkpatrick, M. (Ed). *Women's sexual development: explorations of inner space*. New York; London: Plenum Press. pp. 19–38.

Lincoln, Y. S., and Denzin, N. K. (2005). The Sage handbook of qualitative research. Sage.

Lloyd, J. et al. (2005). Female genital appearance: 'normality' unfolds. *BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology*, 112 (5), pp. 643–646.

Lombardi, E. (2001). Enhancing transgender health care. *American Journal of Public Health*, 91 (6), pp. 869–872.

Longhurst, R. (2000). 'Corporeographies' of pregnancy: 'bikini babes'. *Environment and Planning D: Society and Space*, 18 (4), pp.453–472. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1068/d234.

Lothian, J. A. (2008). Childbirth education at the crossroads. *The Journal of Perinatal Education*, 17 (2), pp.45–49. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1624/105812408X298381.

Lovehoney (2015). Svakom Siime sex selfie stick USB rechargeable video camera vibrator. [Online]. Lovehoney.co.uk. Available at: https://www.lovehoney.co.uk/sextoys/vibrators/classic-vibrators/p/svakom-siime-sex-selfie-stick-usb-rechargeable-video-camera-vibrator/a32128g58628.html [Accessed 1 December 2021].

Lundgren, E. (2000). Ahead of their time, children of their time, in and out of step 20 years later. *Feminism & Psychology*, 10 (1), pp.55–61. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1177/0959353500010001008.

Maines, R. P. (2001). *The technology of orgasm: 'hysteria,' the vibrator, and women's sexual satisfaction*. JHU Press.

Malépart-Traversy, L. (2016). Le Clitoris. Montreal: Mel Hoppenheim School of Cinema.

Mangan, L. (2020). The Goop Lab review – so Gwyneth Paltrow doesn't know what a vagina is. [Online]. 24 January. Available at: https://www.theguardian.com/tv-and-radio/2020/jan/24/the-goop-lab-review-gwyneth-paltrow-netflix-vagina [Accessed 27 November 2021].

Mark, K., Corona-Vargas, E., and Cruz, M. (2021). Integrating sexual pleasure for quality and inclusive comprehensive sexuality education. *International Journal of Sexual Health*, 33(4), pp.555-564. [Online]. DOI: 10.1080/19317611.2021.1921894

Marshall, B. L. (2002). `Hard science': gendered constructions of sexual dysfunction in the `viagra age'. *Sexualities*, 5 (2), pp.131–158. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1177/1363460702005002001.

Martin, E. (1991). The egg and the sperm: how science has constructed a romance based on stereotypical male-female roles. *Signs*, 16 (3), pp.485–501.

Martin, H. (2014). Le beau sexe. Quelques pistes de réflexion sur les chirurgies sexuelles cosmétiques. *Genre, sexualité & société*, (12). [Online]. Available at: doi:10.4000/gss.3222 [Accessed 26 October 2019].

Martin, K. et al. (2011). Privates, pee-pees, and coochies: gender and genital labeling for/with young children. *Feminism & Psychology*, 21 (3), pp.420–430. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1177/0959353510384832.

Marván, M. L. and Molina-Abolnik, M. (2012). Mexican adolescents' experience of menarche and attitudes toward menstruation: role of communication between mothers and daughters. *Journal of Pediatric and Adolescent Gynecology*, 25 (6), pp.358–363. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1016/j.jpag.2012.05.003.

Mason, J. (2002). *Qualitative researching*. 2nd ed. London: Sage.

Masters, W. H. and Johnson, V. E. (1966). *Human sexual response*. Boston: Little, Brown.

Matějček, Z., Dytrych, Z. and Schüller, V. (1978). Children from unwanted pregnancies. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 57 (1), pp.67–90.

McCarry, M. (2010). Becoming a 'proper man': young people's attitudes about interpersonal violence and perceptions of gender. *Gender and Education*, 22 (1), pp.17–30. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1080/09540250902749083.

McCartney, J. (2015). The Great Wall of Vagina. [Online]. The Great Wall of Vagina:

Changing female body image through art. Available at:

http://www.greatwallofvagina.co.uk/ [Accessed 27 October 2019].

McDermott, S. (1970). A British survey of female sexuality. Odyssey Press.

McGuigan, J. (1997). Cultural methodologies. Sage.

McHugh, M. C. (2006). What do women want? A new view of women's sexual problems. *Sex roles*, 54 (5–6), pp.361–369.

McKenna, W. and Kessler, S. J. (2000). Retrospective response. *Feminism & Psychology*, 10 (1), pp.66–72.

McPhillips, K., Braun, V. and Gavey, N. (2001). Defining (hetero)sex: how imperative is the "coital imperative"? *Women's Studies International Forum*, 24 (2), pp.229–240. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1016/S0277-5395(01)00160-1.

Me Too. (2018). *Me Too*. [Online]. Available at: https://metoomvmt.org/ [Accessed 31 March 2019].

Mead, G. H. (1934). *Mind, self and society from the standpoint of a social behaviorist*. Chicago: The University of Chicago Press.

Mechanic, M. B., Weaver, T. L. and Resick, P. A. (2008). Mental health consequences of intimate partner abuse. *Violence against women*, 14 (6), pp. 634–654. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1177/1077801208319283.

Merleau-Ponty, M. (2002). *Phenomenology of perception*. Smith, C. (transl.). Oxon, United Kingdom: Routledge.

Meyers, L. (2015). Answering the call for more research on sexual pleasure: a mixed method case study of the Betty Dodson BodysexTM workshops. Ph.D., United States: Pennsylvania: Widener University. [Online]. Available at:

http://www.proquest.com/docview/1707929513/abstract/F04D510857BE4D34PQ/1 [Accessed 27 November 2021].

Miedzian, M. (1993). How rape is encouraged in American boys and what we can do to stop it. In: Buchwald, E., Fletcher, P. R. and Roth, M. (Eds). *Transforming A Rape Culture*. Minneapolis: Milkweed Editions. pp.153–163.

Milles, K. (2011). Snippa: a success story of feminist language planning. *Gender and Language*, 5.1, pp.89–109. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1558/genl.v5i1.89.

Mishler, E. G. (1986). *Research interviewing*. Massachusetts: Harvard University Press.

Moazam, F. (2004). Feminist discourse on sex screening and selective abortion of female foetuses. *Bioethics*, 18 (3), pp.205–220. [Online]. Available at: doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8519.2004.00390.x.

Momoh, C. (2017). Female genital mutilation. In: Squire, C. (Ed.), *The Social Context of Birth*. 3rd ed. Routledge, pp. 125-140.

Monáe, J. (2018). *Pynk*. [Video]. Available at:

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=PaYvIVR_BEc [Accessed 31 March 2019].

Montemurro, B. (2020). "If you could just see me": the construction of heterosexual men's sexual selves and the hierarchy of desirability. *Sexualities*, p.1363460720939045. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1177/1363460720939045.

Moorhead, J. (2018). Sisterhood, song and yoni steaming: women set for UK's first manfree festival. [Online]. 30 June 2018. Available at:

https://www.theguardian.com/lifeandstyle/2018/jun/30/women-fest-first-man-free-festival-sisterhood-song [Accessed 1 December 2021].

Moran, C. and Lee, C. (2018). 'Everyone wants a vagina that looks less like a vagina': Australian women's views on dissatisfaction with genital appearance. *Journal of Health Psychology*, 23 (2), pp.229–239. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1177/1359105316637588.

Morgan, E. M. and Thompson, E. M. (2006). Young women's sexual experiences within same-sex friendships: discovering and defining bisexual and bi-curious identity. *Journal of Bisexuality*, 6 (3), pp.7–34. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1300/J159v06n03_02.

Morrison, D.E. (1998). *The search for a method: focus groups and the development of mass communication research*. Indiana University Press.

Mowat, H. et al. (2018). "For myself and others like me": women's contributions to vulva-positive social media. *Feminist Media Studies*. [Online]. Available at: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/14680777.2018.1546209 [Accessed 20 July 2021].

Murdock, G. (1997). Thin descriptions: questions of method in cultural analysis. In: McGuigan, J. (Ed). *Cultural Methodologies*. London: Sage Publications. pp.178–192.

Muscio, I. (1998). Cunt: A declaration of independence. 1st ed. Berkeley: Seal Press.

Muscio, I. (2009). Cunt: A declaration of independence. 2nd ed. Berkeley: Seal Press.

Muscio, I. (n.d.) From the Afterword: a selection from "Women With Dicks, Men With Cunts". [Online]. Available at: http://www.ingalagringa.com/books-writing/cunt-a-declaration-of-independence/from-the-afterword-a-selection-from-women-with-dicks-men-with-cunts/ [Accessed 19 May 2020].

Nappi, R. E., Liekens, G. and Brandenburg, U. (2006). Attitudes, perceptions and knowledge about the vagina: the International Vagina Dialogue Survey. *Contraception*, 73 (5), pp.493–500. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1016/j.contraception.2005.12.007.

NHS. (2016). *Labiaplasty*. [Online]. Available at: https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/cosmetic-treatments/labiaplasty/ [Accessed 27 July 2018].

Nordqvist, P. and Smart, C. (2014). *Relative Strangers: Family Life, Genes and Donor Conception*. Springer.

Notari, J. (2021). *Diva Intervention*. [Online]. Juliana Notari. Available at: https://www.juliananotari.com/en/diva-intervention/ [Accessed 23 May 2022].

Oakley, A. and Cracknell, J. (1981). Subject women. New York: Pantheon Books.

Ochse, A. (2011). 'Real women' and 'real lesbians': discourses of heteronormativity amongst a group of lesbians. *South African Review of Sociology*, 42 (1), pp.3–20. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1080/21528586.2011.563532.

O'Connell, H. E., Sanjeevan, K. V., and Hutson, J. M. (2005). Anatomy of the clitoris. *The Journal of Urology, 174* (4.1), pp. 1189-1195. [Online]. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1097/01.ju.0000173639.38898.cd

OMGYES.com. (2016). OMGYes. [Online]. Available at:

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=8MJJW3a_2Ro [Accessed 31 March 2019].

Our Bodies, Ourselves. (2015). *History*. [Online]. Available at:

http://www.ourbodiesourselves.org/history [Accessed 28 July 2018].

Pasche Guignard, F. (2015). A gendered bun in the oven: the gender-reveal party as a new ritualization during pregnancy. *Studies in Religion/Sciences Religieuses*, 44 (4), pp. 479–500. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1177/0008429815599802.

Peitzmeier, S. M. et al. (2014). Pap test use is lower among female-to-male patients than non-transgender women. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 47 (6), pp.808–812. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2014.07.031.

Perks, R. and Thomson, A. (2006). *The oral history reader*. 2nd ed. London: Routledge.

Perper, T. (2000). Betwixt and between. The Journal of Sex Research, 37 (3), pp. 294–295.

Pflugradt, D. and Cortoni, F. (2015). Women who sexually offend: a case study. In: *Sex offender treatment: A case study approach to issues and interventions*. Wiley Blackwell. pp. 181–198.

Pilcher, J. P. C. (2005). School sex education: policy and practice in England 1870 to 2000. Sex Education, 5 (2), pp.153–170. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1080/14681810500038848.

Pinhas-Hamiel, O. et al. (2002). Prenatal diagnosis of sex differentiation disorders: the role of fetal ultrasound. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 87 (10), pp.4547–4553. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1210/jc.2001-011034.

Piontek, T. (2006). Queering gay and lesbian studies. University of Illinois Press.

Plummer, K. (1995). *Telling sexual stories: power, change and social worlds*. London: Routledge.

Plummer, K. (2001). *Documents of life 2: an invitation to a critical humanism*. London: Sage.

Posadas, J. (2017). Teaching the cause of rape culture: toxic masculinity. *Journal of Feminist Studies in Religion*, 33 (1), pp.177–179. *JSTOR* [Online]. Available at: doi:10.2979/jfemistudreli.33.1.23.

Poteat, T., German, D. and Kerrigan, D. (2013). Managing uncertainty: a grounded theory of stigma in transgender health care encounters. *Social Science and Medicine*, 84, pp.22–29. *Scopus* [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2013.02.019.

Potts, A. (1998). The science/fiction of sex: John Gray's Mars and Venus in the bedroom. *Sexualities*, 1 (2), pp.153–173. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1177/136346098001002002.

Potts, A. et al. (2003). The downside of Viagra: women's experiences and concerns. Sociology of Health & Illness, 25 (7), pp.697–719. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1046/j.1467-9566.2003.00366.x.

Potts, A. et al. (2006). 'Sex for life'? Men's counter-stories on 'erectile dysfunction', male sexuality and ageing. *Sociology of Health & Illness*, 28 (3), pp. 306–329. [Online]. Available at: doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9566.2006.00494.x.

Pratt, M. B. (1995). S/he. Firebrand Books.

Preves, S. E. (2009). Intersex narratives: gender, medicine and identity. In: Ferber, A., Holcomb, K. and Wentling, T. (Eds). *Sex, gender and sexuality: the new basics: an anthology*. New York: Oxford University Press. pp.32–43.

Priddis, H. S., Keedle, H. and Dahlen, H. (2018). The perfect storm of trauma: The experiences of women who have experienced birth trauma and subsequently accessed residential parenting services in Australia. *Women and Birth*, 31 (1), pp.17–24. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1016/j.wombi.2017.06.007.

Pussy Riot. (2016). *Straight Outta Vagina (feat. Desi Mo & Leikeli47)*. [Online]. Available at: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Bp-KeVBNzOA [Accessed 31 March 2019].

Pussyhat Project. (2017). *The Pussyhat Story*. [Online]. Available at: https://www.pussyhatproject.com/our-story/ [Accessed 31 March 2019].

Rahman, M. (2014). Queer rights and the triangulation of Western exceptionalism. *Journal of Human Rights*, 13 (3), pp.274–289. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1080/14754835.2014.919214.

Rahman, M. (2015). The politics of LGBT Muslim identities. *E-International Relations*. [Online]. Available at: https://www.e-ir.info/2015/04/02/the-politics-of-lgbt-muslim-identities/ [Accessed 1 August 2020].

Rahman, M. and Valliani, A. (2016). Challenging the opposition of LGBT identities and Muslim cultures: initial research on the experiences of LGBT Muslims in Canada. *Theology & Sexuality*, 22 (1–2), pp.73–88. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1080/13558358.2017.1296689.

Ramazanoglu, C., and Holland, J. (2002). *Feminist methodology: challenges and choices*. London: SAGE.

Rastogi, M. and Wampler, K. S. (1999). Adult daughters' perceptions of the mother-daughter relationship: A cross-cultural comparison. *Family Relations*, 48 (3), pp.327–336. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.2307/585643.

Rawson, H. (1991). A dictionary of invective: a treasury of curses, insults, put-downs, and other formerly unprintable terms from Anglo-Saxon times to the present. Hale.

Rees, E. L. (2013). *The vagina: a literary and cultural history*. Bloomsbury Publishing. Reeves, L. (2021). *My vulva and I*. UK: Lydia Reeves.

Reinharz, S., and Davidman, L. (1992). *Feminist methods in social research*. New York; Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Reisner, S. L. et al. (2013). Female-to-male transmasculine adult health: a mixed-methods community-based needs assessment. *Journal of the American Psychiatric Nurses Association*, 19 (5), pp.293–303. *Scopus* [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1177/1078390313500693.

Rembeck, G. I., Möller, M. and Gunnarsson, R. K. (2006). Attitudes and feelings towards menstruation and womanhood in girls at menarche. *Acta Paediatrica*, 95 (6), pp.707–714. [Online]. Available at: doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1651-2227.2006.tb02319.x.

Renold, E. (2002). Presumed innocence: (hetero)sexual, heterosexist and homophobic harassment among primary school girls and boys. *Childhood*, 9 (4), pp.415–434. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1177/0907568202009004004.

Renold, E. (2004). 'Other' boys: negotiating non-hegemonic masculinities in the primary school. *Gender and Education*, 16 (2), pp.247–265. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1080/09540250310001690609.

Renold, E. (2006). 'They won't let us play ... unless you're going out with one of them': girls, boys and Butler's 'heterosexual matrix' in the primary years. *British Journal of Sociology of Education*, 27 (4), pp.489–509. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1080/01425690600803111.

Renold, E. (2007). Girls, boys and junior sexualities: exploring childrens' gender and sexual relations in the primary school. *Girls, Boys and Junior Sexualities: Exploring Childrens' Gender and Sexual Relations in the Primary School*. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.4324/9780203561584.

Renzetti, C. M. and Lee, R. M. (1993). *Researching sensitive topics*, Sage focus editions 152. Newbury Park, Calif.: Sage Publications.

Richardson, D. (1992). Constructing lesbian sexualities. In: Plummer, K. (Ed). *Modern homosexualities: fragments of lesbian and gay experiences*. pp.187–199.

Riley, D. (1988). Am I that name?: Feminism and the category of 'women' in history, Language, discourse, society. Basingstoke: Macmillan.

Roberts, E. J. (1980). Sex education versus sexual learning. In: Kirkpatrick, M. (Ed). *Women's sexual development: explorations of inner space*. New York; London: Plenum Press. pp.239–250.

Roberts, H. and Hickey, M. (2016). Managing the menopause: an update. *Maturitas*, 86, pp.53–58. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1016/j.maturitas.2016.01.007.

Rodriguez, S. B. and Schonfeld, T. L. (2012). The Organ-That-Must-Not-Be-Named: female genitals and generalized references. *Hastings Center Report*, 42 (3), pp.19–21.

Roiphe, H. and Galenson, E. (2018). Early genital activity and the castration complex. In: Thompson, N. L. (Ed). *Play, Gender Therapy: Selected Papers of Eleanor Galenson*. Oxon; New York: Routledge. N.p [Online]. Available at:

https://books.google.co.uk/books?id=6T5ZDwAAQBAJ [Accessed 8 January 2020].

Ronai, C. R. (1995). Multiple reflections of child sex abuse: an argument for a layered account. *Journal of Contemporary Ethnography*, 23 (4), pp.395–426. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1177/089124195023004001.

Rose, S. M. and Zand, D. (2002). Lesbian dating and courtship from young adulthood to midlife. *Journal of Lesbian Studies*, 6 (1), pp.85–109. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1300/J155v06n01 09.

Rose, S., Zand, D. and Cimi, M. A. (1993). Lesbian courtship scripts. In: Rothblum, E. D. and Brehony, K. A. (Eds). *Boston Marriages*. Amherst: University of Massachusetts Press. pp.70–85. [Online]. Available at: http://myweb.fiu.edu/srose/wp-content/uploads/sites/127/2014/08/Lesbian-Courtship-Scipts.compressed.pdf [Accessed 26 July 2020].

Røstvik, D. C. M. (2018). Adventures in menstruation: how period product ads have changed to reflect a more realistic experience for women. [Online]. Available at: http://theconversation.com/adventures-in-menstruation-how-period-product-ads-have-changed-to-reflect-a-more-realistic-experience-for-women-91417 [Accessed 1 December 2021].

Sammons, D. (2010). *Body beautiful: The impact of body image on sexual pleasure in a transgender population*. San Francisco Bay: Alliant International University.

Sanchez, E. (2015). *Menstruation stigma is a form of misogyny*. [Online]. Available at: http://america.aljazeera.com/opinions/2015/5/menstruation-stigma-is-a-form-of-misogyny.html [Accessed 29 August 2018].

Sarah, E. and Spender, D. (1980). Learning to lose: sexism and education. Women's Press.

Schalet, A. T. (2011). *Not under my roof: parents, teens, and the culture of sex*. University of Chicago Press.

Schick, V. R. et al. (2010). Genital appearance dissatisfaction: implications for women's genital image self-consciousness, sexual esteem, sexual satisfaction, and sexual risk. *Psychology of women quarterly*, 34 (3), pp.394–404. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1111/j.1471-6402.2010.01584.x.

Schmahmann, B. (2021). *Iconic works of art by feminists and gender activists: mistresspieces*. New York: Routledge. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.4324/9781003147770.

Schooler, D. et al. (2005). Cycles of shame: menstrual shame, body shame, and sexual decision-making. *The Journal of Sex Research*, 42 (4), pp.324–334. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1080/00224490509552288.

Schwartz, P. (2007). The social construction of heterosexuality. In: Kimmel, M. S. (Ed). *The sexual self: the construction of sexual scripts*. Nashville: Vanderbilt University Press. pp. 80–92.

Schwyzer, H. (2012). Vibrators and clitoridectomies: how Victorian doctors took control of women's orgasms. *Jezebel*. [Online]. 31 May 2012. Available at:

https://jezebel.com/vibrators-and-clitoridectomies-how-victorian-doctors-t-5914350 [Accessed 10 December 2021].

Scott, K. and Straus, M. (2007). Denial, minimization, partner blaming, and intimate aggression in dating partners. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 22 (7), pp.851–871. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1177/0886260507301227.

Scott, S. and Jackson, S. (1996). Sexual skirmishes and feminist factions: twenty-five years of debate on women and sexuality. In: Jackson, S. and Scott, S. (Eds). *Feminism and sexuality: A reader*. New York: Columbia University Press. pp.1–31.

Scully, D. and Bart, P. (1978). A funny thing happened on the way to the orifice: women in gynecology textbooks. *Feminism & Psychology*, 13 (1), pp.11–16.

Sex Education. (2019). Netflix, 11 January 2019.

Shail, A. and Howie, G. (2005). *Menstruation: a cultural history*. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.

Shelby, R. M. (2019). Techno-physical feminism: anti-rape technology, gender, and corporeal surveillance. *Feminist Media Studies*. [Online]. Available at: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/14680777.2019.1662823 [Accessed 20 July 2021].

Shibley Hyde, J. and Jaffee, S. R. (2000). Becoming a heterosexual adult: the experiences of young women. *Journal of Social Issues*, 56 (2), pp.283–296.

Silverman, D. (2010). *Doing qualitative research: a practical handbook*. 3rd ed. London: Sage Publications.

Simes, M. R. and Berg, D. H. (2001). Surreptitious learning: menarche and menstrual product advertisements. *Health Care for Women International*, 22 (5), pp.455–469. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1080/073993301317094281.

Simon, J. A. et al. (2018). Sexual well-being after menopause: an international menopause society white paper. *Climacteric*, 21 (5), pp.415–427. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1080/13697137.2018.1482647.

Simon, L. and Daneback, K. (2013). Adolescents' use of the internet for sex education: a thematic and critical review of the literature. *International Journal of Sexual Health*, 25 (4), pp.305–319. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1080/19317611.2013.823899.

Simon, W. and Gagnon, J. H. (1984). Sexual scripts. *Society*, 22 (1), pp.53–60. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1007/BF02701260.

Slim, H. and Thopson, P. (2006). Ways of listening. In: Perks, R. and Thomson, A. (Eds). *The Oral History Reader*. 2nd ed. London: Routledge. pp.143–148.

Smith, C. and Attwood, F. (2014). Anti/pro/critical porn studies. *Porn Studies*, 1 (1–2), pp.7–23. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1080/23268743.2014.887364.

Smith, J. (2006). Shere Hite: on female sexuality in the 21st century. [Online]. 30 April. Available at: http://www.independent.co.uk/news/people/profiles/shere-hite-on-female-sexuality-in-the-21st-century-475981.html [Accessed 9 September 2020].

Smith, M. et al. (2000). The content and accessibility of sex education information on the Internet. *Health Education & Behavior*, 27 (6), pp.684–694.

Smith, P. H. et al. (2002). A population-based study of the prevalence and distinctiveness of battering, physical assault, and sexual assault in intimate relationships. *Violence Against Women*, 8 (10), pp.1208–1232. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1177/107780120200801004.

Squire, C. (2000). *Culture in psychology*. London: Routledge.

Stainton, M. C. (1985). The fetus: A growing member of the family. *Family Relations*, pp.321–326.

Stein, E. (2013). Forms of desire: Sexual orientation and the social constructionist controversy. Routledge.

Stewart, E. G. and Spencer, P. (2002). *The V book: A doctor's guide to complete vulvovaginal health*. New York: Bantam.

Stewart, K. and Williams, M. (2005). Researching online populations: the use of online focus groups for social research. *Qualitative Research*, 5 (4), pp.395–416. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1177/1468794105056916.

Stoller, R. J. (1980). Femininity. In: Kirkpatrick, M. (Ed). *Women's Sexual Development: Explorations of Inner Space*. New York; London: Plenum Press. pp.127–145.

Strauss, A. L. (1987). *Qualitative analysis for social scientists*. Cambridge; New York: Cambridge University Press.

Strong, B. and DeVault, C. (1994). Human Sexuality. CA: Mayfield Publishing Company.

Struck, P. and Ventegodt, S. (2008). Clinical holistic medicine: teaching orgasm for females with chronic anorgasmia using the Betty Dodson Method. *The Scientific World Journal*, 8, pp.883–895. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1100/tsw.2008.116.

Stryker, S. and Whittle, S. (2006). *The transgender studies reader*. London: Taylor & Francis Group.

Sullivan, J. R. (2012). Skype: an appropriate method of data collection for qualitative interviews? *The Hilltop Review*, 6 (1), p.10.

Swanson, E. (2019). Rape, representation, and the endurance of hegemonic masculinity. *Violence Against Women*, 25 (13), pp.1613–1630. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1177/1077801219869551.

Taylor, J. S. (2000). Of sonograms and baby prams: prenatal diagnosis, pregnancy, and consumption. *Feminist Studies*, 26 (2), pp.391–418.

Tepper, M. (2000). Sexuality and disability: the missing discourse of pleasure. *Sexuality and Disability*, 18 (4), pp.283–290. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1023/A:1005698311392.

The Guardian. (2016). *Vagina Dispatches*. [Video series]. Available at: https://www.theguardian.com/lifeandstyle/series/vagina-dispatches [Accessed 23 May 2021].

Thomas, V. (2007). Being "cool" is not enough: interrogations on white-ethnic privilege and student-teacher relations. *Humanity & Society*, 31 (2–3), pp.146–163. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1177/016059760703100202.

Thompson, N. L. (2018). *Play, gender, therapy: selected papers of Eleanor Galenson*. Routledge.

Thorne, B. (1993). *Gender play: girls and boys in school*. Buckingham: Open University Press.

Tiefer, L. (1996). Towards a feminist sex therapy. Women and Therapy, 19 (4), pp.53-64.

Tiefer, L. (2008). Female genital cosmetic surgery: freakish or inevitable? Analysis from medical marketing, bioethics, and feminist theory. *Feminism & Psychology - FEM PSYCHOL*, 18, pp.466–479. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1177/0959353508095529.

Time's Up. (2018). *Time's Up.* [Online]. Available at: https://www.timesupnow.com/ [Accessed 31 March 2019].

Toerien, M. and Wilkinson, S. (2003). Gender and body hair: constructing the feminine woman. *Women's Studies International Forum*, 26 (4), pp.333–344. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1016/S0277-5395(03)00078-5.

Tompkins, A. (2014). Asterisk. *Transgender Studies Quarterly*, 1(1-2), pp.26-27.

Umpierre, L. (1996). Manifesto: whose taboos? Theirs, yours, or ours? *Letras Femeninas*, 22 (1/2), pp.263–268.

UNICEF. (2020). Female genital mutilation (FGM). [Online]. Available at: https://data.unicef.org/topic/child-protection/female-genital-mutilation/ [Accessed 26 May 2020].

Ussher, J. M. et al. (2012). Purity, privacy and procreation: constructions and experiences of sexual and reproductive health in Assyrian and Karen women living in Australia. *Sexuality & Culture*, 16 (4), pp.467–485. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1007/s12119-012-9133-6.

Ussher, J. M., Hunter, M. and Browne, S. J. (2000). Good, bad, or dangerous to know: representations of femininity in narrative accounts of PMS. In: Squire, C. (Ed). *Culture in Psychology*. London: Routledge. pp. 85–99.

Van den Akker, O. B. A. (2007). Psychosocial aspects of surrogate motherhood. *Human Reproduction Update*, 13 (1), pp. 53–62. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1093/humupd/dml039.

Vera-Gray, F. (2016). *Men's intrusion, women's embodiment : a critical analysis of street harassment*. Abingdon, Oxon: Routledge.

Verdult, R. (2009). Caesarean birth: psychological aspects in adults. *International Journal of Prenatal and Perinatal Psychology and Medicine*, 21 (1), pp.17–36.

Verwoerd-Dikkeboom, C. M. et al. (2008). Using virtual reality for evaluation of fetal ambiguous genitalia. *Ultrasound in Obstetrics & Gynecology*, 32 (4), pp.510–514. [Online]. Available at: doi: https://doi.org/10.1002/uog.5343.

Vincent, B. (2012). The story of Agnes – gender recognition and surgery in the 1950s. *Genderben.com* [Online]. Available at: https://genderben.com/2012/02/11/the-story-of-agnes-gender-recognition-and-surgery-in-the-1950s/

Vincent, B. (2020). *Non-binary genders: Navigating communities, identities, and healthcare*. Policy Press.

Waskul, D. D., Vannini, P. and Wiesen, D. (2007). Women and their clitoris: personal discovery, signification, and use. *Symbolic Interaction*, 30 (2), pp.151–174. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1525/si.2007.30.2.151.

Water Aid. (2015). *If men had periods - manpons*. [Online]. Available at: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=zOMPS2zkE1M [Accessed 31 March 2019].

Webber, S. (2005). *The "unnecessary" organ: a history of female circumcision and clitoridectomy in the United States, 1865 - 1995*. University of Nebraska Medical Center. PhD.

Weeks, J. (2001). Live and let love? Reflections on the unfinished sexual revolution of our times. In: R. Edwards and J. Glover (Eds.) *Risk and citizenship: key issues in welfare*. Routledge.

Weiss, D. (2016). *How I began exploring my sexuality after my husband died*. [Online]. Available at: https://www.womansday.com/relationships/dating-marriage/a54346/how-i-experience-sexuality-as-a-widow/ [Accessed 2 August 2020].

Weitz, R. (2017). A history of women's bodies. In B. K. Scott, S. E. Cayleff, A. Donadey and I. Lara (Eds.) *Women in culture: an intersectional anthology for gender and women's studies.* UK: Wiley and Sons.

Wells, S. (2008). Our Bodies, Ourselves: reading the written body. *Signs*, 33 (3), pp.697–723. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1086/523710.

Wentling, T. (2009). Am I obsessed?: Gender identity disorder, stress and obsession. In: Ferber, A., Holcomb, K. and Wentling, T. (Eds). *Sex, gender and sexuality: the new basics: an anthology*. 1st ed. New York: Oxford University Press. pp.263–272.

West, C. and Zimmerman, D. H. (1987). Doing gender. *Gender & Society*, 1 (2), pp.125–151. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1177/0891243287001002002.

Wight, D. (1994). Boys' thoughts and talk about sex in a working class locality of Glasgow. *The Sociological Review*, 42 (4), pp.703–737.

Wilchins, R. A. (1997). *Read my lips: sexual subversion and the end of gender*. Firebrand Books.

Wilkinson, S. (1998). Focus groups in feminist research: power, interaction, and the coconstruction of meaning. *Women's Studies International Forum*, 21 (1), pp.111–125. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1016/S0277-5395(97)00080-0.

Wilkinson, S. (2006). Focus groups: a feminist method. *Psychology of Women Quarterly,* 23 (2), pp. 221-244.

Willer, K. (2021). Vagina is not a dirty word: discourses on female body parts from a sociolinguistic perspective. Vytautas Magnus University. MA Thesis. [Online]. Available at: https://hdl.handle.net/20.500.12259/130393 [Accessed 20 July 2021].

Williams, Z. (2019). What can we learn from a vagina museum? *The Guardian*. 12 December 2019. Available at:

https://www.theguardian.com/lifeandstyle/2019/dec/12/what-can-we-learn-from-london-vagina-museum [Accessed 15 September 2021].

Williams, Z. (2021). Labia liberation! The movement to end vulva anxiety for good. *The Guardian*. 13 September 2021. [Online]. Available at:

https://www.theguardian.com/lifeandstyle/2021/sep/13/labia-liberation-the-movement-to-end-vulva-anxiety-for-good [Accessed 21 December 2021].

Willis, M. et al. (2018). Are women's orgasms hindered by phallocentric imperatives? *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 47 (6), pp.1565–1576. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1007/s10508-018-1149-z.

Wilson, E. K. and Koo, H. P. (2010). Mothers, fathers, sons, and daughters: gender differences in factors associated with parent-child communication about sexual topics. *Reproductive Health*, 7 (1), p.31. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1186/1742-4755-7-31.

Wilton, T. (1996). Genital identities: an idiosyncratic foray into the gendering of sexualities. In: *Sexualizing the Social*. Springer. pp.102–121.

Wittig, M. (1993). One is not born a woman. *The lesbian and gay studies reader*, pp.103–109.

Wolf, N. (2012). Vagina: a new biography. London: Virago.

Wong, W. and Lawrence, F. N. (2015). Am I man/woman enough: using trans-youth 'self-portrait drawing' to analyse their body image. In: Camoglu, D. Y. (Ed). *Re/presenting Gender and Love*. Oxford: Inter-Disciplinary Press.

Wrenn, C. (2019). Pussy grabs back: bestialized sexual politics and intersectional failure in protest posters for the 2017 women's march. *Feminist Media Studies*, 19 (6), pp.803–821. [Online]. Available at: doi:10.1080/14680777.2018.1465107.

Yescavage, K. and Alexander, J. (2009). Muddying the waters: constructions of sexuality, gender and sex in cross-cultural perspective. In: Ferber, A., Holcomb, K. and Wentling, T. (Eds). *Sex, gender and sexuality: the new basics: an anthology*. New York: Oxford University Press. pp.21–31.

YolieOnline. (2011). Summer's Eve - hail to the 'V' commercial - extended cut. [Online]. Available at: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=e4Cs3Pp7mYg [Accessed 31 March 2019].

Young, I. M. (1984). Pregnant embodiment: subjectivity and alienation. *The Journal of Medicine and Philosophy*, 9, pp.45–62.

Zimman, L. (2014). The discursive construction of sex: remaking and reclaiming the gendered body in talk about genitals among trans men. In: *Queer Excursions: Retheorizing Binaries in Language, Gender and Sexuality*. Oxford: Oxford University Press. pp.13–34.